Cover Page



Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/19055</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation.

Author: Talamo, Sahra Title: Refining 14C dating of bone >30,000 BP : establishing an accurate chronology for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in France Date: 2012-06-06

Refining ¹⁴C dating of bone >30,000 BP: Establishing an accurate chronology for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in France.

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof. mr. P.F. van der Heijden, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 6 Juni 2012 klokke 16.15 uur

door

Sahra Talamo

Geboren in 1974

te Taranto, Italy

Promotiecommissie

Promotores:

Prof. Jean-Jacques Hublin

Prof. Mike Richards

Overige Leden:

Dr. Shannon Mc Pherron

Prof. dr. Wil Roebroeks

Prof. dr. ir. Hans Van der Plicht

Dr. Alexander Verpoorte

Dit proefschrift is mede mogelijk gemaakt door Max Planck Gesellschaft.

"Love and marriage, they go together like a horse and carriage ... You can't have one without the other ... Try, try, try to separate them, it's an illusion..." Frank Sinatra "Love and Marriage" 1955

To my daughter Olivia

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

Table of Figures	8
Index of Tables	10
Abstract	12
1. Introduction	14
2.1 History and the present state of radiocarbon calibration	18
2.2 ¹⁴ C Dating	25
2.3 Fractionation	27
2.4 Calibration	27
2.5 Measurement techniques	28
2.5.1 Requirements for AMS	29
2.5.2 Advantages & disadvantages	
2.6 Standard, background and error	31
3 Bone dating background	32
4 Establishing ¹⁴ C dating at MPI-EVA	36
4. 1 Database entry	36
4.2 Pulverisation of bone	37
4.3 Decalcification	37
4.4 Removal of humics	37
4.5 Gelatinization	
4.6 Cleaning of the filters and checking for the removal of contamination	38
4.7 Ultrafiltration	38
4.8 Freeze-drying	38

4.1 Graphitization steps
4.1.1 Loading collagen into tin caps42
4.1.2 Combustion in Elemental Analyser (EA)42
4.1.3 Determination of carbon yield and C:N ratio
4.1.4 Determination of $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ in a mass spectrometer
4.1.5 Cleaning the CO ₂ gas containers and conditioning of the iron catalyst46
4.1.6 Collection of CO_2 in the rigs
4.1.7 Conversion of CO_2 into graphite in the graphitizer
4.1.8 Check of the graphitization parameters48
4.1.9 Preparation of blank samples49
4.1.10 Preparation of shipment to an AMS facility and submission
5. Debates over Palaeolithic chronology – the reliability of ^{14}C is confirmed
6. A comparison of bone pretreatment methods for AMS dating of samples >30.000 BP
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France)
 7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France)
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France) 72 8. Conclusion and Future work 84 9. References 88
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France) 72 8. Conclusion and Future work 84 9. References 88 Acknowledgments 94
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France) 72 8. Conclusion and Future work 84 9. References 88 Acknowledgments 94 Samenvatting
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France) 8. Conclusion and Future work 84 9. References 88 Acknowledgments 94 Samenvatting 96 Summary
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France) 8. Conclusion and Future work 84 9. References 88 Acknowledgments 96 Summary 102 Curriculum Vitae

Table of Contents

Table of Figures

Table of Figures

Figure		Page		
2.1	Difference between the calibration data curves IntCal04 and IntCal09 in the interval 10,000 to 26,000 cal BP. The shifts are mainly caused by the change of the Cariaco time scale to the Hulu Cave U/Th time scale			
2.2	Detailed view of the new calibration dataset IntCal09, including the original datasets from which IntCal09 was calculated.			
2.3	Schematic representation of the carbon cycle and the production of ¹⁴ C, main carbon reservoirs are deep ocean (blue), surface ocean mixed layer (light blue), atmosphere and biosphere	27		
2.4	Schematic representation of an AMS system	31		
3.1	Bone composition mineral, crystalline carbonate–hydroxylapatite inorganic phase 60-70 wt%, proteins, the organic fraction 20-30 wt% and circa 10% of water			
4.1	Entry page of the database at MPI	38		
4.2	Lab protocol with all the procedures made during the pretreatment	41		
4.3	Input of the lab protocol of the pretreatment and calculation of the % collagen	42		
4.4	Elements of the graphitization: combustion in the EA (middle), $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ determination in the mass spectrometer (right) and the graphitizer (left)			
4.5	Protocol of the elemental analyser. The peaks represent the separation of C (CO_2) and N	44		
4.6	Input of isotope data into the database	45		
4.7	Output page of the mass spectrometer for $\delta^{13}C$	46		
4.8	CO ₂ gas container (rig) filled with iron catalyst	47		
4.9	Graphitization system manufacture by the Oxford laboratory	48		
4.10	4.10 Reduction of CO_2 to graphite using iron as catalyst in an oven (top section); water vapour is removed by immersing the vertical finger of the rig into a cooling bath (left and right section)			
4.11	Input of graphitization parameters into the database	50		
4.12	Table of shipment and dating results of a sample	51		
4.13	Input of data as reported by the AMS facility	51		
4.14	Example of a summary sheet of an archaeological site (Les Cottés)	52		
1 Chap.5	¹⁴ C calibration data in the interval 30,000 to 45,000 cal BP, Cariaco (light blue), Corals (orange dark green, red), Iberian margin marine sediments (pink)	57		
6.1	Mammoth rib sample involved in this work	63		

Refining $^{14}\mathrm{C}$ of bone >30.000 BP: Establishing an accurate chronology for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in France

Table of Figures

6.2	Bison sample involved in this work	63
1 Chap.6	^{14}C ages of mammoth bone obtained from methods A to D	68
2 Chap.6	¹⁴ C ages of bison bone obtained from methods A to D	69
1 Chap.7	Map of Les Cottés and of Châtelperronian as well as Protoaurignacian sites in France and north of Spain (map drawn by Soressi and Roussel)	76
2 Chap.7	Top pane: distribution of all archaeological finds on a plan view of numbered lithics and bones. Cultural phases are indicated by color (see legend). Bottom pane: section view of excavation, samples selected are marked in red	77
3 Chap.7	Radiocarbon ages of the weighted means of Les Cottés. The dates are arranged according to the archaeological layer; within each layer they are sorted by depth. The bars indicate 1σ error. The asterisks indicate the outliers for the Bayesian analysis	80
4 Chap.7	Bayesian model build using OxCal 4.1 and IntCal09 from the radiocarbon weighted means of Les Cottés. CP=Carnivore Presence, CM= Cut Marks and HM= Human Modification (Retouchoir)	81
5 Chap.7	Temporal relation of the archaeological phases of Les Cottés compared to the rapid climate changes as defined by several climate archives in the northern hemisphere	82

Table of Tables

Table		Page	
3.I	Series of experiments where I have added 10 microgram of either modern or ${}^{14}C$ free carbon to 1 mg of the original carbon deriving from different time periods	34	
3.II	<i>Typical values for animal bone collagen, taken from Strydonck et al. (2004)</i>	35	
4.I	<i>Example of a determination of stable isotope</i> ¹³ C and ¹⁵ N for the reference material of Nylon 66		
1 Chap.6	Pretreatment steps for all 3 methods		
2 Chap.6	Atomic C:N ratio and stable isotope analysis of collagen from the mammoth (S-EVA 2000) and bison (S-EVA 2001) bones. The collagen was prepared according to methods A-C. For $\delta^{13}C$ the standard is VPDB, for $\delta^{15}N$ the standard used is IAEA N1 and N2. Typical analytical precision is 0.01‰ for $\delta^{13}C$ and 0,2‰ for $\delta^{15}N$	67	
3a Chap.6	¹⁴ C results of mammoth samples prepared using methods A to D. Missing values were not reported. The δ^{13} C reported is derived from AMS sample combustion procedure. OxA-V indicates that the material was combusted and graphitised/dated in Oxford, but the chemical pretreatment of the bone was done at MPI. (a) indicates split collagen (b) δ^{13} C AMS (c) No ultrafiltration step	68	
3b Chap.6	¹⁴ C results of bison samples prepared using methods A to D. Missing values were not reported. The $\delta^{3}C$ reported is derived from AMS sample combustion procedure. OxA-V indicates that the material was combusted and graphitised/dated in Oxford, but the chemical pretreatment of the bone was done at MPI. (a) indicates split collagen (b) $\delta^{13}C$ AMS (c) No ultrafiltration step	69	
1 Chap.7	Radiometric ¹⁴ C ages of Les Cottés obtained between 1965 and 1985 (Evin, et al., 1985, Pradel, 1967, Vogel and Waterbolk, 1967)	76	
2 Chap.7	Cultural attribution of the different stratigraphical units (major units are in bold font)		
3 Chap.7	Isotopic data, %Collagen, %C and %N and C:N for the samples taken during the 2007 and 2008 field campaigns. Radiocarbon results of Les Cottés: CPh= Culture phases, EA=Early Aurignacian, PA= Proto Aurignacian, C=Châtelperronian and M=Mousterian. (a) bone with cut marks, (b) retouchoir, (c) digested bone, (d) carnivore bite marks	78	
4 Chap.7	Combined radiocarbon results of Les Cottés: (a) standard deviation of the aliquot. CPh= Culture phases EA=Early Aurignacian; PA= Protoaurignacian; CP=Châtelperronian; M=Mousterian	79	

Index of Tables

Table of Tables

Abstract

Abstract

This thesis aims to improve the chronology of the transition from the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic in France through the radiocarbon dating of bone collagen samples. This requires accurate calibration of the radiocarbon time scale for this time interval, reliable extraction of collagen from prehistoric bones and accurate AMS radiocarbon dating.

The recent developments in radiocarbon calibration beyond 26,000 cal BP, which have resulted in the formulation of an internationally agreed calibration curve spanning back to 50,000 cal BP, are discussed in the introductory section of this thesis.

The methodological section of this thesis presents the results of experiments undertaken to establish an optimal procedure for extracting collagen from bone samples for radiocarbon dating. The main objectives of these experiments were to remove contamination from the organic bone fractions, which generally results in younger ages, and to avoid the incorporation of exogenous carbon in the laboratory through careful cleaning of the equipment. In order to achieve these aims, a suite of bone pretreatment methods were adopted and the resulting collagen extracts were sent for dating to different laboratories. The radiocarbon ages obtained from two test bones cover large ranges, which fall significantly beyond measurement error. This may be due to differences in both pretreatment methods and in the set-ups of different AMS facilities. The research undertaken for the present thesis has allowed the author to establish a protocol of laboratory procedures that produces consistent ages for bone collagen older than 30,000 cal BP

This protocol was implemented at the Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology (MPI-EVA) and, in chapter 7 of the thesis, it is adopted to establish a chronological framework for the site of Les Cottés in France. This site has an almost uninterrupted sequence spanning from the Middle to the Upper Palaeolithic, including Mousterian, Châtelperronian and Aurignacian occupations. The AMS radiocarbon determinations obtained from bone collagen samples, pretreated according to the quality criteria developed in this thesis, accurately date not only the different human cultures which succeeded each other at Les Cottés, but also the climatic episodes and oscillations which characterized the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition. This case study demonstrates that AMS radiocarbon dating of mammal bone collagen can be

Abstract

reliably used for establishing the chronology of sites older than 30,000 ¹⁴C years BP and with well-preserved deposits.

1. Introduction

As observed by Colin Renfrew, radiocarbon has played a revolutionary role in archaeology since the 1950s, first through the invention of scientific dating and second by providing calendar time scales for European prehistory in the Neolithic and Bronze Age periods. More recent examples are the improved constraint of the Eastern Mediterranean Late Bronze Age (Friedrich, et al., 2006), and the redefining of Egyptian chronology (Bruins, 2010, Bruins and Plicht, 2001, Bruins, et al., 2009, Plicht and Bruins, 2001, Ramsey, et al., 2010). However, for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic (MUP) period in Europe, radiocarbon dating is still controversial. Limited dating evidence and the challenges of radiocarbon dating at the limits of the method mean that there is much room for speculation and controversial conclusions or opinions.

The key questions for this transitional period are if Neanderthals and Modern Humans (MH) overlapped in time, and if so, did they exchange technology, culture or genes, and why did Neanderthals disappear in central Europe at about the time when MH entered this region for the first time?

All these aspects have been widely discussed for several decades and there are numerous strong and divergent opinions. This debate continues mainly because one central element is unresolved, chronology. There are three main aspects which render radiocarbon dating difficult in this time range. This period is close to the limit of the dating range of radiocarbon, so statistical errors can be large. The low remaining ¹⁴C activity makes dating materials very vulnerable to contamination *in situ* and in the lab, and, finally, calibration of radiocarbon ages to calendar ages at this antiquity was not possible until a few years ago.

This thesis addresses these crucial points. Radiocarbon calibration is now possible back to 50,000 cal BP (Reimer, et al., 2009) and moreover, claims of fundamental limitations are not justified (paper 1 in this thesis, Talamo et al. 2012). At the core of this thesis are studies undertaken to establish reliable methods for the extraction of good quality collagen from archaeological bone (paper 2 in this thesis, (Talamo and Richards, 2011)). Based on the experience obtained in these studies, an accurate time frame for key sites, showing the full MUP interval, has been created (paper 3 in this thesis, (Talamo, et al., 2012)).

This thesis is structured as follows: In chapter 2, the radiocarbon method is outlined. The present state of the calibration of the radiocarbon time scale is presented focusing on the recent extension and consolidation back to the time interval of the MUP. An overview of measurement techniques is given, with an emphasis on AMS as the main radiocarbon measurement technique in use today. The focus of chapter 3 is how to obtain the most reliable ages from bone samples from MUP sites. Bone from archaeological context is the preferred material to obtain dates, especially when compared to charcoal, but it presents challenges due to its open structure. In the past decade it has become apparent that the traditional pretreatment methods are insufficient for very old bone samples, because they may not be capable of removing modern contamination to a satisfactory level. The quantitative aspect of what the addition of a level of modern contaminant ¹⁴C contribution would be is shown and development of new techniques including the use of ultrafiltration is discussed.

In chapter 4 the description of the implementation of the bone pretreatment and sample preparation to produce AMS graphite targets at the Max Planck Institute are outlined. The protocol of lab procedures is presented in detail, including documentation of the production of a database that was created during this thesis.

In chapter 5 (paper 1) the chronology of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition is discussed. Chronology is crucial to the debate about all aspects of technological/cultural contact and exchange between Neanderthals and Anatomically Modern Humans in Europe. Radiocarbon is the backbone of the time frame during this period, even though it is close to the limit of the method because competing dating techniques such as OSL are much less precise or limited in their applicability. However, strong doubts have been raised about the validity of the radiocarbon technique, mainly for the following reasons: 1) Strong fluctuations of atmospheric ¹⁴C have been postulated for the interval from 45 to 35 ka BP rendering radiocarbon ages ambiguous. 2) Until recently several different ¹⁴C datasets were used for calibration in this time period, leaving room for interpretation of the synchronicity of techno-complexes or the role of climate anomalies in human evolution. In this paper it is shown that these issues are now fully resolved, because the large ¹⁴C anomalies are shown to be artefacts beyond plausible physical limits for their magnitude. Previous inconsistencies between ¹⁴C radiocarbon datasets have been

resolved and a new radiocarbon calibration curve, IntCal09 (Reimer, et al., 2009) has been created.

In chapter 6 (paper 2) the crucial steps needed to obtain good quality collagen from ancient bones are studied in detail. Bone is a commonly used material for radiocarbon dating, yet, at ages close to the limit of the method (>30,000 BP), it is a substantial challenge to remove contamination and produce accurate ages. In this paper the preliminary results are reported of a dating study of two bones older than 30,000 years, which were each treated with a suite of pretreatment procedures, including ultrafiltration (Brown, et al., 1988). Substantial differences in the radiocarbon ages were observed, which are most likely linked to crucial steps in the removal of contamination both from the laboratory and from the bone itself.

In chapter 7 (paper 3) the lessons learned are applied to the site of Les Cottés in southwest France, which is one of the rare sites that possesses a complete and well-defined sequence, covering the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition period. We undertook an extensive radiocarbon dating program on mammal bone, which allows us to propose a chronological framework of five distinct phases dating from the Mousterian to the Early Aurignacian at this site.

2. Radiocarbon dating

2.1 History and the present state of radiocarbon calibration

The construction of accurate radiocarbon calibration curves is an ongoing aspect of the radiocarbon method. The most direct archives of radiocarbon activity in the past are tree-rings, because trees incorporate atmospheric CO₂ directly into their tissues. Tree-ring chronologies themselves are constructed and replicated using numerous individual trees, providing extremely precise annual calendar ages. The first internationally agreed calibration curve using tree-rings was published in 1986 dating back to 7300 cal BP (Stuiver, 1986). After various modifications and extensions the current recommended calibration curve is IntCal09 (Reimer, et al., 2009).The tree ring section of the IntCal09 curve, which dates back to 12,550 cal BP, closely represents a true record for the atmospheric radiocarbon fluctuations of the mid-latitude Northern Hemisphere.

Beyond the tree ring data, most radiocarbon samples in 'known-age' records are derived from non-terrestrial archives, such as marine deposits and corals, which are subject to reservoir effects. These reservoir effects are caused by the mixture of sources of ¹⁴C of different age in the sample. In the case of marine carbonates, such as corals and foraminifera, the carbon in the tissue comes from the atmosphere, by gas exchange of CO_2 as well as from old carbon upwelling from the deep ocean. As a result of this mixing process organic matter living in the top layer of the ocean exhibits an apparent radiocarbon age, the marine reservoir age that can range several hundred years. To obtain the atmospheric ¹⁴C level from marine carbonates the reservoir age must be accounted for. It is important to note that the marine reservoir correction is dependent on location and time, because the upwelling of old carbon and the rate of gas exchange may vary due to local mixing of the ocean and climate.

Another source for ¹⁴C calibration is terrestrial carbonate, such as speleothemes (dropstones/stalagmites in caves). The carbonate of speleothemes is formed from CO_2 in topsoil and from carbonate dissolved from limestone (which is ¹⁴C free). The ratio of the two contributions depends on several factors such as soil humidity, temperature, and carbonate content. These factors are variable over the earth and consequently the

apparent ¹⁴C age, called the dead carbon fraction, of newly formed speleothemes can vary between 0 and ca. 2000 years (Hendy, 1970). From this discussion of reservoir ages it is obvious that there is a potential of error when terrestrial carbonates are used for calibration, and in fact this situation occurred until 2009.

In 2006 the tree ring based calibration was extended back to 12,600 cal BP (Schaub, et al., 2008, Schaub, et al., 2007), and there is a floating pine chronology back to circa 14,200 cal BP (Hua, et al., 2009, Kromer, et al., 2004). Beyond this age there are a number of datasets available; here I give a short list of them.

- Cariaco Basin (Hughen, et al., 2006, Hughen, et al., 2004a, Hughen, et al., 1998, Hughen, et al., 1996, Hughen, et al., 2004b) provided sediment cores from an anoxic marine basin off the coast of Venezuela. The Late Glacial section is laminated in annual layers back to 14,500 cal BP. The older section back to 50,000 cal BP is not laminated, and its time scale must be obtained from elsewhere, e.g. by linking ¹⁸O fluctuations in Cariaco core foraminifera to corresponding ¹⁸O signals in layer-counted Greenland ice cores or to U/Th dated speleothemes in Hulu Cave, China.
- Corals from the Atlantic and Pacific Ocean dated by U/Th (Bard, et al., 1998, Burr, et al., 1998, Cutler, et al., 2004, Fairbanks, et al., 2005).
- Subtropical Atlantic marine sediments from the Iberian Margin (Bard, et al., 2004).
- Bahamian Stalagmite (Beck, et al., 2001).
- Arabian speleothemes from a cave on Socotra Island in the Indian Ocean, south of the Arabian coast. This stalagmite grew between about 42,000 and 55,000 cal BP (Weyhenmeyer, et al., 2003).
- North Atlantic Marine sediment data, of both benthic and planktonic foraminifera from several mid- to high latitude North Atlantic marine cores (Kreveld, et al., 2000, Voelker, et al., 2000)
- Lake Suigetsu in Japan (Kitagawa and van der Plicht, 1998, Staff, et al., 2009) which are laminated lake sediments.
- Lake Lisan (Hajdas, et al., 2003, Hajdas, et al., 2004) limnic carbonates, which require a strong dead carbon correction.

Only U/Th dated datasets (corals, speleothemes) have an independent time scale, and the remaining datasets obtained their age/depth relation by comparison to another archive, e.g. Greenland ice cores. Therefore, differences between those datasets can arise not only from radiocarbon or reservoir errors but also from errors in the absolute time scale. This was the main reason why the IntCal04 working group discouraged the use of calibration curves beyond 26,000 cal BP. However, an average curve of all datasets was calculated and given as NotCal04 (Plicht, et al., 2004), to indicate that it should *not* be used for calibration.

In 2007 radiocarbon calibration saw substantial progress. The European tree-ring chronology was extended by Schaub et al. (2007) back to 12,593 cal BP; in addition, floating sections of wood from Germany, Italy, Switzerland and France now extend well back into the Late Glacial period (Hua, et al., 2009). Moreover, in New Zealand, *Kauri* trees were found with ages that extend beyond the range of radiocarbon and are currently being dated in the age range between 25,000-55,000 BP (Hogg, et al., 2007, Turney, et al., 2007). These finds do not yet provide a continuous tree-ring chronology but they do provide us the possibility to better understand the fluctuation of radiocarbon concentration in the atmosphere in the past.

A major part of the differences between the high-resolution Cariaco dataset and coral data were resolved when the Cariaco age/depth model was changed to be based on the 230 Th-dated Hulu Cave speleothemes instead of on Greenland ice cores (Hughen, et al., 2006). The age model was mapped onto the Cariaco Basin ¹⁴C series by correlation of associated δ^{18} O and grey scale variations that define DO events. The new Cariaco Basin ¹⁴C record linked to Hulu Cave provides an improved high-resolution marine-based calibration dataset, especially for the age range of 15,000 to 50,000 years (Figure 2.1).

The calendar age errors for the Cariaco-Hulu age model are significantly smaller than previously reported due to high precision U/Th dating of the Hulu cave series. What still remains is the uncertainty in the marine reservoir age. Evidence for only a small variation in reservoir age is provided by the agreement between Cariaco and German pine ¹⁴C dates during the last deglaciation and early Holocene (Hughen, et al., 2000). In contrast, a floating tree ring chronology and ¹⁴C record that has been tentatively anchored to Cariaco data suggests that the reservoir age may have changed during the

Allerød and transition into the early Younger Dryas (Hua, et al., 2009, Kromer, et al., 2004).



Figure 2.1 Difference between the calibration data curves IntCal04 and IntCal09 in the interval 10,000 to 26,000 cal BP. The shifts are mainly caused by the change of the Cariaco time scale to the Hulu Cave U/Th time scale(Reimer, et al., 2009).

Consequently, the IntCal working group constructed a new calibration curve back to 50,000 cal BP, which was accepted by the radiocarbon community (Reimer, et al., 2009). It is currently considered to be the best available calibration dataset and the interval of interest for this thesis is shown in figure 2.2.

The strong discrepancies between the Bahamian speleothemes ${}^{14}C$ dataset (Beck, et al., 2001) for ages older than 35,000 cal BP were resolved when the speleotheme data were corrected for background variations and fluctuations in dead carbon fraction (Beck, et al., 2008, Hoffmann, et al., 2008, Hoffmann, et al., 2010).



Refining 14 C of bone >30.000 BP: Establishing an accurate chronology for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in France



Refining 14 C of bone >30.000 BP: Establishing an accurate chronology for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in France



Refining ¹⁴C of bone >30.000 BP: Establishing an accurate chronology for the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in France

Figure 2.2 Detailed view of the new calibration dataset IntCal09 (Reimer, et al., 2009), including the original datasets from which IntCal09 was calculated.

2.2 ¹⁴C Dating

 14 C is created in the upper atmosphere due to the interaction of cosmic-ray generated neutrons with nitrogen-14 (14 N) causing the nuclear reaction:

$$^{4}N + n \rightarrow ^{14}C + p$$

¹⁴C is transported from the atmosphere to the global carbon reservoirs, where the majority finally ends up in marine and continental sediments. After formation, ¹⁴C quickly combines with oxygen, and enters the carbon system as ¹⁴CO₂, which is chemically identical to ordinary ¹²CO₂, and thus is well mixed within the atmosphere. From this boundary condition the two main fields of radiocarbon dating originate:

a) Photosynthesis fixes CO_2 , and hence ${}^{14}CO_2$, into stable plant matter and into the global food web, which is the basis for the dating of *organic* samples.

b) CO_2 becomes part of the chemical pathways of terrestrial or marine carbonates, which allows the dating of *inorganic* carbonate samples and groundwater (Figure 2.3). In this thesis we are concerned only with the dating of organic material, therefore I will not discuss carbonate dating further.

Radioactive decay follows the general law:

(1)
$$A = A_0 e^{-\lambda t}$$

(2)
$$t = 1/\lambda * \ln (A_0/A)$$

where A_0 is the original ¹⁴C activity, which is directly linked to the atmospheric ¹⁴C activity in the case of plants and indirectly in the case of fauna, A is the measured ¹⁴C activity today, and t is the time since the burial of the organism (more specifically since the end of the formation of the carbonaceous material that is dated), and λ is the decay constant.



Figure 2.3 Schematic representation of the carbon cycle and the production of ^{14}C , main carbon reservoirs are deep ocean (blue), surface ocean mixed layer (light blue), atmosphere and biosphere.

 λ is connected to the radiocarbon half-life, by:

(3)
$$A/A_0 = \frac{1}{2} = e^{-\lambda T \frac{1}{2}}$$

so that

(4)
$$\lambda = (\ln 2)/T_{\frac{1}{2}} = 1/8033 [1/yr]$$

The value of the half–life established by Libby was 5568 years (Libby, 1955). A more accurate value was determined later to 5730±40 years (Godwin, 1962, Olsson, 1968, Stuiver and Polach, 1977). The Libby value is still used conventionally (Stuiver and Polach, 1977) because so many published radiocarbon dates were based on it and the calibration of radiocarbon ages (see below) eliminates any error in the true value of the half-life.

All organic material can be used for radiocarbon dating. Not only the most common types such as wood, charcoal, bones, charred bones, and peat, but also pottery or ancient iron containing carbon or organic inclusions, the organic fractions of palaeosols or clay sediments, paper, textiles, hair, teeth, antler, ivory, and canvas (Mook and Streurman, 1981).

2.3 Fractionation

The calculation of a radiocarbon age requires a correction to account for the isotope. fractionation that occurs when carbon is exchanged between phases (gas, liquid, solid). The heavy isotopes ¹³C and ¹⁴C are discriminated against in these exchanges in comparison to ¹²C. For radiocarbon this fractionation effect can be easily corrected because the stable isotope ¹³C undergoes fractionation at half the magnitude of ¹⁴C. Therefore, in all radiocarbon analyses, the ratio ¹³C/¹²C is also measured using an isotope ratio mass spectrometer and is then used to correct for the ¹⁴C/¹²C fractionation ¹³C measurements are reported in the δ notation, which is defined as the relative differences of ¹³C /¹²C ratio in the sample compared to a standard, in units of parts per thousand (per mille, ‰). In this notation organic samples based on the photosynthetic C₃ cycle have δ^{13} C at levels around -25‰ and bone samples are slightly enriched with δ^{13} C levels around -19‰ (Lee-Thorp, 2008). In cases where C₃ samples are not the major part of the diet, bone ¹³C will deviate from this range (Lee-Thorp, 2008).

2.4 Calibration

To calculate the true (calendar) age from a radiocarbon age according to equation (2) we need to know the radiocarbon activity of the atmosphere in the past, A_0 . This information can be obtained with the help of an independent dating method that provides radiocarbon samples of known age, such as tree rings dated by dendrochronology or carbonates dated by U/Th. The radiocarbon ages of these samples are calculated using equation (2) but with an A_0 assumed constant and identical to 95% of the radiocarbon activity of the radiocarbon standard Oxalic Acid at 1950 AD. The age obtained in this procedure is no longer a calendar age because A_0 may have varied in the past so it is termed an uncalibrated ¹⁴C age. However, by measuring pairs of radiocarbon ages (equation (2)) versus calendar ages we can establish calibration

curves, which are used to transform uncalibrated ages to true ages. It is important to note that in this calibration procedure any fluctuation of the radiocarbon activity in the past A_0 is corrected and any error in the determination of the half-life λ is cancelled.

Radiocarbon ages that are calculated according to equation (2) and corrected for isotope fractionation are called uncalibrated ages; in this thesis these are denoted as ¹⁴C **BP**, i.e. radiocarbon years before 1950 AD. Calibrated ages are denoted as **cal BP** or **cal BC/AD**, which are calendar years before 1950 AD (Kromer, et al., 1996, Stuiver and Polach, 1977) and Cal BP is also used for calendar ages obtained through other dating methods, such as Ar/Ar or U/Th. Ranges of calibrated ages (i.e. minimum/maximum) can be determined through a simple graphical procedure where the limits of the radiocarbon age interval are transferred via the calibration curve to the calendar axis. More detailed information about the probability distribution is available by means of computer programs_such as CALIB (Stuiver and Reimer, 1993), CalPal (Joris and Weninger, 1998), or OxCal (Bronk Ramsey, 2009, Ramsey, 2001).

2.5 Measurement techniques

In the last 30 years Accelerator Mass Spectrometry (AMS) has become one of the most important tools in prehistory and the geosciences and is used to perform the majority of ¹⁴C measurements. In AMS, one counts ¹⁴C *atoms*, while the previously used decaycounting methods only registered radioactive *decays* (β particles) (Kromer and Münnich, 1992). This makes the AMS technique 1,000 to 10,000 times more sensitive than the counting of radioactive decay. The main principle of AMS is to detect the different isotopes of carbon (¹²C, ¹³C, ¹⁴C) by separating them according to their respective mass, like in a conventional isotope ratio mass spectrometer. The challenge with respect to the detection of ¹⁴C arises from the extremely low ratio of ¹⁴C in respect to ¹²C because for modern samples ¹⁴C/¹²C is just 10⁻¹². This small quantity makes radiocarbon difficult to detect, because there are interfering molecules of mass 14, e.g. ¹³C¹H. These molecules are eliminated by accelerating the beam of carbon ions and stripping them in a gas, which breaks up the molecules into their individual atoms and subsequently removes them from the beam (see below).

2.5.1 Requirements for AMS

There are many reviews of AMS radiocarbon dating (Fedi, et al., 2007, Fifield, 1999, Jull, 2007, Jull and Burr, 2006, Kieser, et al., 1990, McNichol, et al., 2001, Tuniz, et al., 1998). Here I will focus on the main steps. For AMS, after pretreatment of the sample to remove contamination, the ¹⁴C measurement starts with the combustion of the carbon in a sample to CO_2 , which is then converted to filamentous carbon using a catalytic reduction process. The resultant material is commonly called "graphite". Some laboratories use CO_2 gas directly instead of graphite, the advantage being that the combustion and graphitisation is eliminated and that it is possible to use just 5 to 100 µg of sample instead of 1mg (Ruff, et al., 2009).

After graphitization, the carbon is pressed into a target and placed in a sample carousel, which contains a suite of samples, standards, and blanks. The carousel is placed in the accelerator's ion source. Negative carbon (*C*-) ions are produced by a sputter ion source. The initial separation of the negative ions by mass is performed by low energy magnet. The ions then enter the accelerator which uses a high voltage of several hundred kilovolt to a million volts in order to accelerate the *C*- ions. After the acceleration the beam passes a stripping canal where the C- ions interact with a gas. Molecules such as CH⁻ are destroyed in this process, and the charge of the ions is reversed. The now positively charged C+ ions are accelerated to the exit of the accelerator and separated by energy and charge, using the high energy magnet and electrostatic deflector (ESA). Finally ¹²C and ¹³C currents are measured in Faraday cups and ¹⁴C is detected in a special detector, usually a gas counter (see Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4 Schematic representation of an AMS system.

Recently small and compact radiocarbon dating systems have been introduced (Suter, et al., 2000, Synal, et al., 2007, Synal, et al., 2000), allowing ¹⁴C separation to be undertaken at much lower energies (e.g. 0.2MV) than the standard AMS accelerators.

2.5.2 Advantages & disadvantages

The advantages of the AMS method over conventional decay counting are:

- Much smaller sample size is needed, which then allows the almost nondestructive dating of valuable objects (fossil hominids, documents, textiles) and the dating of specific components such seeds or other fractions of plants found in, for example, mortar or pottery.
- fast measurement procedure (30 minutes to 1hr).
- more rigorous sample pretreatment, because of the low amount of carbon required for AMS
- selection of specific fractions of inhomogeneous samples
- capability to sub-sample and repeat the measurements
- High age limit due to low AMS blank

The disadvantages of the AMS technique are:

- complex and expensive spectrometer
- the challenge to obtain stable conditions to measure isotope ratios accurately

• small sample size, which at first glance is the key advantage, but at the same time could be a disadvantage because it makes the method vulnerable to low levels of contamination either within the sample or from the pretreatment process.

2.6 Standard, background and error

Like in any mass spectrometric measurement, in AMS radiocarbon dates are determined relative to a standard, which is Oxalic Acid (Stuiver and Polach, 1977). Pretreatment and measurement procedures may introduce ¹⁴C or ions which are identified as ¹⁴C. These components are identified by measuring ¹⁴C free material (blank samples).

We distinguish two types of uncertainty, which applies to all radiocarbon measurements (Cook and Plicht, 2007, Scott, 2007).

1) *Statistical error*, which is caused by random processes (Gaussian or Poisson error). Radiocarbon age is determined from ratio of ¹⁴C to ¹²C and in the spectrometer only a limited number of ions are detected. Therefore, like in the classical urn experiment of sampling the ratio of rare red and abundant black balls, the determination of the ratio will be associated with an uncertainty, in our case proportional to $1/\sqrt{N}$, where N is the number of ¹⁴C ions (or the number of the red balls in the urn experiment) detected.

This means that the statistical error will be lower the longer the sample is measured in the AMS and the higher the ¹⁴C activity in the sample is (obviously measurement times are subject to economic considerations). The total statistical error is the combination of sample, standard and blank statistical error. In each AMS run several standard and blank samples are measured and hence the statistical error of the sample usually dominates the total error. This is especially true for older samples like those dealt with in this thesis. Here an important contribution to the total error comes from the blank, because the sample ¹⁴C activity is close to the background.

2) *Systematic error*, arising from sample properties and pretreatment. At every stage of sample selection and handling the original 14 C / 12 C ratio may be altered by the addition of modern or old carbon. The contribution to the overall error is more difficult to quantify and it requires additional measurement of test samples of known activity. An additional complication comes from the fact that the contributions may depend on the amount of carbon in the sample (Vogel, et al., 1987).

3 Bone dating background

Bone is a body tissue composed of bioapatite (mineral, crystalline carbonatehydroxylapatite inorganic phase 60-70 wt%), collagen (proteins, the organic fraction 20-30 wt%), and water (ca.10 wt%) (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Bone composition mineral, crystalline carbonate–hydroxylapatite inorganic phase 60-70 wt%, proteins, the organic fraction 20-30 wt% and circa 10% of water.

Bone collagen is an important substrate for radiocarbon dating (Arnold and Libby, 1951), and stable isotopic analysis (Collins, et al., 2002). In addition, bone is a useful material to date in archaeology as it can be the direct target of the event being dated (i.e. dating a human itself) or closely associated to the event of interest (i.e. animal remains from a site, bone artefacts).

Despite the utility of using bone for radiocarbon dating there are often problems in dating bone from archaeological sites as it is at risk from contamination and it is often degraded. Degradation involves structural alteration and the gradual breakup of the protein chains. Background contamination can then come from the inclusion of exogenous carbonaceous contaminants, either *in situ*, during the excavation, or in the laboratory.

Bones, of course, can be contaminated by old or modern carbon. The shift in radiocarbon age from the true age due to the addition of either of these is illustrated by a series of experiments where I added 10 microgram of either modern or ¹⁴C free carbon to 1 mg of the original carbon deriving from different time periods (Table 3.I).

Table 3.1 Series of experiments where I have added 10 microgram of either modern or ${}^{14}C$ free carbon to 1 mg of the original carbon deriving from different time periods

True age	Period	pmC sample	pmC modern added	Contam. age	Diff. years	Weight modern
42,000	Neanderthal	0.54	1.00	33,545	8455	0.01 mg
25,000	Upper Palaeolithic	4.45	1.00	23,372	1628	0.01 mg
6,000	Neolithic	47.38	1.00	5,832	168	0.01 mg
3,000	Late Bronze age	68.83	1.00	2,884	116	0.01 mg
True age	Period	pmC sample	pmC contam.	Contam. age	Diff. years	Weight fossil C added
35,000	Neanderthal	1.28	1.27	35,080	80	0.01 mg
6,000	Neolithic	47.38	46.91	6,080	80	0.01 mg
3,000	Late Bronze age	68.83	68.15	3,080	80	0.01 mg

As can be seen, a sample dating to 42,000 radiocarbon years, with just 10 micrograms of modern contamination, is shifted to an apparent age of 33,000 years, which is more than 8000 years younger. For an Upper Palaeolithic sample dating to 25,000 years the contamination changes the true age by 1,628 years. For Neolithic and Late Bronze Age samples the shift is smaller, but still much higher than the typical radiocarbon error of 25 to 40 years for these time periods. Adding 1% of fossil material, e.g. from organic solvents of petrochemical origin, shifts all dates to older ages by 80 years. Therefore, fossil contamination is less severe for old samples but for the younger samples it is still larger than the age error. There are a number of real examples of these problems (Conard and Bolus, 2008, Higham, et al., 2006a, Jacobi, et al., 2006).

Initial attempts to date bone apatite largely failed (see review by Surovell, 2000) because carbonates exchange readily with surrounding inorganic carbonate (e.g. dissolved in ground water). In contrast, collagen is much more stable. Longin (1971)

proposed a method to isolate bone collagen. This aspect is treated in detail in chapter 6 (introduction of paper (Talamo and Richards, 2011)) As an indicator of contamination and/or degradation of collagen different authors use C:N ratios, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, and amino acid composition (Ambrose, 1990, DeNiro, 1985, Harbeck and Grupe, 2009, Hedges, 2002, Klinken, 1999, Schoeninger, et al., 1989, Strydonck, et al., 2004). Usually it is assumed that contamination is likely when atomic C:N ratio falls outside the range observed for modern animals and humans (2.9-3.6). δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values in bone collagen depends on diet, used to distinguish herbivores from carnivores and furthermore between marine and terrestrial diet. Typical values for animal bone collagen are taken from Strydonck et al.(2004, p.128), and are shown here in table 3.II.

Bone collagen from animals having q 100% diet of:	δ ¹³ C‰	δ^{15} N‰
C-3	-21	+5
meat C-3 herbivores	-18	+8
C-4 plants	-7	+5
marine food	-13	+18
river fish	-24	+16
lake fish	-20	+16

Table 3. II Typical values for animal bone collagen, taken from Strydonck et al. (2004)

An illustrative figure of regional variations in the isotopic values, and of variations among species, is shown in Katzenberg (2008, p.427). The full range of these parameters needs to be considered to determine if collagen extracted from an archaeological bone is of sufficiently good quality (Lee-Thorp, 2008, Richards and Hedges, 1999, Richards and Hedges, 2003, Richards, et al., 2005, Richards, et al., 2000, Richards, et al., 2008). Another simple but important criterion is the quantity of collagen that can be recovered. Usually a limit of 1% weight is considered necessary as a minimum condition (Hedges and Van Klinken, 1992) and samples of lower yield are potentionally problematic (Brock, et al., 2007, Higham, et al., 2006b).

There are advanced techniques to characterize the state of preservation of bone, such as Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) which gives an index of crystallinity of the bone mineral (Weiner and Bar-Yosef, 1990, Yizhaq, et al., 2005), X-ray diffraction (XRD) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Reiche, et al., 2002).
4 Establishing ¹⁴C dating at MPI-EVA

In this thesis I focus on the pretreatment of bone to obtain pure collagen and convert it into graphite for AMS measurements to obtain reliable radiocarbon dates. The individual steps of pretreatment involve extraction of collagen from bone, cleaning all the equipment used in the procedures and the conversion of collagen to graphite (graphitization). I chose to use the extraction method (method C in chapter 6; paper (Talamo and Richards, 2011)) that best avoids lab contamination. In the field I collected good quality bone samples, which were selected due to their potential for high carbon yields.

All the bone samples presented in this thesis were subject to the following pretreatment procedures, usually in batches of up to 12 samples:

- Entry in database
- Pulverisation of bone
- Decalcification
- Removal of humics
- Gelatinization
- Cleaning of the filters and checking for the removal of contamination
- Ultrafiltration
- Freeze drying

These procedures are outlined in detail below.

4. 1 Database entry

A S-EVA number is assigned to the sample and it is inserted in our database. Important fields of the sample record are S-EVA number, submitter name, sample code assigned by the submitter, name of the project or site, weight of the sample as received and a photo. All the subsequent pretreatment steps are entered into the database.

Chapter 4

	Worker Sample Precieat G		Krecewe Dample Result	S TOSL LISL
Submitter:	Sorresi	S-EVA number*:	13552	A
Sample Code:	Y6-979 US 06.rc	Project:	Les Cottes 🛛 💌	
Material	Bone	Data received:	8/18/2009	
		Weight received mg:	9635.5	Index active Devicing (discussions in the devices active
Species:	Bison or Horse	Anatomical Part:	long bone	synchro-problem, dass access den write error nicht bringt):
Comments:	Chatellperron			
Specimen Picture:	1. if bmp - Select the whole Bitr versa 2. if jpg - Select the Frame. Then "Object". Then "Create From F To view, double click icon.	nap and paste it to the ad n from the Toolbar choose le'' and "Browse" to your	ioining frame or vice "Insert" then JPEG and click OK.	
	S-EVA13662.JPG			
* - must have valı ** - Create a new i	Les. You have to enter a specific entry, but submitter, project, samp	value, or no data set can le code, date entered and	be created. d material remains.	
		of 382		

Figure 4.1 Entry page of the database at MPI

4.2 Pulverisation of bone

The bone is first cleaned by sand-blasting and then, using a dental drill, 500 mg of bone powder is taken. In the case of bone fragments a mortar is used to grind the bone. Bone powder is essential for a fast and efficient decalcification.

4.3 Decalcification

The sample is kept in 0.5M HCl at room temperature until no CO_2 effervescence is observed, which usually takes 4 hours. This interval is divided into two 2-hour segments after which the sample is rinsed in ultrapure water and centrifuged. Then it is kept overnight in 0.5 M HCl in a refrigerator.

4.4 Removal of humics

The following day 0.1M NaOH is added for 30 minutes to remove humics, which could have been introduced to the bone sample by ground water during the interval between

burial and excavation. The NaOH step must be complemented by a final HCl step (15 minutes), to remove potential contamination from modern CO_2 taken up by the NaOH.

4.5 Gelatinization

The gelatinization step follows the method outlined in Longin (1971), at pH3 in a heater block at 75°C for 20h.

4.6 Cleaning of the filters and checking for the removal of contamination

The cleaning procedures for the ultrafilters are essential for a valid radiocarbon date (Higham, et al., 2006b). The ultrafilters are Sartorius "Vivaspin 15" of 30 KDalton size with 50ml plastic centrifuge tubes. The cleaning is designed to remove carbon-containing humectants. It is very important not to clean the filters more than 24 hours in advance as they may soften or dry out. The ultrafilters are rinsed 5 times in the centrifuge with ultrapure water for 15 to 20 minutes. Then they are bathed in ca 1 liter of ultrapure water in the ultrasonic bath for one hour, and after that rinsed 3 times.

Before the 4th centrifuge step, 1 ml of ultrapure water is added to one of the filters, and removed for analysis of remaining carbon. For this measurement the water sample is freeze-dried, another *ca*. 20 μ l ultrapure water is added and inserted with *ca*. 8 mg chromosorb into a large tin capsule. The amount of carbon is determined by combustion in the EA (see step below). The burn yield must be below 5 to 10 μ g C for this sample to indicate that the filter is not contaminated by carbon-containing humectants.

The Eeze-FilterTM' (Elkay Laboratory Products (UK) Ltd.) is bathed for 20 minutes in ca.1 liter of ultrapure water.

4.7 Ultrafiltration

The gelatine obtained in step 5 is filtered in the Eeze-filter to remove mineral particles. Then the liquid is transferred to the ultrafilter and centrifuged until the liquid in the filter is below 0.5 ml.

4.8 Freeze-drying

The filtered sample is frozen to a solid. The tube is sealed with parafilm and kept in a -28°C freezer. The tubes are kept in an inclined position so that the solution is thinly

distributed along the tube, with no more than 10 mm at the thickest part. The samples stay in the freezer for at least 12 hours so that they are solidly frozen. Then the samples are transferred to the freeze-drier and lyophilized for 48 hours.

The specific lab protocol procedures for each sample (Figure 4.2) is entered into the database (Figure 4.3).

Collagen extraction protocol	
S-EVA Notes	
Date Total Bone mg	J
Sample taken mg Rest mg	ſ
Date HCI for 2h □ HCI for 2h □ Fridge all night	-
HCI for 2h □ Wash 3 times H2O □ Date NaOH 30min □ Wash 3 times H2O □ HCI 15min □ Wash 3 times H2O □]]]
Date Heater in with 10ml of Ph3 Time in	_
Date Heater out Time out 75°C fo	r 20h
Cleaning Eeze – Filter Date 20 minutes in Ultrasonic water	
Cleaning Ultrafilter procedures Date	
15 min centrifuge with H2O pure 15 min centrifuge with H2O pure 1 Hour in Ultrasonic water 15 min centrifuge with H2O pure 15 min centrifuge with H2O pure 15 min centrifuge with H2O Date Centrifuge and Samples in the fridge	
Date Freeze – dryer in Time in	
Date Freeze – dryer out Time out	
Collagen mg	
Circa 0.5mg of Collagen for C/N	
Sent Collagen mg_Remaining Collagen at MPI Sent Collagen to Date Graphite 🗆 Sent graphite to Date	_mg - -
Radiocarbon Age Collagen back from the AMS Lab	_mg

Figure 4.2 Lab protocol with all the procedures made during the pretreatment

Chapter 4

<mark>ample</mark> Submit Project Lab W	/orker Sample Pretreat Grap	phite CN Send & F	teceive Sample Results Test List	
Lab Worker:	Talamo			
S-EVA number:	13662	Sample Code:	Y6-979 US 06.rc	
Date entered:	8/27/2009	Weight used mg:	1609.1	
HCL date:	8/31/2009	Rest mg:	7938.2	
Heater date:	9/1/2009	To be date:		
Centrifuge with ULF:	9/2/2009	% Collagen:	5851.272	
Freeze dry date:	9/7/2009			
Comments:				
Collagen mg:	27.5			

Figure 4.3 Input of the lab protocol of the pretreatment and calculation of the % collagen

Important parameters are the date of the various steps, the weight used and the final weight of the collagen. At this point the collagen yield is available, which should be a minimum of 5 mg for 500 mg initial bone powder (1% yield limit). The minimum amount of collagen for graphitization is 3 mg.

4.1 Graphitization steps

All the collagen obtained after the pretreatment outlined above is graphitized according to the following procedures:

- Loading of collagen into tin caps
- Combustion in an Elemental Analyser (EA)
- Determination of carbon yield and C:N ratio
- Determination of $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ in a mass spectrometer
- Cleaning the CO₂ gas containers and conditioning of the iron catalyst
- Collection of CO₂ in the rigs

- Addition of hydrogen
- Conversion of CO₂ into graphite in the graphitizer
- Check of graphitization parameters
- Preparation of blank samples
- Preparation of shipment to an AMS facility and submission to the AMS laboratory for radiocarbon measurement.

4.1.1 Loading collagen into tin caps

The collagen is loaded into tin capsules, which are pre-cleaned in cyclohexane and acetone. An empty tin capsule is combusted to check that the blank contribution is < 2 µg C.

4.1.2 Combustion in Elemental Analyser (EA)

The collagen is combusted in the EA (CHN analyzer) system, in a sequence of up to 10 samples limited by the amount of available gas containers. Each sample combustion is preceded by the combustion of an empty tin capsule to purge the system. The sample is injected into the furnace together with a stream of helium and oxygen. The combustion furnace is at a temperature of 1000°C and with the addition of tin the combustion temperature reaches 1500°C; the subsequent reduction furnace is used to complete the combustion at 600 °C (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Elements of the graphitization: combustion in the EA (middle), $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{5}N$ determination in the mass spectrometer (right) and the graphitizer (left).

The helium acts as carrier gas. The combustion products are sent through several gas chromatographic columns (GC) to purify and to separate the components of interest,

nitrogen (N), CO_2 carbon (C), and hydrogen (H). This information is recorded by the EA software (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5 Protocol of the elemental analyser. The peaks represent the separation of $C(CO_2)$ and N

4.1.3 Determination of carbon yield and C:N ratio

After the successful combustion of a sample the key parameters for quality control of bone collagen are available. These are the amount of carbon and nitrogen in the sample, which is used to determine the C:N ratio, These data and isotopic data from the next step are then entered into the database (Figure 4.6)

Chapter 4

ubmit Project Lab W	orker Sample Pre	etreat Graphite	CN	Send & Receive	Sample Results	Test	List		
Lab Worker:	Talamo 🗸 🗸	ĺ	Not to be	e dated:					
S-EVA number:	2232	M	Sample (Code: B15	(20)				
Date preparation:	11/15/2007								
Mg of collagen:	0.52]							
Results File Path:									
Results (Select the whole Excel work- sheet and paste it to the adjoining frame or vice versa):	13C 1 -20.66 6	5N %C .30 42.98	% 3 15	N C:N .61 3.2	1				
		(T) -							

Figure 4.6 Input of isotope data into the database

4.1.4 Determination of $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ in a mass spectrometer

A small fraction, approximately 1%, of the purified gases are sent to the mass spectrometer (Figure 4.7), connected to the EA, to measure the stable isotope values (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) (Table 4.I).

		Ter Lungssill - LA - S		Heed Arp	CE STON + CE STON +	Prister OFF 0-12 0-13 0-13 6 mBar	2n (0.036327) = 3n (0.016270	-		
Graph Form scarbon Stan Presets 500 Fase Rop. Presets 1005-11 - - - 2 - - - 0 - - - 0 - - - -	BadGnel Set Aves	Char Prez 5a	re Load	Redraw Pre	erve Test KB	Centre	*			Conce Control Conce Control Conce Control Conce Control Contre
Results / A.PF2.rec Sensitivitiane 1 Vol 2 CO2.PEFEAS 3 sample1 4 sample1 5 CO2.PEFEAS 6 EVO Drift Connected Results 1 test 2 CO2.PEFEAS 3 ansple1 4 sample1 4 sample1 4 CO2.PEFEAS	Econ X as Been Aras 10 5562 07 45 % 07 10 45 % 07 10 47 % 07 10 46 % 07 10 46 % 07 10 46 % 07 10 46 % 07 10 4 % % 07 10 4 % % 07 10 4 % % 07 10 4 % % 07 10 4 % % 07	Elision 13C (Sam) DeltaPDB DeltaPDB 0 2500 41 990 24 94 42 155 24 99 40 -25 00 41 950 24 94 40 -25 00 41 952 24 92 41 952 24 94 41 952 24 92 40 -25 00 40 -25 00	190 (Sam) DeltaSM01 0.00 -18.00 -15.06 -13.65 -18.00 -16.86 -18.00 -16.70 -16.94 -18.00	2/1 0.012031 0.012031 0.012033 0.012034 0.012034 0.012035 0.010955 0.010955 0.010956	0 04432 0 04432 0 04432 0 04432 0 04432 0 004325 0 004325 0 004325 0 004325 0 005943 0 003943 0 003943 0 003943 0 003943 0 003943		Hagnified Sensar Displ Temperatur Combustion Reduction GC1 GC2	es 1000 600 61 525	Sensor Pressure 1 Pressure 2 Flow 1 Flow 2	21 23 60 359

Figure 4.70 utput page of the mass spectrometer for $\delta^{13}C$.

Name	Weight/Vol	¹³ C (Sam)	¹⁵ N (Sam)	С	Ν	C:N
	mg	DeltaPDB	DeltaAir	%	%	
EVA 0008 Nylon	4.092	-29.5	1.6	60.90	11.80	6.02
EVA 0008 Nylon	4.802	-29.5	1.6	60.90	11.80	6.02
Nylon 66 B2 Sample	4.708	-29.5	1.2	60.81	11.85	5.99
Nylon 66 B3 Sample	4.745	-29.5	1.2	60.83	11.80	6.01
	average	-29.54	1.52	60.86	11.83	
	stdev	0.04	0.24	0.05	0.03	

Table 4.1 Example of a determination of stable isotope ¹³C and ¹⁵N for the reference material of Nylon 66

4.1.5 Cleaning the CO_2 gas containers and conditioning of the iron catalyst

The CO₂ gas containers are glass tubes closed by metal valves, called rigs (Figure 4.8).



*Figure 4.8 CO*₂ *gas container (rig) filled with iron catalyst.*

The rigs are filled with 1.5 to 3 mg iron catalyst (Aldrich Chem. Co. <10micron 99.9%) and the optimal ratio of iron to carbon was determined to be 3 to 1 (Vogel, et al., 1984). To avoid contamination from absorbed CO₂ or particulates the iron and the glass surfaces are cleaned by adding H₂ (99.999%) at 500 mbar into the rigs and placing them in the oven at 450 °C for 1 hour.

4.1.6 Collection of CO_2 in the rigs

Most of the CO_2 is collected in a rig attached to the gas collection system (Figure 4.9) and is trapping using liquid N_2 .

Hydrogen is added to the frozen CO_2 in a quantity sufficient to guarantee a complete reduction of CO_2 . In our system an excess of H_2 is used with the ratio $H_2:CO_2=2.2:1$



Figure 4.9 Graphitization system manufacture by the Oxford laboratory

4.1.7 Conversion of CO_2 into graphite in the graphitizer

The rig is placed in the oven at 560 °C for 6 hours, where CO_2 is reduced to carbon and water vapour. The latter is removed by cooling one finger of the rig (Figure 4.10).



Figure 4.10 Reduction of CO_2 to graphite using iron as catalyst in an oven (top section); water vapour is removed by immersing the vertical finger of the rig into a cooling bath (left and right section).

4.1.8 Check of the graphitization parameters

During the reduction of CO_2 to carbon hydrogen is consumed at the ratio 2:1 with respect to carbon. Therefore the pressure in the rigs after reduction will be low reflecting the excess amount of hydrogen. Typically we use 400 mbar of hydrogen which results in a residual pressure of *ca*. 80 mbar. This pressure is checked by reconnecting the rigs to the gas collection system. All these parameters are entered in the database (Figure 4.11).

Chapter 4

iubmit Project Lab	Worker Sample P	retreat Graphit	e CN Send &	Receive Sample Results	Test List	
Lab Worker:	Talamo	~	Not converted in	to graphite:		
S-EVA number:	2000 B	M	Sample Code:			
Date start:	12/10/2008		Log Reference:	SAHRA081012a		
Mg of collagen:	5.371		μд С:	G 1.651		
Final Pressure:	104 mbar					
					\checkmark	
	75	63 P of 38	2			

Figure 4.11 Input of graphitization parameters into the database

4.1.9 Preparation of blank samples

All steps of pretreatment and graphitization may contribute exogenous carbon (contamination). Therefore ¹⁴C free material (old bone, Nylon 66, Pliocene wood) is pretreated and graphitized in the lab. These samples are called blank samples and they are prepared at the same time as the archaeological samples, and are also sent to the AMS facilities to establish the level of ¹⁴C activity in the blanks.

4.1.10 Preparation of shipment to an AMS facility and submission

At this point the samples are ready to be sent to an AMS facility, where the graphite will be pressed into a target and measured in batches in the accelerator. A batch of target usually consists of a number of samples, standards and blanks. For this thesis the samples were submitted to the laboratories of Oxford. Kiel and Mannheim/Zurich. All dates of shipments and the dating results are recorded in the database providing the final list of samples and their ages (Figure 4.12 - 4.13 - 4.14)

bmit Project Lab	Worker Sample	Pretreat Grap	hite CN Send & Receiv	e Sample Results	Test List	744	
Lab Worker:	Talamo	*	Not to be sent				
S-EVA number:	2000 D	4	Sent Collagen:				
Date of shipment:	12/19/2008		Sent Graphite:				
Date expected:	2/16/2009		Sample Code:				
Sent to:	Oxford	~					
Collagen mg sent:	7.8						
Collagen mg rest	43						
					$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$		
		अल्मा त	909				

Figure 4.12 Table of shipment and dating results of a sample

50	omit Project Lab V	/orker S	ample Pri	etreat Graphi	te CN	Send	& Receive	Sample	Results	Test	List	(F)			
	Lab Worker:	Talamo	Y												
	S-EVA number:	1601.1		M	Sample	e Code:	SP-1	461		Result subfol	s PDF (In der of the	mportant Note: Th e database file - Tl	e Result File hat means a	must be saved t present on	na
	Sent to:	Kiel	×		AMS L	ab Nr.:	KIA (37396		humfs: 14\Su	shared in bfolder'')	i "humfsshared:Re :	search Proj	ects\C	
	C14 Age: 38280		En+-1d	560	C	al BP:				KIA R	esults\Ta	alamoS090721.do	c		
			Err+- 2dt		d	°C:	-12.81			Cho	ose Docu	ument		Open Docu	nent
	Result Graph Path:														
	Comments:	-													
	Secure Results:	Ch the this	eck here, a results are button.	after you entere locked. They	d C14 Age, will be char	Err+-, C igeable -	al BP and again, if yo	d °C, so ou deactiv	hat ate						
	Final EVA nu	mber:													
											1				
ord	: [4]	72 🕨	H] F *]	🖸 🎦 of 3	82										

Figure 4.13 Input of data as reported by the AMS facility

1 - 19 - 12			san	nple - Microsoft Acces	s				-	
	Crasta Estara	al Data I	Databasa Taals							
Home	Create Externa	al Data I							U	
W Clipboard	B I U ≣ ≣ A - ⊘ - ⊞-			Records	r V Size Fit Fo	to Switch	Find	綺 Simplif 繁 Traditio 鞽 Transla Chines	iied onal ite with C e Translat	Option
					Ital Taut List					
ubmit Project La	ab Worker Sample Pi	retreat Grap	ohite CN Sen	d & Receive Sample Resu	its lest List					
Radio group for	r query for:		If query neer	ds a value, please enter her	e:					
C C 2+					_					
o site			les cottes							
🔷 🔘 Submitter (S	Surname)									
C14 Age										
0 0										
O Pretreatment	nt (Collagen mg exist, bu	ut no Agej								
-										
🔰 🔘 Graphite (F	inal pressure exist, but r	not Age)								
 Graphite (F Not yet pre 	inal pressure exist, but r	not Age) vesn't evist)	Europeter O	Drink Describe						
 Graphite (F Not yet pre 	inal pressure exist, but r streated (weight pretr. do	not Age) besn't exist)	Execute Q	luery Print Results						
Graphite (F	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do	hot Age) besn't exist)	Execute Q	Print Results	1 Strategy 11	Callanau an	% C-II	C14.4	[Fac. 1	
Graphite (F	inal pressure exist, but r streated (weight pretr. do	hot Age) besn 't exist) Sent to	Execute Q	Print Results	Weight Used	Collagen mg	% Collagen	C14 A	Err+- 1c	1 <mark>~</mark> 1
Graphite (F Not yet pre	iinal pressure exist, but r streated (weight pretr. do Sample Code 24-1258 X4-279	not Age) Jesn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9	% Collagen 3.39	C14 A 38130 43980	Err+- 1c	1
Graphite (F Not yet pre S-Eva 9695 9696 13677 M	inal pressure exist, but n streated (weight pretr. do Sample Code Z4-1258 Y4-273 US08.0.73-356	not Age) Jesn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q Lab Nr. MAMS_10803 MAMS-10804 MAMS-10830	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9	% Collagen 3.39 3.06	C14 A 38130 43980 39460	Err+- 1c 470 650 540	1
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678	inal pressure exist, but n treated (weight pretr. do Sample Code Z4-1258 Y4-279 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.0 Z3-356	not Age) besn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q Lab Nr. MAMS_10803 MAMS-10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10831	Very Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1	% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 37940	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460	1
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679	inal pressure exist, but n streated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-273 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.rc Z3-289 US08.rc Y4-311	not Age) besn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q Lab Nr. MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10832	Ivery Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7432 793.8 618.8	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20	% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 37940 38310	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 500	1
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do 24-1258 Y4-273 US08 0.23-356 US08.rc 73-289 US08.rc Y4-311 US04.4 Y4-51083	not Age) besn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10826	Very Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1	% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 37940 38310 33170	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 500 250	1
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13672	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do 24-1258 Y4-279 US08.0 23-356 US08.rc 23-289 US08.rc 23-289 US08.rc Y4-311 US04.4 Y5-1083 US04.9 Y6-1681	not Age) besn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10826 MAMS_10827	Very Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1011.5	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4	Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 37940 38310 33170 33570	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 500 250 270	1
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13679 13679 13671 13672 13672	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 V4-279 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.rc Z3-289 US08.rc V4-311 US04.4 Y5-1083 US08.4 Y5-1083 US08.23-362	not Age) besn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 37940 38310 33170 33570 39550	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 500 250 270 560	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13672 13675 M 13675 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-273 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.rc Y4-311 US04.4 Y5-1083 US08.0 Z3-362 US08.0 Z3-362 US08.0 Z3-362 US08.0 Z5-1654	Sent to Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10826 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829	Very Print Results Sample Side Ese Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 7938 618.8 1011.5 1013.9	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4	% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 37940 38310 33170 33570 33550 40430	Err+ 1c 470 650 540 460 250 250 270 560 610	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13672 13675 M 13676 M 13676 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do 24.1258 Y4-279 US08.023-356 US08.rc Z3-289 US08.rc Y4-311 US04.4Y6-1083 US04.9Y6-1681 US08.0Z3-362 US08.0Y5-1654 Y5-1225 US 06	sen't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10826 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10814	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0.71	C14 A 381 30 43980 39460 37940 38310 33170 33570 39550	Err+ 1c 470 650 540 460 500 250 270 560 610 250	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13679 13679 13677 13672 13675 M 13675 M 13663 13665 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 US08.0 23-356 US08.rc 23-269 US08.rc 23-269 US08.rc 43-311 US04.4 Y5-1083 US08.0 Y5-1654 US08.0 Y5-1654 V5-1225 US 06 S6-557 US 06	sen't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10814	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0 0,71 0,71	C14 A 381 30 39460 37940 38310 38370 33570 33570 33550 40430 32550 32550 34590	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 500 250 270 560 610 250 300	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13675 M 13675 M 13663 13665 M 13665 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z41258 Y4273 US08 to Z3-356 US08 to Z3-356 US08 to Z3-359 US08 to Z3-350 US08 to Z3-352 US08 075-1654 Y5-1225 US 06 Z4-3286 US 06.1	sen't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10816 UnK 41	Very Print Results Sample Side Ees Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 7938 618.8 1011.5 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0 0 0 0 1.91	C14 A 38130 39460 37940 38310 33170 33570 39550 40430 32550 34590 34590 35754	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 250 250 270 560 610 250 300 318	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13675 M 13675 M 13667 M 13665 M 13665 M 13667 13668 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do 24.1258 Y4-273 US08.023-356 US08.rc Z3-289 US08.rc Y4-311 US04.4Y5-1083 US08.023-362 US08.075-1651 US08.075-1654 V5-1625 US08.075-1654 Y5-1225 US 06 S6-557 US 06 Z4-3268 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1	sot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q Lab Nr. MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10826 MAMS_10826 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10814 Unk 41 MAMS_10824	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes <t< td=""><td>Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6</td><td>Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8</td><td>✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 1.91 0</td><td>C14 A 381 30 43980 33460 37540 38310 33170 33570 39550 40430 325550 34590 35754 37330</td><td>Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 250 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 291</td><td></td></t<>	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 1.91 0	C14 A 381 30 43980 33460 37540 38310 33170 33570 39550 40430 325550 34590 35754 37330	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 460 250 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 291	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13677 13675 M 13676 M 13667 M 13665 M 13665 M 13668 M 13668 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-279 US08.0 23-356 US08.rc 23-289 US08.rc 23-289 US08.rc 43-311 US04.4 Y5-1083 US08.0 Y5-1654 US08.0	sot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10814 UnK 41 MAMS_10824 UnK 42	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes <t< td=""><td>Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5</td><td>Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 20.0</td><td>% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0.71 0 1.91 0 2.69</td><td>C14 A 381 30 43980 39460 37940 38310 33570 39550 40430 32550 34590 35754 37330 3754 37330</td><td>Err+ 1c 470 650 540 250 250 270 610 250 300 318 430 229</td><td></td></t<>	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 20.0	% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0.71 0 1.91 0 2.69	C14 A 381 30 43980 39460 37940 38310 33570 39550 40430 32550 34590 35754 37330 3754 37330	Err+ 1c 470 650 540 250 250 270 610 250 300 318 430 229	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13675 M 13663 13665 M 13665 M 13665 M 13665 M 13666 M 13668 M	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-279 US08 to Z3-356 US08 to Z3-356 US08 to Z3-352 US08 to Z3-352 US08 to Y4-311 US04 Y5-1083 US08 to Y5-1083 US08 to Y5-1654 Y5-1225 US 06 Z4-3268 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1 US04 5P5-785 Z4-3368 US06-785 US04 5P5-785 Z4-3368 US06-785 US04 5P5-785 Z4-3368 US06-785 US04 5P5-785 Z4-3368 US06-785 US04 5P5-785 Z4-3368 US06-785 US04 5P5-785 Z4-735 US04 5P5-785 Z4-735 US04 5P5-785 Z4-735 US04 5P5-785 US04 5P5-785 US0	sot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim Mannheim	Execute Q Lab Nr. MAMS_10803 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10831 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10816 UnK 41 MAMS_10824 UnK 42 UnK 42 UN	Ivery Print Results Sample Side Ese Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 7938 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.0	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 11.0	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 2.69 3.3	C14 A 38130 43380 37940 38310 33770 33570 33570 33550 40430 33550 34590 35754 37330 33535 37016	Err+- 1c 470 650 540 250 250 270 560 250 300 318 430 224 290	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13677 13675 M 13675 M 13663 13665 M 13663 13666 M 13668 13668 13668 13668 13668	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do 24.1258 Y4-273 US08 to 23-356 US08 to 23-356 US08 to 23-356 US08 to 23-362 US08 to 23-362 US08 to 23-362 US08 to 23-362 US08 075-1654 Y5-1255 US 06 S6-557 US 06 S4-3266 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1 S4-3368 US 06.1 X6-205 US 06.07 Y5-3754 US 06	sot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10814 MAMS_10814 MAMS_10814 Unk 41 Unk 42 Unk 42 Unk 42 Unk 42	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 733.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1997.0	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 21.2 21.2 11.6	≈ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 9.94	C14 A 381 30 43980 37540 38310 33170 33575 34590 32555 34590 35754 37330 35575 37330 35535 37016 35273	Err+ 10 470 650 540 560 500 270 560 610 270 300 318 430 224 290 244	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13677 13672 13675 M 13665 M 13665 M 13665 M 13668 M 13668 M 13668 M 13666 13666 13666 13666	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 V4-279 US08.0 23-356 US08.0 23-356 US08.0 23-356 US08.0 23-356 US08.0 4'5-1054 US08.0 75-1654 US08.0 75-1654 US08.0 75-1654 US08.0 75-1654 US08.0 56.0 Z4-3368 US 06.1 US04.5bj R5-785 Z4-3368 US 06.1 US04.5bj R5-785 Z4-3268 US 06.1 US04.5bj R5-785 Z4-7358 US06.1 US04.5bj R5-785 Z4-7458 US06.1 US04.5bj R5-785 Z4	sot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10814 MAMS_10814 UnK 43 UnK 43 UnK 43 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 40 UnK 37 UnK 40	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes <td>Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1887.9 1996.5</td> <td>Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 11.6 11.6 17.7 7 26.2</td> <td>≈ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0 0.71 0 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 0.94 2.17</td> <td>C14 A 38130 43980 39460 39470 38310 38310 33550 40430 35555 34590 355754 37330 35535 37016 35575</td> <td>En+ 1c 470 650 540 460 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 224 290 224 400</td> <td></td>	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1887.9 1996.5	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 11.6 11.6 17.7 7 26.2	≈ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0 0.71 0 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 0.94 2.17	C14 A 38130 43980 39460 39470 38310 38310 33550 40430 35555 34590 355754 37330 35535 37016 35575	En+ 1c 470 650 540 460 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 224 290 224 400	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13671 13675 M 13675 M 13663 13665 M 13665 M 13665 M 13666 M 13666 13666 13666 13666 13664 13665	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-279 U508 to Z3-356 U508 to Z3-356 U508 to Z3-352 U508 to Z3-352 U508 to Y4-311 U504 4 Y5-1083 U508 to Y4-311 U508 0 Y5-1654 Y5-1225 U5 06 Z4-3286 US 061 Z4-3368 US 06.1 X6-557 US 06 S6-557 US 06 S6-557 US 06 US08 0-73-255	sot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 UnK 42 UnK 43 UnK 42 UnK 40 UnK 37 OxA-V-2381-52 UnK 52	Ivery Print Results Sample Side Ese Cottes Les Cottes Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1887.9 1205.5 570.9	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 11.6 17.7 26.2 45.7	✗ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0.379 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 0.94 2.17 2.69	C14 A 381 30 43980 37940 38310 33170 33570 39550 40430 32550 34590 35754 37330 33535 37016 35273 40560 33670 32641 33670	En++ 1c 470 650 540 460 500 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 224 290 244 400 400 400 257	
 Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13675 M 13675 M 13666 M 13663 M 13668 M 13668 M 13668 1 13666 1 13664 1 13665 1 13677 A 	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-273 US08.023-356 US08.rc 72-289 US08.rc 74-311 US04.9Y6-1881 US08.023-362 US08.075-1654 Y5-1225 US 06 S6-557 US 06 Z4-3286 US 06.1 Z4-3368 US 06.1 X6-205 US 06 S6-557 US 06 S6-557 US 06 US08.023-356	ser to Mannheim Mannh	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10832 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10827 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10824 UnK 41 UnK 43 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 40 UnK 37 UnK 56	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes Les Cottes <t< td=""><td>Weight Used 1466.8 7492 733.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1887.9 1205.5 670.8</td><td>Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 21.2 21.2 11.6 17.7 26.2 45.7</td><td>≈ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 0.94 2.17 6.81</td><td>C14 A 381 30 43800 39460 38310 38310 33170 39550 40430 32550 40430 32550 40430 32550 34590 35573 34590 37330 33573 3730 35273 40560 33570 33670 33670 33670</td><td>Err+ 1c 470 540 540 250 270 500 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 224 290 244 400 257 8 270 240 240 250 240 240 240 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 25</td><td></td></t<>	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 733.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1887.9 1205.5 670.8	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 21.2 21.2 11.6 17.7 26.2 45.7	≈ Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 0.94 2.17 6.81	C14 A 381 30 43800 39460 38310 38310 33170 39550 40430 32550 40430 32550 40430 32550 34590 35573 34590 37330 33573 3730 35273 40560 33570 33670 33670 33670	Err+ 1c 470 540 540 250 270 500 250 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 224 290 244 400 257 8 270 240 240 250 240 240 240 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 25	
Graphite (F Not yet pre 9695 9696 13677 M 13678 13679 13677 M 13675 M 13675 M 13667 M 13665 M 13665 M 13668 M 13668 M 13668 M 13668 I 13668 I 13668 I 13666 1 13677 ◀	inal pressure exist, but r treated (weight pretr. do Z4-1258 Y4-279 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.0 Z3-356 US08.0 Y4-311 US04.4 Y5-1083 US04.4 Y5-1083 US04.4 Y5-1083 US08.0 Y5-1654 Y5-125 US 06 S6-557 US 06 Z4-3286 US 06.1 US04.50 A.07 Y5-2785US 06 S6-557 US 06	ot Age) esn't exist) Sent to Mannheim M	Execute Q MAMS_10803 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10804 MAMS_10830 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10828 MAMS_10829 MAMS_10814 MAMS_10814 UnK 41 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 42 UnK 43 UnK 42 UnK 45 UnK 40 UnK 37 OxA-V-2381-52 UnK 56	Print Results Sample Side Les Cottes	Weight Used 1466.8 7492 793.8 618.8 1011.5 1013.9 1933.5 826.6 701.5 642.1 542.9 1887.9 1205.5 642.1	Collagen mg 49.7 22.9 30.1 20 16.1 13.4 13.7 15.8 18.9 21.2 11.6 17.7 26.2 45.7	% Collagen 3.39 3.06 0 3.79 0.32 1.59 1.32 0 0 0.71 0 0.71 0 2.69 3.3 2.14 0.94 2.17 6.81	C14 A 38130 43880 39460 37940 38310 33170 33550 40430 32550 34590 35754 37330 37535 37016 35273 40560 35273 40560 35273 40560 3741	Err+ 1c 470 650 540 560 500 270 560 610 250 300 318 430 224 430 224 430 224 290 244 400 257	

Figure 4.14 Example of a summary sheet of an archaeological site (Les Cottés)

5. Debates over Palaeolithic chronology – the reliability of ¹⁴C is confirmed

Paper accepted for publication in JAS

Authors: Sahra Talamo, Konrad A. Hughen, Bernd Kromer, Paula J. Reimer

Abstract

The debate about the complex issues of human development during the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition period (45-35 ka BP) has been hampered by concerns about the reliability of the radiocarbon dating method. Large ¹⁴C anomalies were postulated and radiocarbon dating was considered flawed. We show here that these issues are no longer relevant, because the large anomalies are artefacts beyond plausible physical limits for their magnitude. Previous inconsistencies between ¹⁴C radiocarbon datasets have been resolved, and a new radiocarbon calibration curve, IntCal09 (Reimer, et al., 2009), was created. Improved procedures for bone collagen extraction and charcoal pretreatment generally result in older ages, consistent with independently dated time markers.

1. Introduction

The period of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic presents one of the major intellectual challenges in archaeology, fuelled by the demise of the Neanderthals and the dispersal of the Anatomically Modern Humans (AMH) in central Europe. Did they ever encounter each other? Did they exchange technology, culture or genes? Is the Neanderthal a forger of the AMH techno-complex, or did AMH invent it independently? Does the Aurignacian reflect the dispersal of the first Modern Humans in Europe? Common to all these questions is chronology, and radiocarbon dating is a central tool to provide this.

Until now, the prospect for a precise Middle to Upper Palaeolithic chronology was controversial in the archaeological world and the reasons are many. First are the intricacies of the radiocarbon method including the requirement of calibration, which has left room for ambiguity (Mellars, 2006). Secondly, there have been doubts about the radiocarbon method being capable of dating this time period because of the alleged extreme fluctuations of the atmospheric radiocarbon level (Conard and Bolus, 2003, Conard and Bolus, 2008, Fedele, et al., 2008, Giaccio, et al., 2006, Pettitt and Pike, 2001). Last but not least, there are the methodological difficulties of using radiocarbon dating close to its limits, with higher errors due to the low remaining ¹⁴C activity of samples from this time period, and resultant vulnerability to contamination *in situ* and in the laboratory. Here the prime dating materials are bone and charcoal; hence the quality of the dates depends strongly on the ability to extract pure collagen from bone and remove traces of contamination from charcoal. This field has seen strong progress over the past two decades. Bone, which is considered closest to the archaeological context, represents a challenge in the extraction of genuine collagen and here the risk of obtaining anomalously young dates is high. Collagen cleaned by ultrafiltration (Brown, et al., 1988) appears to deliver generally older ages, consistent with established time

markers such as the Campanian Ignimbrite (CI), but there are still controversial issues as exemplified by a recent exchange of opinions (Higham, et al., 2006, Hüls, et al., 2007)

We observe that different authors arrive at quite different conclusions regarding the temporal framework of crucial sites and some authors even question the validity of radiocarbon dating. For this reason we consider it useful to revisit some fundamental radiocarbon issues and outline the intense work in the radiocarbon community over the past few years, which has created a solid chain of evidence supporting the use of radiocarbon dating in the time period 30,000 to 45,000 cal BP.¹

2. Special events in the Middle /Upper Palaeolithic time period

The time period prior to 38,000 cal BP experienced strong climate excursions, Dansgaard-Oeschger cycles (DO) 12 to 9 concluding in Heinrich Event 4 (HE 4) (Wang, et al., 2001). Dansgaard-Oeschger cycles are characterized by warm periods ca.1500 years long, with very fast warming (<100 years) and subsequent gradual cooling. The cause could be shifts of the location of the deep water formation in the North Atlantic, i.e. during warm phases the location is further north, near where it is today, whereas during cold phases it is located south of Iceland (Bard, 2002, Rahmstorf and Alley, 2001). Heinrich events are periods in which a greatly increased number of icebergs enter the North Atlantic. The resulting freshwater input may have considerably slowed the major ocean circulation engine, i.e. Meridional Overturning Circulation (MOC) leading to strong cold phases in mid and high latitudes of the Northern hemisphere.

A major volcanic eruption also occurred in this time range; the Campanian Ignimbrite (CI), dated by ${}^{40}\text{Ar}/{}^{39}\text{Ar}$ to $39,395\pm51$ cal BP (Fedele, et al., 2002, Pyle, 1992, Pyle, et al., 2006, Ton-That, et al., 2001). The CI is an important time marker in the Mediterranean and south-eastern Europe. Finally the Laschamp geomagnetic excursion (an interval of extremely low geomagnetic field intensity) is a global stratigraphic tie-point dated to $40,400 \pm 1100$ cal BP (Guillou, et al., 2004). The potential effect of these events on atmospheric ${}^{14}\text{C}$ is presented in detail below.

3. Fundamentals of carbon cycle and ¹⁴C calibration

¹⁴C dates cannot be used in a straightforward way because the atmospheric radiocarbon level, which determines the initial setting of the 'clock', has varied in the past. This is remedied by using ¹⁴C dates of known age material (e.g. tree-rings) to correct, or calibrate, the radiocarbon dates to calendar (cal) ages. The variability of atmospheric ¹⁴C is due primarily to two factors, the first of which is the change in the shielding of the earth against cosmic rays that produce ¹⁴C. The shielding has two components, the Earth's geomagnetic field and the magnetic field in the solar wind. Decreasing magnetic field shielding increases ¹⁴C production and vice versa. The second factor is the distribution of ¹⁴C between global carbon reservoirs. Carbon is primarily exchanged between three reservoirs, the atmosphere, biosphere and ocean.

¹ In this paper radiocarbon ages are denoted ¹⁴C **BP**, i.e. radiocarbon years before 1950 AD. Calibrated radiocarbon ages are denoted **cal BP** which are calendar years before 1950 AD and cal BP is used also for calendar ages obtained by other dating methods, such as Ar/Ar or U-Th.

The fraction of carbon in the atmosphere and biosphere is only a few percent compared to the carbon stored in the deep ocean. Deep ocean ventilation (i.e., MOC) controls the distribution of carbon between the atmosphere and ocean, and hence atmospheric ¹⁴C levels. A reduction of MOC would serve to lower the flux of ¹⁴C into the ocean and therefore increase atmospheric ¹⁴C.

The portion of carbon in the biosphere (e.g. plants, soil, sediments and peat) also contributes to atmospheric ¹⁴C variability, but on a much smaller scale than the ocean. To obtain quantitative estimates of the ¹⁴C content of these carbon reservoirs and, most importantly, their temporal development, a number of carbon cycle models have been developed. These models use scenarios of changes in the above-mentioned parameters, including ¹⁴C production or rate of MOC, to calculate the atmospheric ¹⁴C level (Hughen, et al., 2006, Laj, et al., 2002, Siegenthaler, et al., 1980, Stuiver and Braziunas, 1993). In the period of interest, the factors which were the primary contributors to atmospheric ¹⁴C variability are the enhanced production of ¹⁴C (because of the low geomagnetic dipole during the Laschamp Event) and the reduced MOC (due to fresh water input into the North Atlantic during Heinrich event H4).

4. Evidence and discussion of ¹⁴C fluctuations in published datasets

Several ¹⁴C datasets have been taken as evidence for extremely large ¹⁴C fluctuations around 40,000 cal BP – the Bahamas stalagmites (Beck, et al., 2001) and the Tyrrhenian Sea core CT85-5 (Giaccio, et al., 2006) with ages that are systematically too young (ca. 32,000 ¹⁴C BP) found in stratigraphical context underlying the CI (ca. 35,000 ¹⁴C BP). This latter point appears fully resolved now due to the revised ¹⁴C ages of important Italian sites like "Fumane" in the recent contribution of Higham et al. (2009), where they show that advanced pre-treatment techniques of charcoal lead to ¹⁴C ages in full agreement with the CI age. A recent review of pretreatment of bone and charcoal is given by Ascough et al. (2009) and Higham (2011).

Here we focus on the presence or absence of strong fluctuations of the atmospheric ¹⁴C level, conventionally reported as Δ^{14} C, the deviation from an international standard (Stuiver and Polach, 1977). The CI event coincides with an interval of weak geomagnetic field (Laschamp Event, LE) during which the production of cosmogenic nuclides (¹⁴C, ¹⁰Be, ³⁶Cl) was enhanced. For ¹⁰Be and ³⁶Cl, this effect is seen clearly in the polar ice cores (Beer, et al., 2002), but the signal in radiocarbon is attenuated by buffering through the large ocean reservoir. At the time of its first publication, a Bahamas stalagmite (Beck, et al., 2001) showed a very strong Δ^{14} C spike around 40,000 cal BP which was attributed to a scenario of changes in ¹⁴C production and in carbon reservoirs. However, the strong Δ^{14} C spike in this speleothem record was later determined to be an artefact of an erroneous background correction (Beck, et al., 2008, Hoffmann, et al., 2010). Subsequently, another stalagmite record was obtained from the Bahamas that does not display as strong a signal (Hoffmann, et al., 2008, Hoffmann, et al., 2010), in agreement with other ¹⁴C records (Hughen, et al., 2006).

5. Limits to amplitude of large atmospheric ¹⁴C fluctuations

The strongest evidence of radiocarbon anomalies comes from the ¹⁴C age sequences of the Tyrrhenian Sea core CT85-5, covered in more detail in chapter 16 of the book: "When Neanderthal and Modern Human met" (Giaccio, et al., 2006). A total of 44 AMS ¹⁴C measurements have been performed on foraminifera which show extremely large ¹⁴C age fluctuations. Within about 800 years the ¹⁴C ages jump from circa 35,000

¹⁴C BP to circa 25,000-20,000 ¹⁴C BP and subsequently return to circa 33,000-32,000 ¹⁴C BP (Giaccio, et al., 2006). Foraminiferal species and pretreatment have not been specified so it is difficult to evaluate this dataset without further information.

We consider the interpretation of this last dataset as evidence of extremely strong atmospheric ¹⁴C fluctuations as erroneous, primarily because carbon cycle models impose limits to the magnitude and rate of change of atmospheric Δ^{14} C. We imposed extreme scenarios over the characteristic time scales of Heinrich events, DO cycles and the Laschamp Event (ocean ventilation MOC shut off partially or completely, vanishing earth magnetic field, low solar activity) using a previously published carbon cycle model as outlined in the suplementary information, and we obtain a maximum increase of 500 to 1550‰ in Δ^{14} C. These values can be compared to the ranges calculated from the ¹⁴C age drop of the CT85-5 core. The apparent age of 20,000 ¹⁴C BP at a true age of 40,000 cal BP corresponds to an atmospheric Δ^{14} C value of more than 9000‰, i.e. more than 6 times the maximum value of the model calculations. Such a high value is completely outside of the range covered by plausible manipulations of the ¹⁴C and the carbon cycle.

The second argument against drastic Δ^{14} C fluctuations is based on the Cariaco Basin ¹⁴C dataset, which has several data points at 150-200 year sampling resolution in the age range of the CI (Hughen, et al., 2006), but does not show unusually large fluctuations. Δ^{14} C in Cariaco has a peak of up to 700‰ between 44,000 and 36,000 cal BP (Hughen, et al., 2006) changing smoothly in this interval, mainly caused by the low geomagnetic field during LE. While the marine radiocarbon reservoir will no doubt attenuate a peak in atmospheric ¹⁴C to a certain extent, depending on the rate of change of ¹⁴C, we know from nuclear weapons testing measurements that such a large attentuation as that required to support a 9000‰ value for the atmosphere could not have occurred, even for decadal scale or shorter anomalies. In fact, the longer centennial-to-millennial time scales of the purported ¹⁴C anomaly at 40,000 cal BP would result in the marine signal being in near equilibrium to the atmosphere.

The observed gradual changes in Δ^{14} C do not invalidate radiocarbon dating at all, because the calibration procedure is designed to account for these anomalies (Fig. 1). We conclude that the ¹⁴C age inversion of up to 15,000 ¹⁴C years in the Tyrrhenian Sea core could not have been caused by fluctuations of the atmospheric ¹⁴C level.

6. Calibration of radiocarbon dates by IntCal09 back to 50,000 cal BP

Due to new data and the application of stringent quality criteria, the previous limitation for calibration of ¹⁴C dates (26,000 cal BP, IntCal04 (Reimer, et al., 2004)) no longer exists. After four years of intense discussion and review of new datasets the IntCal Working Group created an extension back to 50,000 cal BP, IntCal09 (Reimer, et al., 2009) which was approved by the radiocarbon community. Using this data set, reliable and statistically robust calibrated ages close to the limit of the method can be obtained. While the IntCal Working Group will continue to make refinements to the radiocarbon calibration curve, particularly with regard to marine reservoir ages, there are unlikely to be substantial changes in this time period.

7. Conclusions

The unusual sequence of events during Middle to Upper Palaeolithic leaves ample room for speculation and competing theories, even more so when a rigid age control is lacking. At least for chronological issues, we can provide a remedy. The putative

radiocarbon dating anomaly during Middle to Upper Palaeolithic lasting for millennia does not exist. ¹⁴C production fluctuations lead to intervals of both accelerated change of radiocarbon years *versus* calendar years and decreased change (i.e., radiocarbon age plateaux), which are well resolved in the current radiocarbon calibration dataset IntCal09. The radiocarbon community solved the issues of inconsistent ¹⁴C datasets and created a valid calibration curve back to 50,000 BP (Reimer, et al., 2009). Improved protocols for bone collagen extraction and charcoal pretreatment result in calibrated ages in agreement with the CI time marker.

¹⁴C dating of samples older than 30,000 years is still challenging and requires outstanding efforts in sample selection and in laboratory procedures. Published dates need to be critically assessed for being too young due to incomplete decontamination, before they are incorporated into archaeological concepts. We see a bright future for radiocarbon dating even at ages close to the limit of the method.

Acknowledgments:

ST thanks Mike Richards and Jean-Jacques Hublin for the constant support, assistance and encouragement during the period of work. The authors thank the two anonymous reviewers for their helpful suggestions.



Fig. 1: ¹⁴C calibration data in the interval 30,000 to 45,000 cal BP, Cariaco (Hughen, et al., 2006, light blue), Corals (Fairbanks, et al., 2005, orange), Iberian margin marine sediments (Bard, et al., 2004, pink), Corals (Bard, et al., 2004, red), Corals (Cutler, et al., 2004, dark green).

Supplementary information

If we consider a reduction of the geomagnetic field intensity to zero (maximum case) lasting for 1000 years (Laj, et al., 2002), the atmospheric Δ^{14} C increases by ~420‰ as calculated by carbon cycle models. For a reduction of the geomagnetic field lasting 2000 years, the Δ^{14} C increase is only slightly more (~550‰). Another scenario could be the reduction in MOC by 30%; this causes atmospheric Δ^{14} C to increase by 40‰, in agreement with Delaygue et al.(Delaygue, et al., 2003) and a reduction of MOC by 50% results in an atmospheric Δ^{14} C increase of 85‰.The simultaneous reduction in geomagnetic field and MOC (lowering geomagnetic field intensity to 0 and MOC by 30% for 1000 years) yields an atmospheric Δ^{14} C increase of 500‰ (650‰ if the MOC is reduced by 50%). The most extreme scenario would be reducing both geomagnetic field intensity and solar activity to 0 for 1000 years, together with a 50% reduction in MOC, resulting in an atmospheric Δ^{14} C increase of 1550‰.

References

- Ascough, P.L., Bird, M.I., Brock, F., Higham, T.F.G., Meredith, W., Snape, C.E., Vane, C.H., 2009. Hydropyrolysis as a new tool for radiocarbon pre-treatment and the quanti-fication of black carbon, Quaternary Geochronology 4, 140-147.
- Bard, E., 2002. Climate Shock: Abrupt Changes over Millennial Time Scale, Physics Today, 32-38.
- Bard, E., Ménot-Combes, G., Rostek, F., 2004. Present status of radiocarbon calibration and comparison records based on Polynesian Corals and Iberian Margin sediments, Radiocarbon 46, 1189-1202.
- Beck, J.W., Richards, D.A., Edwards, R.L., Silverman, B.W., Smart, P.L., Donahue, D.J., Hererra-Osterheld, S.a., Burr, G.S., Calsoyas, L., Jull, A.J.T., Biddulph, D., 2001. Extremely Large Variations of Atmospheric ¹⁴C Concentration During the Last Glacial Period, Science 292.
- Beck, W., Richards, D., Hoffmann, D., Smart, P., SIngarayer, J., Ketchmark, T., Hawkesworth, C., 2008. Reconciling records of atmospheric radiocarbon variations during the last glacial period using speleothems, AMS-11, 11th International Conference on Accelerator Mass Spectrometry, Rome.
- Beer, J., Muscheler, R., Wagner, G., Laj, C., Kissel, C., Kubik, P.W., Synal, H.-A., 2002 Cosmogenic nuclides during Isotope Stages 2 and 3, Quaternary Science Reviews 21, 1129-1139.
- Brown, T.A., Nelson, D.E., Vogel, J.S., Southon, J.R., 1988. Improved Collagen Extraction by modified Longin method, Radiocarbon 30, 171 177.
- Conard, N.J., Bolus, M., 2003. Radiocarbon dating the appearance of modern humans and timing of cultural innovations in Europe: new results and new challenges, Journal of Human Evolution 44, 331-371.
- Conard, N.J., Bolus, M., 2008. Radiocarbon dating the late Middle Paleolithic and the Aurignacian of the Swabian Jura, Journal of Human Evolution 55, 886-897.
- Cutler, K.B., Gray, S.C., Burr, G.S., Edwards, R.L., Taylor, F.W., Cabioch, G., Beck, J.W., Cheng, H., Moore, J., 2004. Radiocarbon calibration and comparison to 50 kyr BP with paired ¹⁴C and ²³⁰TH dating of corals from Vanuatu and Papua New Guinea. Radiocarbon 46 (3): 1127-1160.
- Fairbanks, R.G., Mortlock, R.A., Chiu, T.-C., Cao, L., Kaplan, A., Guilderson, T.P., Fairbanks T.W., Bloom A.L., 2005. Marine Radiocarbon Calibration Curve Spanning 10,000 to 50,000 Years B.P. Based on Paired ²³⁰Th/²³⁴U/²³⁸U and ¹⁴C Dates on Pristine Corals. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 24, 1781-1796.
- Fedele, F.G., Giaccio, B., Hajdas, I., 2008. Timescales and cultural process at 40,000 BP in the light of the Campanian Ignimbrite eruption, Western Eurasia, Journal of Human Evolution 55, 834-857.
- Fedele, F.G., Giaccio, B., Isaia, R., Orsi, G., 2002. Ecosystem Impact of the Campanian Ignimbrite Eruption in Late Pleistocene Europe, Quaternary Research 57, 420-424.
- Giaccio, B., Hajdas, I., Peresani, M., Fedele, F.G., Isaia, R., 2006. The Campanian Ignimbrite tephra and its relevance for the timing of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic shift, in: Conard, N.J. (Ed.), When Neanderthals and Modern Humans Met, Kerns Verlag, Tübingen, pp. 343-375.
- Guillou, H., Singer, B.S., Laj, C., Kissel, C., Scaillet, S., Jicha, B.R., 2004. On the age of the Laschamp geomagnetic excursion, Earth and Planetary Science Letters 227, 331-343.
- Higham, T., 2011. European Middle and Upper Palaeolithic radiocarbon dates are often older than they look: problems with previous dates and some remedies, Antiquity 85, 235-249.

- Higham, T., Brock, F., Peresani, M., Broglio, A., Wood, R., Douka, K., 2009. Problems with radiocarbon dating the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in Italy, Quaternary Science Reviews 28, 1257-1267.
- Higham, T.F.G., Jacobi, R.M., Ramsey, C.B., 2006. AMS radiocarbon dating of ancient bone using ultrafiltration, Radiocarbon 48, 179-195.
- Hoffmann, D.L., Beck, J.W., Richards, D.A., Smart, P.L., Mattey, D.P., Paterson, B.A., 2008. Atmospheric radiocarbon variation between 44 and 28 ka based on a U-series dated speleothem, in: Hawkesworth, J. (Ed.), EGU General Assembly Vienna.
- Hoffmann, D.L., Beck, J.W., Richards, D.A., Smart, P.L., Singarayer, J.S., Ketchmark, T., Hawkesworth, C.J., 2010. Towards radiocarbon calibration beyond 28 ka using speleothems from the Bahamas, Earth and Planetary Science Letters 289, 1-10.
- Hughen, K., Southon, J., Lehman, S., Bertrand, C., Turnbull, J., 2006. Marine-derived ¹⁴C calibration and activity record for the past 50,000 years updated from the Cariaco Basin, Quaternary Science Reviews 25, 3216-3227.
- Hüls, M.C., Grootes, P.M., Nadeau, M.-J., 2007. How clean is ultrafiltration cleaning of bone collagen?, Radiocarbon 49, 193-200.
- Laj, C., Kissel, C., Mazaud, A., Michel, E., Muscheler, R., Beer, J., 2002. Geomagnetic field intensity, North Atlantic Deep Water circulation and atmospheric Δ^{14} C during the last 50 kyr, Earth and Planetary Science Letters 200, 177-190.
- Mellars, P., 2006. A new radiocarbon revolution and the dispersal of modern humans in Eurasia, Nature 439.
- Pettitt, P.B., Pike, A.W.G., 2001. Blind in a cloud of data: problems with the chronology of Neanderthal extinction and anatomically modern human expansion, Antiquity 75, 415-420.
- Pyle, D.M., 1992. On the "climatic effectiveness" of volcanic eruptions., Quaternary Research 37, 125-129.
- Pyle, D.M., Ricketts, G.D., Margari, V., Andel, T.H.v., Sinitsyn, A.A., Praslov, N.D., Lisitsyn, S., 2006 Wide dispersal and deposition of distal tephra during the Pleistocene 'Campanian Ignimbrite/Y5' eruption, Italy, Quaternary Science Reviews 25, 2713-2728.
- Rahmstorf, S., Alley, R., 2001. Stochastic Resonance in Glacial Climate, EOS Transactions American Geophysical Union 83.
- Reimer, P.J., Baillie, M.G.L., Bard, E., Bayliss, A., Beck, J.W., Bertrand, C.J.H., Blackwell, P.G., Buck, C.E., Burr, G.S., Cutler, K.B., Damon, P.E., Edwards, R.L., Fairbanks, R.G., Friedrich, M., Guilderson, T.P., Hogg, A.G., Hughen, K.A., Kromer, B., McCormac, G., Manning, S., Ramsey, C.B., Reimer, R.W., Remmele, S., Southon, J.R., Stuiver, M., Talamo, S., Taylor, F.W., Plicht, J.v.d., Weyhenmeyer, C.E., 2004. INTCAL04 terrestrial radiocarbon age calibration, 0–26 cal kyr BP, Radiocarbon 46, 1029–1058.
- Reimer, P.J., Baillie, M.G.L., Bard, E., Bayliss, A., Beck, J.W., Blackwell, P.G., Ramsey, C.B., Buck, C.E., Burr, G.S., Edwards, R.L., Friedrich, M., Grootes, P.M., Guilderson, T.P., Hajdas, I., Heaton, T.J., Hogg, A.G., Hughen, K.A., Kaiser, K.F., Kromer, B., McCormac, F.G., Manning, S.W., Reimer, R.W., Richards, D.A., Southon, J.R., Talamo, S., Turney, C.S.M., Plicht, J.v.d., Weyhenmeyer, C.E., 2009. IntCal09 and Marine09 radiocarbon age calibration curves, 0 50 cal kBP, Radiocarbon 51, 1111-1150.
- Siegenthaler, U., Heimann, M., Oeschger, H., 1980. ¹⁴C variations causd by changes in the global carbon cycle, Radiocarbon 22, 177-191.

Stuiver, M., Braziunas, T.F., 1993. Sun, ocean, climate and atmospheric¹⁴CO₂:an evaluation of causal and spectral relationships, The Holocene 3, 289-305.

Stuiver, M., Polach, H.A., 1977. Reporting of ¹⁴C data, Radiocarbon 19, 355-363.

- Ton-That, T., Singer, B., Paterne, M., 2001. ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating of latest Pleistocene (41 ka) marine tephra in the Mediterranean Sea: implications for global climate records Earth and Planetary Science Letters 184, 645-658.
- Wang, Y.J., Cheng, H., Edwards, R.L., An, Z.S., Wu, J.Y., Shen, C.-C., Dorale, J.A., 2001. A High-Resolution Absolute-Dated Late Pleistocene Monsoon Record from Hulu Cave, China, Science 294, 2345-2348.

6. A comparison of bone pretreatment methods for AMS dating of samples >30.000 BP

Paper published in Radiocarbon (vol. 53 issue 3, 2011).

Authors: Sahra Talamo, Mike Richards

The focus of this paper was to find the best pretreatment method to minimise or remove modern contamination in bone samples older than 30,000 cal BP.

The study involves two different bone samples. The first one is a Mammoth rib from North Sea (lab code S-EVA 2000, Figure 6.1) and the second is a bison bone, also from North Sea (lab code S-EVA 2001, Figure 6.2)



Figure 6.1 Mammoth rib sample involved in this work



Figure 6.2 Bison sample involved in this work

RADIOCARBON, Vol 53, Nr 3, 2011, p 443-449

© 2011 by the Arizona Board of Regents on behalf of the University of Arizona

A COMPARISON OF BONE PRETREATMENT METHODS FOR AMS DATING OF SAMPLES >30,000 BP

Sahra Talamo

Department of Human Evolution, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Deutscher Platz 6, D-04103 Leipzig, Germany. Corresponding author. Email: sahra_talamo@eva.mpg.de.

Mike Richards

Department of Human Evolution, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Deutscher Platz 6, D-04103 Leipzig, Germany. Also: Department of Anthropology, University of British Columbia, 6303 NW Marine Drive, Vancouver, BC, V6T 1Z1, Canada.

ABSTRACT. Bone is a commonly used material for radiocarbon dating, yet at ages close to the limit of the method (>30,000 BP), it is a substantial challenge to remove contamination and produce accurate ages. We report here on the preliminary results of a dating study of 2 bones older than 30,000 yr, which were each treated with a suite of pretreatment procedures, including ultrafiltration (Brown et al. 1988). Substantial differences in the ^{14}C ages were observed, which is most likely linked to crucial steps in the removal of contamination both in the bone and in the laboratory. Using a comprehensive sequence of pretreatment procedures, including ultrafiltration (grown et al. 1988) we obtain generally older ages.

INTRODUCTION

Bone is one of the most important archaeological materials used for radiocarbon dating, but at the same time it is also one of the most difficult materials to date as bone can be susceptible to contamination and is also often degraded. Prior to 1970, whole bone was generally used for dating, and often included bone carbonate, which itself could be postdepositionally contaminated. Longin (1971) proposed a method to isolate bone collagen, which was seen to be a much more stable material and less susceptible to contamination than bone mineral. The main challenge in chemically pre-treating bones for ¹⁴C dating is therefore to extract collagen and then confirm that the extracted collagen is indeed largely intact and free from contamination, usually through the measurement of a suite of indicators, including C:N ratio, collagen yield, and %C and %N in the collagen extract.

Most laboratories use some variation of the Longin (1971) method, but other laboratories have specialized in bone dating and have dramatically improved collagen extraction and purification techniques. For instance, in 1992 the Oxford Radiocarbon Accelerator Unit (ORAU) published the HPLC technique, which is one of the most sophisticated methods to carefully extract and purify amino acids from bone collagen (Van Klinken et al. 1994). Another way to purify the bone samples was proposed earlier by a Canadian research team (Brown et al. 1988), to separate the high-molecular weight (>30 kD) from the low-molecular weight fraction using ultrafiltration, and then produce dates using only the >30-kD fraction. In 2000, the ORAU adopted this ultrafiltration method (Bronk Ramsey et al. 2000, 2004) for their extracted gelatin, and also included a primary filtration step using an Ezee-Filter™ (Elkay Laboratory Products Ltd., UK). After various tests of potential contamination from both the ultrafilters and the Ezee-Filters, the ORAU lab found that both of the filters require careful cleaning in an ultrasonic bath (Brock et al. 2007). The ultrafilter has a humectant coating (glycerol) added to maintain the flexibility of the filter. As glycerol can be manufactured from either plant or animal extracts, or alternatively from petroleum processing byproducts, this glycerol needs to be removed as it could add young or old carbon to the sample. Bronk Ramsey et al. (2004) suggested that the best way to eliminate this glycerol without damaging the filter is repeated washes and sonification, and after 3 washes showed that the humectant was effectively removed as shown by no measurable carbon in the eluent. Despite the apparent beneficial role in removing the low-molecular weight fraction of the collagen (Higham et al. 2006), there is an ongoing discussion in the ¹⁴C community about the utility and accuracy of ultrafiltration. Hüls et al.

444 S Talamo & M Richards

(2007) tested 2 different ultrafilters, a VivaspinTM 15R and a Vivaspin 20, using bones of various ages. They showed that in spite of careful cleaning of the ultrafilter, small amounts of contaminant young carbon remained, which probably came from glycerin; hence, they recommended caution in the use of the ultrafilter. In at least one example, dates of mammoth bone samples have been obtained without ultrafiltration, where the ages compare well with contemporary peat and wood (Hajdas et al. 2007).

The ¹⁴C activity of the humectant has been shown to be bimodal, i.e. essentially modern or of fossil origin (Brock et al. 2007). For bones older than 30,000 BP, contamination by modern carbon will alter the true age much more dramatically than the addition of ¹⁴C-dead carbon of a similar size.

At our institution (MPI, EVA Leipzig, Germany), we developed techniques to extract collagen from Pleistocene-age bone for stable isotope analysis and the resultant collagen was often sent to accelerator mass spectrometry (AMS) facilities for ¹⁴C dating. In 2005, well-preserved bison and mammoth bones from the North Sea of unknown age were adopted as the long-term quality control material, especially to test for background contamination in the sample preparation, with the assumption that these 2 bones were at least Pleistocene in age, and ideally older than 50,000 BP. Initial ¹⁴C results from 2 AMS laboratories on collagen prepared at MPI showed the bones to be in the age range of 30,000 to 45,000 ¹⁴C BP, but we observed large discrepancies in the ¹⁴C ages between different ¹⁴C labs. These inconsistencies could have been caused by deficits in the pretreatment methods that we had established for collagen extraction, by insufficient removal of contamination in the samples, in the AMS measurements themselves, or all three.

We therefore designed a study to investigate the source of these inconsistent dates, and we also compared the results of our pretreatment methods against results from the methods from two of these AMS labs.

METHODS

We obtained 2 bones, the first a mammoth (S-EVA 2000) and the second a bison (SEVA 2001) from the Pleistocene North Sea plain. Both bones have relatively well-preserved collagen. Bone powder was drilled from the 2 bones and pretreated in 3 different ways (methods A–C) as outlined in Table 1. Method A was the pretreatment method employed when we first ran stable isotope analysis and later on dated the mammoth and bison samples. The bone is decalcified in HCl over several days while refrigerated (~4 °C) until no effervescence is observed. The gelatinization step is at pH 3 at 70 °C for 48 hr. The ultrafilter (Vivaspin 15, 30 kD) is rinsed in NaOH (1×) and H₂O (4×). Method B differs only in the cleaning of the ultrafilter, which was modified by removing the NaOH cleaning, and adding a 1-hr ultrasonic bath after the third H₂O rinse. In initial tests, we also used Millipore ultrafilters but in agreement with ORAU (Brock et al. 2007), we found Vivaspin 15 to be better suited for our purposes.

In Method C, the decalcification is at room temperature for 4 hr, with an additional NaOH step to remove humics and followed by an HCl step to remove potential contamination from modern CO_2 taken up by the NaOH. The gelatinization is done at pH 3 but at 75 °C for 20 hr. The ultrafilter is cleaned by centrifuging in H_2O (5×) without the NaOH rinse, and kept for 1 hr in ultrasonic bath after the third H_2O rinse. The cleaning is checked by monitoring the carbon level in the eluent.

We also submitted unpretreated samples (2 pieces of each bone) directly to the Oxford and Kiel laboratories, which were then pretreated in each laboratory following standard in-house pretreatment methods (**Method D_K**, **Method D₀**). The specifics of these methods are given below.

Bone Pretreatment Methods for AMS Dating of Samples > 30,000 BP 445

Table 1 Pretreatment steps for all 3 n	aethods
--	---------

	Decalci	fication		_	Cleani	ng of the ul	trafilter	_
Method	HCl	NaOH	HCl	Gelatinization	NaOH centrifuge	$\rm H_2O$ centrifuge	Ultrasonic bath	$\rm H_2O$ centrifuge
А	Several days at ~4 °C	No	No	pH 3, 70 °C for 48 hr	1×	4×	No	No
В	Several days at ~4 °C	No	No	pH 3, 70 °C for 48 hr	No	3×	1 hr	$2 \times$
С	4 hr at room temperature	Yes	Yes	pH 3, 75 °C for 20 hr	No	3×	l hr	2×

Method D_{κ} , **Kiel-Leibniz Laboratory**: Demineralization of bone pieces 0.5 to 2 mm in size with 1% HCl at room temperature, keeping pH < 1, and then subsequent washes with Milli-QTM water (Millipore Corp.) until pH > 4. Then, an extraction was done for 1 hr at room temp with 1% NaOH, followed by washing with Milli-Q until pH < 9, and then again an extraction with 1% HCl for 1 hr at room temperature followed by a water rinse. The resulting extract is then hydrolyzed overnight at pH = 3 at 85 °C in a water bath. The gelatin solution is then filtered through a precleaned 0.45-µm silver filter. This laboratory normally does not use ultrafiltration because they are still investigating potential contamination by the filters.

Method Do: Oxford Laboratory: This method is described fully in Brock et al. (2007).

RESULTS

The stable isotope data (C:N, δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N, and %C and %N content) for mammoth and bison collagen is presented in Table 2 for all methods. We do not observe significant differences in these values between the different preparation methods and the parameters indicate well-preserved collagen (DeNiro 1985; Ambrose 1990).

Table 2 Atomic C:N ratio and stable isotope analysis of collagen from the mammoth (S-EVA 2000) and bison (S-EVA 2001) bones. The collagen was prepared according to methods A–C. For δ^{13} C, the standard is VPDB; for δ^{15} N, the standard used is IAEA N1 and N2. Typical analytical precision is 0.1‰ for δ^{13} C and 0.2‰ for δ^{15} N.

	Method	$\delta^{13}C(\%)$	$\delta^{15}N(\%)$	%C	%N	C:N
Mammoth 2000	А	-21.1	7.0	41.9	15.4	3.2
2000-XXII 2000 D	B C	-21.2 -21.4	6.8 6.8	39.4 44.2	13.9 16.2	3.3 3.2
Bison 2001 2001-XII 2001 C	A B C	-20.8 -20.5 -20.5	3.1 2.4 2.6	38.8 40.5 41.4	13.9 14.5 15.2	3.3 3.3 3.2

Dating results for the mammoth (S-EVA 2000) are given in Table 3a. The collagen prepared at the Max Planck Institute (MPI) by methods A–C was submitted to both Kiel and Oxford for dating. For methods A and C, separate preparations had to be made to obtain enough material for analysis. For Method B, collagen yields allowed us to split the same collagen sample to be sent to the different labs. The resulting mammoth ages from the different methods and different labs range between

446 S Talamo & M Richards

31,660 and 35,280 $^{14}\mathrm{C}$ BP with 1 σ errors between 200 and 510 yr. The youngest results are associated with Method A, while methods B and C tend to give older ages (Figure 1). Within each method, the results of methods A, B, and C agree within 1 σ between the AMS labs of Kiel and Oxford, but for Method D the results are statistically different. For these samples submitted as bone to the 2 $^{14}\mathrm{C}$ labs for pretreatment in their laboratories (methods D_K and D_O), the difference between the dates is 2620 yr and the results in the labs do not agree statistically with their respective results of Method C (Figure 1).

Table 3a ¹⁴C results of mammoth samples prepared using methods A to D. Missing values were not reported. The δ^{13} C reported is derived from the AMS sample combustion procedure. OxA-V indicates that the material was combusted and graphitized/dated in Oxford, but the chemical pretreatment of the bone was done at MPI.

							_	
S-EVA			% yield of	C content			Error	$\delta^{13}C$
mammoth	Method	Lab code	collagen	(%)	pMC	¹⁴ C age	$\pm 1 \ \sigma$	(‰)
2000	А	KIA-28337		46	1.94 ± 0.06	31,660	240	-21.2
2000	А	KIA-29434		45.5	1.90 ± 0.12	31,820	510	-22
2000	А	OxA-V-2166-47				31,910	200	-19.7
2000-XXII ^a	В	KIA-35978	3.3	48.8	1.59 ± 0.06	33,280	320	-19.1
2000-XXIIa ^a	В	OxA-V-2281-52	3.3	45.3	1.51 ± 0.05	33,670	200	-21.2
2000 XXIII	С	KIA-44753	4.2		1.53 ± 0.06	33,560	320	-23.7
2000 Da	С	OxA-UnK;54	9.4		1.50 ± 0.05	33,733	257	-19.2
2000 D a	С	MAMS-10399	9.4		1.27 ± 0.04	35,075	260	-23.3 ^b
2000 -	D _K ¢	KIA 29435		38.6	1.71 ± 0.07	32,660	350	-20.6
2000	Do	OxA-15908			1.24 ± 0.05	35,280	340	-20.5

^aSplit collagen. ^bδ¹³C AMS.

°No ultrafiltration step.



Figure 1⁻¹⁴C ages of mammoth bone obtained from methods A to D

Bone Pretreatment Methods for AMS Dating of Samples >30,000 BP 447

The bison bone (S-EVA 2001) 14 C ages range between 37,090 and >44,800 14 C BP with errors from 360 to 1630 yr (Table 3b). The results of Method B agree between the 2 AMS labs involved, but they are more than 2000 yr younger than the results of the other methods (except for Method D_K, which is the youngest of the results). The results of methods A and C agree statistically at the 2 σ level (Figure 2).

Table 3b ¹⁴C results of bison samples prepared using methods A to D. Missing values were not reported. The δ^{13} C reported is derived from the AMS sample combustion procedure. OxA-V indicates that the material was combusted and graphitized/dated in Oxford but the chemical pretreatment of the bone was done at MPI.

S-EVA			% yield of	C content			Error	$\delta^{13}C$
bison	Method	Lab code	collagen	(%)	pMC	¹⁴ C age	$\pm 1 \ \sigma$	(‰)
2001	А	KIA 28338		45.5	0.49 ± 0.05	42,660	790	-21.7
2001	А	KIA 29436		45.3	0.39 ± 0.09	44,480	1630	-20.4
2001	А	OxA-V-2166-48			0.28 ± 0.03	47,300	900	-19.3
2001-XIIª	В	KIA 35982	2.5	49.6	0.69 ± 0.05	40,200	640	-22.1
2001-XIIa ^a	В	OxA-V-2281-53	2.5	44.5	0.64 ± 0.03	40,630	360	-20.8
2001 XIII	С	KIA-44754	7.1		0.34 ± 0.05	45,740	1420	-21.3
2001 Ca	С	OxA-UnK;53	3.7		0.43 ± 0.03	43,674	450	-18
2001 C a	С	MAMS-10398	3.7		0.29 ± 0.04	47,000	1250	-21.6 ^b
2001	D _K ¢	KIA 29437		39.5	0.99 ± 0.07	37,090	570	-19.3
2001	D _o	OxA-15909				>44,800	_	-20.1

^aSplit collagen.

 ${}^{b}\delta^{13}C$ AMS.

°No ultrafiltration step.



Figure 2 14C ages of bison bone obtained from methods A to D

448 S Talamo & M Richards

As an additional test of possible contamination in the *graphitization* stage, we also sent the collagen prepared using what we believe is the most stringent preparation method, Method C, to a third AMS lab, Mannheim (lab code MAMS), to compare the results between the 3 labs. Surprisingly, the Mannheim lab for both the mammoth and bison samples had older ages than both Kiel and Oxford, for the same collagen extract. The combination of Method C preparation in our lab and then subsequent graphite production and AMS measurement in the Mannheim lab resulted in the same, or very similar, older ages as the bone samples prepared and measured entirely in the Oxford lab (Table 3a,b, Figures 1 and 2).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

To obtain reliable bone dates, good quality collagen is required, which can be confirmed through the measurement of the C:N ratio, yield, %C, and %N. As shown in Table 2, collagen from both of our samples is well preserved for all of the pretreatment methods. There was very little difference in the collagen isotope values and preservation criteria indicators between the 3 methods.

With the pretreatment methods we used, almost all of these criteria remained the same, with the exception of collagen yield. We observed a significant increase in yield when the decalcification in HCl was performed relatively quickly at room temperature (Method C) compared to Method A that required decalcification for several days at a constant temperature (5° C). For example, we obtained 50% more for the bison and up to 3 times more collagen for the mammoth.

The true ages of the 2 bone samples is unknown, but the influence of contamination at ages older than 30,000 yr BP is very asymmetric, with young contamination dominant relative to the original ¹⁴C content of an old sample, even at low percent levels of exogenous carbon, contrary to relatively small effect that the addition of ¹⁴C-free (dead) carbon has (Mook and Streurman 1981). We know that in the recent shipments of the filters the humectant is modern (Brock et al. 2007), so there is good reason to consider the oldest ages the real ones, and younger ages resulting from modern contamination. In a case when modern contamination is substantial in the collagen to be dated, one might even obtain the paradoxical result that the measured ages appear more homogeneous compared to the case when samples of very low ¹⁴C activity, without added contamination, are analyzed.

The age results indicate that the 2 bone samples need to be discussed separately. For the mammoth bone (Table 3a, Figure 1), the picture would be consistent if only the results of methods A to C for Oxford and Kiel are considered. They indicate incomplete removal of modern contamination in the collagen of Method A, and the lack of any measurable effect of the NaOH step, which is the main difference between methods B and C. But the results for Method D, where each of the labs are in full control of all procedures, are clearly incompatible, both among the 2 labs but also compared to the results of these labs with collagen of methods C and B. This was one of the reasons we then sent an aliquot of the collagen prepared in our lab using Method C to a third AMS lab (Mannheim), which resulted in an age identical to the older ages of Oxford with Method D.

We must conclude that either the ages of Oxford (D_o) and Mannheim (C) are true or the 4 results younger by about 1500 yr are the correct ones. As explained above, a shift to older ages compared to the true age is much less probable than the opposite effect of modern contamination. We therefore conclude that the true age of the mammoth is most likely around 35,000 ¹⁴C BP, and the younger ages as being caused by modern contamination in the AMS labs, e.g. during graphitization.

The bison sample is older than the mammoth; therefore, we expect the effects of contamination to be more severe for this bone (Table 3b, Figure 2). Again, methods C and D_O show the oldest ages,

Bone Pretreatment Methods for AMS Dating of Samples > 30,000 BP 449

but Method A has 2 similarly old results as well. An explanation could be that the filters may contain a variable amount of humectant, which might have been removed by the basic cleaning used in Method A. If this is the case, then this means that regular checks on the cleaning efficiency of the ultrafilters are necessary and this is part of methods C and B. The latter method does not include the NaOH step to remove humics; therefore, for bones of this antiquity, contamination by humics could alter the ¹⁴C age, and thus, the NaOH step becomes important.

When samples are close to the lower age limit of ¹⁴C dating, the low ¹⁴C activity level and difficulty of obtaining sufficient and well-preserved collagen means that bone is an especially problematic material to accurately date. In this study, as in earlier exercises (Higham et al. 2006; Hajdas et al. 2007; Hüls et al. 2007), we observed that by using elaborate pretreatment procedures that eliminate both modern laboratory contamination and contamination from degenerated proteins and humic acids we were able to obtain older ages. We still observe discrepancies between the results of different AMS labs, highlighting the many challenges of ¹⁴C dating at very low ¹⁴C activity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Piet Grootes, Thomas Higham, Matthias Hüls, Bernd Kromer, Marie-Josée Nadeau, and Lukas Wacker for providing the AMS dates as well as their advice and expertise. We are especially grateful to Nancy Beavan and an anonymous reviewer for their careful reviews, which improved the manuscript considerably.

REFERENCES

- Ambrose SH. 1990. Preparation and characterization of bone and tooth collagen for isotopic analysis. *Journal* of Archaeological Science 17(4):431–51.
- Brock F, Bronk Ramsey C, Higham T. 2007. Quality assurance of ultrafiltered bone dating. *Radiocarbon* 49(2):187–92.
- Bronk Ramsey C, Pettitt PB, Hedges REM, Hodgins GWL, Owen DC. 2000. Radiocarbon dates from the Oxford AMS system: Archaeometry datelist 30. Archaeometry 42(2):459–79.
- Bronk Ramsey C, Higham T, Bowles A, Hedges R. 2004. Improvements to the pretreatment of bone at Oxford. *Radiocarbon* 46(1):155–63.
- Brown TA, Nelson DE, Vogel JS, Southon JR. 1988. Improved collagen extraction by modified Longin method. *Radiocarbon* 30(2):171–7.
- DeNiro MJ. 1985. Postmortem preservation and alteration of *in vivo* bone collagen isotope ratios in relation to palaeodietary reconstruction. *Nature* 317(6040): 806–9.

Radiocarbon chronology of the mammoth site at Niederweningen, Switzerland: results from dating bones, teeth, wood, and peat. *Quaternary International* 164–165:98–105.

- Higham TFG, Jacobi RM, Bronk Ramsey C. 2006. AMS radiocarbon dating of ancient bone using ultrafiltration. *Radiocarbon* 48(2):179–95.
- Hüls MC, Grootes PM, Nadeau M-J. 2007. How clean is ultrafiltration cleaning of bone collagen? *Radiocarbon* 49(2):193–200.
- Longin R. 1971. New method of collagen extraction for radiocarbon dating. *Nature* 230(5291):241–2.
- Mook WG, Streurman HJ. 1981. Physical and chemical aspects of radiocarbon dating. In: Mook WG, Streurman HJ, editors. Proceedings of the First International Symposium "¹⁴C and Archaeology." PACT 8:31–55.
- Van Klinken GJ, Bowles AD, Hedges REM. 1994. Radiocarbon dating of peptides isolated from contaminated fossil bone collagen by collagenase digestion and reversed-phase chromatography. *Geochimica et Cosnochimica Acta* 58(11):2543–51.

Hajdas I, Bonani G, Furrer H, Mäder A, Schoch W. 2007.
7. A Radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Paleolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France)

Paper published in JAS

Authors: Sahra Talamo, Marie Soressi, Morgan Roussel, Mike Richards, Jean-Jeacque Hublin

Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175-183



Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/jas

SCIENCE

A radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France)

Sahra Talamo^{a,*}, Marie Soressi^{a,b,c}, Morgan Roussel^{a,c}, Mike Richards^{a,d}, Jean-Jacques Hublin^a

^a Department of Human Evolution, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Deutscher Platz 6, D-04103 Leipzig, Germany ^b Institut national de recherches archéologiques préventives, Centre Archéologique d'Orléans 525, avenue de la Pomme-de-Pin, 45590 Saint-Cyr-en-Val, France ^c UMR 7041 CNRS, ArScAn, AnTET, 21 allée de l'Université, 92023 Nanterre Cedex, France ^d Department of Anthropology, University of British Columbia, 6303 NW Marine Drive, Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T 1Z1

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received 16 June 2011 Received in revised form 20 September 2011 Accepted 21 September 2011

Keywords: Radiocarbon dating Middle-Upper Palaeolithic transition

ABSTRACT

The Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition is the key period for our understanding of Neanderthal and modern human interactions in Europe. The site of Les Cottés in south-west France is one of the rare sites with a complete and well defined sequence covering this transition period. We undertook an extensive radiocarbon dating program on mammal bone which allows us to propose a chronological framework of five distinct phases dating from the Mousterian to the Early Aurignacian at this site. We found that the Mousterian and Châtelperronian industries are separated from the overlying Protoaurignacian by a gap of approximately 1000 calendar years. Based on a comparison with Upper Paleolithic sites in Europe we see an overlap in the ages of Châtelperronian industries and Aurignacian lithic assemblages, which are usually associated with Anatomical Modern Humans, which is consistent with an acculturation at distance model for these late Neanderthals. The Proto and Early Aurignacian appear contemporaneous indicating that this transition was rapid in this region. Anatomically Modern Humans are present at the site of Les Cottés at least at 39,500 cal BP roughly coincident with the onset of the cold phase Heinrich 4. © 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The nature of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition (MUP) in Western Europe is one of the key ongoing debates in Palaeoanthropology, and it is an area where accurate chronology is essential. Central to this debate is the biological nature of the makers of the different lithic assemblages (Neanderthals and modern humans), and contradictory models have been proposed to explain the cultural evolution of these hominins (Hublin et al., 1996). Although two sites have yielded Neanderthal remains in association with Châtelperronian lithics (Bailey and Hublin, 2006; Lévêque and Vandermeersch, 1980), this association has been recently challenged (Bar-Yosef and Bordes, 2010; Higham et al., 2010). Similarly, although the assignment of later Aurignacian assemblages to modern humans is generally widely accepted (Bailey et al., 2009; Klein, 1999), doubts have been raised about the biological identity of the makers of the earliest phases of this industry (Conard et al., 2004). It is, however, generally accepted

that the "Protoaurignacian" is the initial stage of the Aurignacian in Europe (Bon, 2006; Laplace, 1966; Mellars, 2006). Bon (2006) recently changed the perception of the Middle to Upper Paleolithic transition in Europe by identifying, based on detailed technological analysis, two techno-complexes within the first phase of the Aurignacian, the Protoaurignacian, and Early Aurignacian.

Sites which have a complete sequence covering this period and have been excavated using modern excavation techniques are few. The site of Les Cottés is one of these rare sites where each of the cultural phases occur in the stratigraphy: Mousterian, Châtelperronian, Protoaurignacian and Early Aurignacian, hence the complete sequence of industries have been identified and recently analyzed. Due to several sterile layers between these phases we cannot consider the site of Les Cottés a continuous site across time but a well preserved site with a clear and complete sequence during the period of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition (Soressi et al., 2010).

Refinement of AMS 14C bone dating methods, including ultrafiltration, a new calibration curve (IntCal09, (Reimer et al., 2009)) and advanced calibration programs (OxCal 4.1, (Bronk Ramsey, 2009)) allow us to apply radiocarbon dating to bones from late Middle and Upper Palaeolithic sites in Europe to provide more accurate chronologies for these industries. We, therefore, obtained

^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: sahra.talamo@eva.mpg.de (S. Talamo), marie.soressi@inrap.fr (M. Soressi).

^{0305-4403/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jas.2011.09.019

176

S. Talamo et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175-183

a series of radiocarbon dates on bone from the main stratigraphic units at Les Cottés.

2. Overview of Les Cottés

Les Cottés is a cave located at the southwestern margins of the Parisian basin, close to the Aquitaine basin (Fig. 1). The site is on the northern limit of the known distribution of the Châtelperronian industry (Pelegrin and Soressi, 2007). Les Cottés was discovered at the end of the nineteenth century, and during the first excavation led by Rochebrune (1881a,b), anatomically modern human remains were found in an Aurignacian layer at the entrance of the cave. Pradel (1961) later defined a sequence of Mousterian, Châtelperronian, Early Aurignacian and Gravettian layers at the site. Les Cottés is best known for its well preserved Aurignacian industry with split-based points and as the type site for "Les Cottés point" lithics from the so-called "evolved" variant of the Châtelperronian (Pradel, 1963). During Pradel's research, conventional radiocarbon dates were obtained on teeth and bone from the site (Evin et al., 1985; Pradel, 1967; Vogel and Waterbolk, 1967). However, the teeth and bone used for dating had been coated in a turpentine solution saturated with beeswax which likely influenced the obtained ages (Evin et al., 1985; Vogel and Waterbolk, 1967) which are listed in Table 1.

In 2006, a new excavation program was started at this site using a multidisciplinary approach including micromorphological, taphonomic, faunal and lithic studies, and dating by OSL, which is in progress, and radiocarbon dating (Soressi et al., 2010).

2.1. Stratigraphy and cultural sequence

The 2006–2009 excavation focused on the 13 m long contiguous section (north, east and south sections) left by Pradel in the 1950s from his original approximately 20 m^2 excavation area (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Map of Les Cottés and of Châtelperronian as well as Protoaurignacian sites in France and north of Spain (map drawn by Soressi and Roussel).

Table 1 Radiometric ¹⁴C ages of Les Cottés obtained between 1965 and 1985 (Evin et al., 1985; Pradel, 1967; Vogel and Waterbolk, 1967).

Culture facies	Lab code	¹⁴ C Age	Err
Gravettian	Ly-2752	23,420	710
Early Aurignacian	Grn-4258	30,800	500
Early Aurignacian	Grn-4296	31,000	320
Early Aurignacian	Grn-4509 teeth	31,200	410
Châtelperronian	Grn-4510	31,900	430
Châtelperronian	Grn-4333 teeth	33,300	500
Mousterian Quina	Grn-4334	32,300	400
Mousterian Quina	Grn-4421	37,600	700

The excavation extended down to the Mousterian levels (Unit 08). The sequence had been preserved by small blocks and gravels fallen from the limestone walls in a clayish sand matrix transported by run-off during the formation of the more recent unit (Unit 02) (Texier, in Soressi et al., 2010), and by run-off but also probably debris-flow for unit 04 and 06 (Liard, unpublished data). The Châtelperronian (Unit 06) is separated from the preceding Mousterian by a 12–15 cm sterile unit. The Protoaurignacian (Unit 04 lower) is separated from the Châtelperronian by a sterile deposit of up to 12 cm in thickness. A small sterile level separates the Protoaurignacian from the overlying Early Aurignacian (Unit 04 upper) in squares 4 and 5 on the north section, although the two stratigraphic units come into contact in the south section. Unit 02 is separated from Unit 04 upper by Unit 03 which is a low density layer.

The formation processes of the sterile layers are, for now, not understood, and will be the focus of future investigations. Flint artefacts show no patination and there are no lithics with natural edge damage except for a few pieces from the Châtelperronian (Soressi et al., 2010). Site formation processes certainly modified the spatial organization of artifacts, but each unit can be considered to be homogenous because of the combination of three types of observations: sterile layers occur between these units, the flint artifacts at the site are well preserved, and the composition of each unit is different.

2.2. Cultural sequence

The large sample size of 3-D plotted artifacts (n = 13,296) allowed us to determine a precise chrono-cultural attribution for each layer. The specific type of Mousterian present in Unit 08 cannot yet be precisely determined as the number of artifacts is small (n = 350: among which only one third are larger than 3 cm, Table 2). In Pradel's publications this Mousterian assemblage has been characterized as a "Moustérien sans biface" even if though one biface was recovered during the excavation in the 1950's (Pradel, 1961). This layer has also been characterized as a Quina Mousterian, even if the reasons for making this attribution was not clearly explained but is likely due to the high proportion of scrapers (Lévêque, 1993). Further work at the site will allow us to increase our sample of Mousterian.

Châtelperronian retouched tools are mostly backed pieces ("Châtelperron" points as well as "Les Cottés" points). Backed pieces represent 36% of the 83 retouched tools from Unit 06. Blades with a continuous marginally retouch are also well represented (17% of the 83 retouched tools). The production (2273 numbered lithics, Table 2) is orientated towards the production of rectilinear blades. Among the 23 Châtelperronian cores, none of them show an organized flake production and instead they all show blade production characteristic of the Châtelperronian (Connet, 2002;



Fig. 2. Top pane: distribution of all archaeological finds on a plan view of numbered lithics and bones. Cultural phases are indicated by color (see legend). Bottom pane: section view of excavation, samples selected are marked in red. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Pelegrin, 1995). Blades are unipolarly removed by sequential series, on both narrow and wide surfaces (Roussel, 2011).

The Châtelperronian blade cores show a triangular or a rectangular section which is different from the hemi-conical section of Aurignacian cores (Roussel, 2011). The definition of "evolved" Châtelperronian proposed by Pradel (Pradel, 1961, 1963) for this layer cannot for now be accepted or rejected. Comparison with other Châtelperronian layers preserved in a same stratigraphical sequence, such as Quinçay (46 km West of Les Cottés) (Roussel, 2011; Roussel and Soressi, 2010) would help to better evaluate this chrono-cultural attribution.

The Protoaurignacian (Unit 04 lower) lithic production (6466 numbered lithics, Table 2) was aimed towards the production of slightly curved and large bladelets. Bladelet cores (62% of 47 cores) are more numerous than blade cores (32% of 47 cores), which were used to produce a few blades only. Bladelet cores are made out of flakes or out of blocks; bladelet cores are of prismatic or pyramidal morphology. The size of the bladelet cores as well as the absence of blade scars on them may indicate that these bladelet cores are not reduced blade cores (Bon, 2002). Independent bladelet production has been described in the Protoaurignacian of the Grotte du Renne, level VII (Bon and Bodu, 2002), of Isturiz, level C4dIII (Normand, 2006) of l'Observatoire (Porraz et al., 2010,) and of Mandrin (Slimak et al., 2006). Retouched tools are mainly retouched

Table 2

Cultural attribution of the different stratigraphical units (major units are in bold font).

Units	Cultural attribution	Numbered lithics 2006-2009
01	non applicable (n.a.)	45
02	Final Early Aurignacian	1183
03 top	na	2
03 bottom	Early Aurignacian	116
04upper	Early Aurignacian	2840
04lower	Protoaurignacian	6466
05	na	15
06	Châtelperronian	2273
07	na	6
08	Mousterian	350

bladelets which are almost always Dufour sub-type Dufour (44% of the 195 retouched tools). These characteristics are typical of the Protoaurignacian from France, Spain and Italy (Arrizabalaga and Altuna, 2000; Bartolomei et al., 1994; Bazile, 2006; Bon and Bodu, 2002; Bordes, 2006; Kuhn and Stiner, 1998; Laplace, 1966; Onoratini, 1986; Slimak et al., 2006).

Bladelets from the Early Aurignacian (Unit 04 upper) are not morphologically different from the Protoaurignacian, although they are retouched much less often. Bladelets are mostly produced from large carinated endscrapers or from "rabots". Blades from Unit 04 upper are wider, thicker and also more robust (in the width to thickness ratio) than in Unit 04 lower. Retouched tools (n = 112) are mostly retouched blades, among which one in five is a blade with Aurignacian retouch. Blades with Aurignacian retouch do not exist in the Unit 04 lower. Simple endscrapers account for 25% of the retouched tools, while they are less numerous in the Protoaurignacian, Unit 04lower (8%). Also, retouched bladelets are much less numerous (13%) than in the Protoaurignacian where they composed 47% of the 195 retouched tools. These features are characteristic of the classic Early Aurignacian (Bon, 2002; Sonneville-Bordes, 1960).

The final assemblage (Unit 02) preserved at the top of the sequence is currently attributed to a final Early Aurignacian. Unit 02 bladelets are smaller than in older levels, most of the time they are curved, and they are never retouched including bladelets found in the systematically sorted 2 mm screen. These small bladelets could have been produced from carinated endscrapers, which are rare, but present, in this layer. Blades are wider than in the oldest levels, and some of them are intentionally fractured. Simple endscrapers are the more numerous retouched tools in this final level (49% of 35 retouched tools).

2.3. Faunal remains

Faunal remains (3337 bigger than 2.5 cm) are relatively well preserved and rounding and weathering is infrequent (Rendu, in Soressi et al., 2010). Reindeer is the most abundant species (it counts for up to 96% of the 716 identified bones in Unit 02) except

178

S. Talamo et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175-183

Table 3

Isotopic data, %Collagen, %C and %N and C:N for the samples taken during the 2007 and 2008 field campaigns. Radiocarbon results of Les Cottés: CPh = Culture phases, EA = Early Aurignacian, PA = Protoaurignacian, C = Châtelperronian and M = Mousterian.

S-EVA	US	Square Nr	CPh	%Coll.	δ ¹³ C	δ ¹⁵ N	%C	%N	C:N	EVA Code	¹⁴ C Age Graphite MPI dated at ORAU	lo Err	MAMS Code	¹⁴ C Age Collagen MAMS	1σ Err	OxA Code	¹⁴ C Age Collagen OxA	lo Err
9717	02.1	T6-61	EA	0.8	-19.6	7.4	35.2	12.7	3.2							0xA-V-2381-46	31,750	280
9718	02.1	Z3-3	EA	2.5	-19.3	8.6	40.6	13.6	3.5	EVA-2	32,150	160	MAMS-10810	31,470	180	0xA-V-2381-47	31,640	260
^a 9719	02.1	Y6-321	EA	2.3	-19.2	8.2	43.2	14.5	3.5	EVA-3	32,530	170	MAMS-10811	32,940	220	OxA-V-2381-48	32,590	280
^a 9706	04	A3-218	EA	1.4	-20.2	7.2	42.2	14.3	3.4	EVA-9	34,330	210				0xA-V-2381-44	34,050	350
9711	04.0r	T7-109	EA	1.6	-19.2	7.4	40.3	14.6	3.2	EVA-8	33,050	250	MAMS-10807	33,240	230	OxA-V-2384-10	33,340	390
9709	04.1r	W7-206	EA	3.1	-20.5	7.5	42.2	14.4	3.4	EVA-10	34,350	190	MAMS-10805	35,160	280	OxA-V-2381-45	34,650	340
^a 9720	04.2r	R4-271	EA	1.5	-19.0	6.8	44.0	14.6	3.5	EVA-22	33,750	250	MAMS-10812	33,960	280	0xA-V-2381-49	33,920	320
9713	04.4b	S6-363	PA	2.9	-19.7	5.2	33.6	11.4	3.4				MAMS-10808	35,150	280			
^a 13671	04.4	Y5-1083	PA	1.6	-19.1	4.5	39.2	14.2	3.2				MAMS-10826	33,710	230			
^a 13672	04.9	Y6-1681	PA	1.3	-19.6	7.7	38.8	14.1	3.2				MAMS-10827	34,080	250			
^a 13663	04,6	Y5-1225	PA	0.7	-19.6	7.1	36.9	13.4	3.2				MAMS-10814	33,080	230			
^a 13665	04.5	S6-557	PA	2.2	-19.2	8.5	38.9	14.1	3.2	EVA-7	34,380	210	MAMS-10816	35,250	280	OxA-V-2381-52	34,220	400
	BJ																	
°13669	04.5	R5-785	PA	2.7	-19.3	6.4	38.7	14.1	3.2	EVA-14	34,250	220				0xA-V-2382-47	34,870	340
	BJ																	
9695	06 rc	Z4-1258	С	3.4	-20.4	5.3	45.9	15.6	3.4				MAMS-10803	38,540	270			
a13662	06	Y6-979	С	1.7	-20.4	5.3	37.5	13.7	3.2	EVA-21	41,280	340				OxA-V-2381-50	40,280	650
°13664	06	Y5-2785	C	1	-18.9	6.8	37.4	13.6	3.2	EVA-5	42,410	400				0xA-V-2381-51	42,090	900
*13666	06	X6-205	C	2.1	-19.1	4.2	41.9	15.2	3.2	EVA-11	36,180	240				0xA-V-2381-53	36,410	450
°13667	06	Z4-3286	C	1.9	-21.6	6.3	38.3	14.0	3.2	EVA-12	36,720	320	MAMS-10823	38,430	420	0xA-V-2382-45	37,400	500
13668	06	Z4-3368	C	3.3	-19.9	5.2	42.7	15.6	3.2	EVA-13	38,150	290	MAMS-10824	38,210	420	0xA-V-2382-46	37,850	450
°13673	08	Y4-625	M	1	-20.2	7.9	20.7	7.5	3.2	EVA-15	34300	350				UXA-V-2384-11	39,760	1600
°136/4	08	Y5-15/5	M	1	-20.1	4.8	24.7	9.0	3.2	EVA-16	34,390	250		10.000		UXA-V-2384-12	35,330	900
°13675	08	Z3-362	M	3.4	-19.8	7.6	39.6	14.4	3.2	EVA-17	41,730	330	MAMS-10828	40,800	530	UXA-V-2382-48	42,870	750
°13676	08	Y5-1654	M	3.6	-20.1	4.9	41.6	15.2	3.2	EVA-18	42,200	350	MAMS-10829	41,780	600	UXA-V-2382-49	42,690	750
-13677	08	23-356	M	0.8	-20.4	1.1	43.1	15.7	3.2	EVA-19	38,650	260	MAMS-10830	40,710	510	UXA-V-2382-50	40,280	550
-13678 ataczo	08.10	Z3-289	M	3.8 2.2	-20.3	6.8 77	40.7	14.8	3.2				MAMS-10831	38,970	440			
-136/9 ataceo	08.10	14-311	IVI	3.2	-19.5	1.1	39.0	14.1	3.2	FVA 20	27.040	270	MANIS-10832	39,390	4/0	0.4 1/ 2204 12	20.070	000
-13680	08.IC	Z3-308	M	1	-18.4	6.8	34.9	12.6	3.2	EVA-20	37,640	270				UXA-V-2384-13	38,970	900

^a bone with cut marks.

^b retouchoir.

^c digested bone.

^d carnivore bite marks.

for in the Mousterian levels, where bovids are more abundant than reindeer (Soressi et al., 2010). In the Mousterian layer (Unit 08), 15.5% of the 220 numbered bones were modified by carnivores, and about an other 17% show evidence of human activity, suggesting the contribution of two different accumulators. Although the human impact on the material increase significantly with the Châtelperronian (24% of Unit 06 bones show human impact), the carnivore ratio stays the same as with the Mousterian. Carnivore action almost disappear with the Protoaurignacian and the Early Aurignacian. Less than 2% of the total number of bone show evidence of carnivore action in Unit 04 lower, Unit 04 upper and Unit 02. Within these top layers, up to 31% of bones show human modifications (Rendu, unpublished data).

3. Radiocarbon dating

3.1. Samples selection and pretreatment

At Les Cottés we selected bone samples for dating from all of the layers excavated during the 2007 and 2008 seasons (Fig. 2 and Table 3). To date the human presence in a site it is important to select bones which document human activity (Higham et al., 2011) and at the same time it is important to find out if processes like intrusion, mixing, taphonomic reworking, cryoturbation, bio-turbation occurred. In the case of Les Cottés we selected 27 mammal bones, 15 with cut marks, one retouchoir, 6 without any marks and 5 which document the presence of carnivores.

Bone samples were pretreated at the Department of Human Evolution, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology (MPI-EVA), Leipzig, Germany, using the following method (Talamo and Richards, 2011): the outer surface of the bone samples are first cleaned by a shot blaster and then 500 mg of bone powder is taken. The samples are then decalcified in 0.5 M HCl at room temperature until no CO₂ effervescence is observed, usually for about 4 h 0.1 M NaOH is added for 30 min to remove humics. The NaOH step is followed by a final 0.5 M HCl step for 15 min. The resulting solid is gelatinized following Longin (1971) at pH3 in a heater block at 75 °C for 20 h. The gelatin is then filtered in an Eeze-FilterTM (Elkay Laboratory Products (UK) Ltd.) to remove small (<8 µm) particles. The gelatin is then ultrafiltered with Sartorius "Vivaspin 15" 30 kDa ultrafilters (Brown et al., 1988). Prior to use the filter is cleaned to remove carbon containing humectants (Higham et al., 2006). The samples are lyophilized for 48 h.

In the past we sometimes observed discordant results for test samples in the Middle and Upper Palaeolithic time ranges between different AMS labs (Talamo and Richards, 2011). We therefore designed an extended dating procedure. Samples which gave sufficient collagen were separated into three aliquots; one was then sent to the Klaus-Tschira-AMS facility of the Curt-Engelhorn Centre, Mannheim, Germany, one was sent to the Oxford Radiocarbon Accelerator Unit (ORAU) and the last one was graphitized at the MPI-EVA and the graphite was dated at the ORAU. Samples with low amounts of collagen were sent to one of these two AMS labs. The crucial step is the collagen preparation, hence the replication of dates provided by the choice of two AMS facilities does not provide checks on the bone pretreatment itself, but instead provides a check on the dates produces by the different laboratories, and also improves the precision of the radiocarbon ages.

S. Talamo et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175-183

1	7	0	
1	1	э.	

S-EVA	SquareNr	CPh	EVA Code	MAMS Code	OxA Code	Weighted Mean	10 Err
9717	T6-61	EA			0xA-V-2381-46	31,750	280
9718	Z3-3	EA	EVA-2	MAMS-10810	OxA-V-2381-47	31,810	^a 250
9719	Y6-321	EA	EVA-3	MAMS-10811	OxA-V-2381-48	32,670	120
9706	A3-218	EA	EVA-9		OxA-V-2381-44	34,260	180
9711	T7-109	EA	EVA-8	MAMS-10807	OxA-V-2384-10	33,180	160
9709	W7-206	EA	EVA-10	MAMS-10805	OxA-V-2381-45	34,610	140
9720	R4-271	EA	EVA-22	MAMS-10812	OxA-V-2381-49	33,860	160
9713	S6-363	EA		MAMS-10808		35,150	280
13671	Y5-1083	PA		MAMS-10826		33,710	230
13672	Y6-1681	PA		MAMS-10827		34,080	250
13663	Y5-1225	PA		MAMS-10814		33,080	230
13665	S6-557	PA	EVA-7	MAMS-10816	OxA-V-2381-52	34,620	^a 390
13669	R5-785	PA	EVA-14		OxA-V-2382-47	34,430	180
9695	Z4-1258	С		MAMS-10803		38,540	270
13662	Y6-979	С	EVA-21		OxA-V-2381-50	41,070	300
13664	Y5-2785	С	EVA-5		OxA-V-2381-51	42,360	370
13666	X6-205	С	EVA-11		OxA-V-2381-53	36,230	210
13667	Z4-3286	С	EVA-12	MAMS-10823	OxA-V-2382-45	37,360	^a 610
13668	Z4-3368	С	EVA-13	MAMS-10824	OxA-V-2382-46	38,100	210
13673	Y4-625	М	EVA-15		OxA-V-2384-11	39,760	1600
13674	Y5-1575	M	EVA-16		OxA-V-2384-12	34,460	240
13675	Z3-362	M	EVA-17	MAMS-10828	OxA-V-2382-48	41,640	260
13676	Y5-1654	М	EVA-18	MAMS-10829	OxA-V-2382-49	42,180	280
13677	Z3-356	М	EVA-19	MAMS-10830	OxA-V-2382-50	39,260	^a 770
13678	Z3-289	М		MAMS-10831		38,970	440
13679	Y4-311	М		MAMS-10832		39,390	470
13680	Z3-308	М	EVA-20		OxA-V-2384-13	37,750	260

CPh = Culture phases EA = Early Aurignacian; PA = Protoaurignacian; CP = Châtelperronian; M = Mousterian.^a standard deviation of the aliquot.

3.2. Collagen quality control

Table 4

As an indicator of contamination and/or degradation of collagen, C:N ratios, %C, %N, collagen yield and δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values are measured (Ambrose, 1990; DeNiro, 1985; Harbeck and Grupe, 2009; Hedges, 2002; Schoeninger et al., 1989; Strydonck et al., 2004, van Klinken, 1999), and it is assumed that contamination has occurred when the atomic C:N ratio falls outside the range observed for modern animals and humans (2.9–3.6). $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ values in bone collagen depend on diet and can be used to distinguish herbivores from carnivores and marine and terrestrial diets. The full range of these parameters needs to be considered to decide if collagen extracted from bone is of sufficient quality (Lee-Thorp, 2008; Richards and Hedges, 1999, 2003; Richards et al., 2005, 2000, 2008). Another simple but important criterion is the quantity of collagen that can be recovered. Usually a limit of 1% weight is considered as a necessary minimum condition (Hedges and Van Klinken, 1992), and samples of lower yield are potentially problematic, although the use of an ultrafilter to extract high quality collagen means that this lower limit is not necessarily valid for ultrafiltered samples (Brock et al., 2007; Higham et al., 2006). For Les Cottés the isotopic results, C:N ratios and collagen yields are given in Table 3. The C:N ratios of all samples are well within acceptable ranges, and the collagen yield is mostly above 1%.

4. Results

4.1. ¹⁴C results

The radiocarbon results from the Mannheim AMS laboratory (Lab code: MAMS), the Oxford laboratory (Lab code: OxA-V) and the MPI-EVA laboratory (Lab code: EVA) are listed in Table 3. All dates were corrected for a residual preparation background estimated from pretreated $^{14}\mathrm{C}$ free bone samples, kindly provided by the

ORAU. Radiocarbon dates are available for all layers, from the Aurignacian to the Mousterian.

For the majority of the samples we have results on aliquots from two AMS facilities (Oxford and Mannheim) and for two stages of the preparation (collagen and graphite). Hence we can perform consistency checks on these three types of results, using the R_Combine function of OxCal (Bronk Ramsey, 2009). Of 18 pairs or triplets, 14 pass the agreement test, and the four results flagged as outliers do not show a systematic pattern according to lab or sample type. Therefore we combine the radiocarbon results of each sample using the weighted mean of AMS labs and type and the error of the mean, except for the four flagged samples where the error is the scaled standard deviation of the ¹⁴C results (Table 4, Fig. 3).

The uncalibrated radiocarbon dates of all Aurignacian layers range from 31,750 to 35,150 radiocarbon years BP. The Early Aurignacian (US 04 upper) and Protoaurignacian (US04 lower) units cannot be separated in age by radiocarbon dating. Six dates come from the Châtelperronian layer and these range from 36,230 to 42,360 radiocarbon years BP. The Mousterian samples are surprisingly well preserved, with collagen yields of up to 7%. The ¹⁴C dates range from 34,460 to 42,180 radiocarbon years BP.

Generally the radiocarbon results of each stratigraphic unit agree with their stratigraphic position, but some samples are observed with ages apparently inconsistent with their stratigraphic location. The obvious case is between Mousterian and Châ-telperronian, with one extremely young Mousterian date (S-EVA13674, ¹⁴C Age 34,460 \pm 240 BP) and two Châtelperronian dates (S-EVA13662, ¹⁴C Age 34,460 \pm 240 BP) and two Châtelperronian dates (S-EVA13662, ¹⁴C Age 41,070 \pm 300 BP; S-EVA13664, ¹⁴C Age 42,360 \pm 370 BP) which would be considered of Mousterian age. At the present stage of the excavation potential causes of this overlap cannot be determined; vertical mixing appears improbable because of the presence of a sterile layer (US07) between these two phases. These dates cannot be explained at present time and are considered outliers. They are reported here for completeness, but are excluded

S. Talamo et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175–183



Fig. 3. Radiocarbon ages of the weighted means of Les Cottés. The dates are arranged according to the archaeological layer; within each layer they are sorted by depth. The bars indicate 1σ error. The asterisks indicate the outliers for the Bayesian analysis.

from the subsequent discussion. More samples are expected from future excavation in the northern part of this area.

Compared to the earlier radiometric ¹⁴C dates (Table 1), our results, older by 500–5000 radiocarbon years (Table 4, Fig. 3), demonstrate the importance of the advanced pretreatment techniques of bone, made possible by the low amount of carbon required for AMS and ultrafiltration. Moreover, the design of the study with age determination of sample aliquots by two independent AMS facilities allows additional checks of the credibility of the dating.

4.2. Calibrated results

Radiocarbon calibration for dates older than 25,000 years BP was controversial until recently. In 2009 radiocarbon calibration saw substantial progress through the publication of the calibration curve IntCal09 (Reimer et al., 2009). Earlier discrepancies between various ¹⁴C datasets were largely resolved; especially the apparent ¹⁴C excursions between 30,000 and 40,000 ¹⁴C BP were shown not to be real. Consequently, the IntCal working group constructed a new calibration curve back to 50,000 cal BP (Reimer et al., 2009).

The weighted means of the radiocarbon dates we produced (Fig. 3) were calibrated using OxCal 4.1 (Bronk Ramsey, 2009) and IntCal09 (Reimer et al., 2009). Within each layer the dates are arranged according to the stratigraphic level. Bayesian analysis, which is a powerful tool to detect outliers in stratified datasets, was used to build a model which includes a sequence of 5 sequential (non-overlapping) phases. Mainly due to the temporal overlap between the dates of the distinct layers (Fig. 3), OxCal finds no agreement between the full set of dates and stratigraphy. However, we obtained an agreement of 82% (A_overall = 60% indicates good agreement) if 8 dates, marked by asterisks in Fig. 3 (S-EVA13674¹⁴C age 34,460 ± 240 BP and S-EVA13680¹⁴C age 37,750 ± 260 BP from Mousterian levels, S-EVA13661¹⁴C age 42,360 ± 370 BP from Châtelperronian levels, S-EVA13664¹⁴C age 33,710 ± 230 BP and S-EVA13663¹⁴C age

33,080 \pm 230 BP from the Protoaurignacian US 04 lower level, and S-EVA9706 14 C age 34,260 \pm 180 BP and S-EVA9709 14 C age 34,610 \pm 140 BP from the Early Aurignacian US 04 upper level), were removed from the dataset (Fig. 4). There is no clear indication as to the reason of the removal of a sample, e.g. cut marks, % of collagen, isotope ratios or faunal distinction. It is difficult to accept mixing as explanation because as discussed above all sequences are clearly separated in the excavation, and there are even sterile layers between them.

5. Discussion

The Châtelperronian and the Protoaurignacian (US 04 lower) are separated by a gap of about 1000 calendar years, calculated from the difference in the respective boundaries in the OxCal model.

The interpretation of the Châtelperronian as resulting from an acculturation at a distance of late Neanderthals who observed modern human Aurignacian technology (Hublin et al., 1996) clearly depends on the temporal relation between the Châtelperronian and Aurignacian. At Les Cottés the two phases are well separated but a comparison shows that the Châtelperronian of Les Cottés is contemporaneous to the Aurignacian (Proto and Early) of other sites in Europe (Haesaerts et al., 1996; Higham et al., 2009; Hoffecker et al., 2008; Nigst et al., 2008; Sirakov et al., 2007; Szmidt et al., 2010). Potentially the most important site in the region is the Grotte du Renne at Arcy-sur-Cure, which has a complete but shorter sequence and which is almost (there is no Early Aurignacian at Arcy-sur-Cure) analogous to Les Cottés, but a recent re-assessment showed doubts about the validity of the stratigraphy (Higham et al., 2010).

Reconsidering the full dataset of ¹⁴C ages between Protoaurignacian US 04 lower and Early Aurignacian US 04 upper (Fig. 3), in which 6 out of 10 dates overlap, indicating that one tradition very quickly replaced the other in this region.

At the top of the sequence at Les Cottés the final Early Aurignacian US 02 is distinctly different from the underlying phases,

180

S.	Talamo	et al.	. / Journa	l of A	rchaeologica	I Science	39	(2012)	175-	-183
----	--------	--------	------------	--------	--------------	-----------	----	--------	------	------

Cal v4.1.7 B	ronk Ramsey (2010); r.5 Atmospheric data from R	leimer et al (2009):				
End	Early Aurignacian (1503	Boundany				\vdash
C		boundary				
S-I	EVA 9717 R_Date(31750	,280)		<u> </u>		
S-I	VA 9718 R_Date(31810	,250)			-	
S-I	VA 9719 R_Date(32670),120) CM				
Early	Aurignacian US02 Phase					
Star	Early Aurignacian US0.	2 Boundary				
End	Early Aurignacian US04	Upper Boundary				
S-I	VA 9711 R_Date(33180	, 160)		<u>_</u>		
S-I	VA 9720 R_Date(33860	,160) CM		<u> </u>		
Early	Aurignacian US04 Upper Pha	ase				
Star	Early Aurignacian USO	4 Upper Boundary				
End	Protoaurignacian US04	Lower Boundary	_			
S-I	VA 13672 R Date(3408	0.250) CM				\square
S-I	VA 13669 R Date(3443	30 180) CM				
S	VA 13665 R Date(346)	0 390) CM				
	VA 9713 P. Date (3515)	280)				
Deute		,200)		<u> </u>		
Proto	aungnacian US04 Lower Pha	se				
Star	Protoaurignacian US04	Lower Boundary		-		
End	Chatelperronian US06 E	Boundary				
S-I	VA 13666 R_Date(3623	30,210) CM	<u>_</u>			
S-I	VA 13667 R_Date(3736	0,610) CP –				
S-I	VA 13668 R_Date(3810	0,210) CP	<u> </u>			
S-I	VA 9695 R_Date(38540	9,270)				
Chat	elperronian US06 Phase					
Star	Chatelperronian US06	Boundary				
End	Mousterian US08 Boun	dary				
S-I	VA 13678 R Date(389)	0,440) CP				\square
S-I	VA 13677 R Date(3926	0.770) CP				
S-I	VA 13679 R Date(3939	0.470)				
S	VA 13673 R Date(3976	50 1600) CM				
	VA 13675 P. Dato(416	0 260) CP				
0	VA 12676 B. Date (101		-			
5-1	TVA 130/0 K_Date(4218	0,200) HM	-			
Mous	aenan US08 Phase					
Star	t Mousterian US08 Bour	idary	-			
Les Co	ttes Sequence					
55	000 50	000 450	000 400	000 350	000 30	000

Modelled date (BP)

Fig. 4. Bayesian model build using OxCal 4.1 (Bronk Ramsey, 2009) and IntCal09 (Reimer et al., 2009) from the radiocarbon weighted means of Les Cottés. CP = Carnivore Presence, CM = Cut Marks and HM = Human Modification (Retouchoir).

and has the youngest dates for this type of assemblage in Europe (Haesaerts et al., 1996; Higham et al., 2009; Hoffecker et al., 2008; Nigst et al., 2008; Sirakov et al., 2007; Szmidt et al., 2010).

5.1. Comparison to climatic data

It is useful to place cultural changes as indicated by lithic industries in the context of well documented events of rapid climate change in the glacial era (Müller et al., 2011; Tzedakis et al., 2007). Several warm Dansgaard-Oeschger (DO events 12 to 8) and one cold Heinrich Event (HE4) occurred in the Les Cottés time interval as shown in Fig. 5 (Chronology of the climate sequence taken from (Fleitmann et al., 2009).

The shading of the DO bars indicates the rapid initial warming (less than 50 years) of 11 °C–16 °C in Greenland (Wolff et al., 2010), whereas the cooling is gradual. A discussion of links to the decadal scale warming phase of DO events is limited by the unresolved question of synchroneity between Greenland climate markers and mid-latitude ecological response to climate change (Blaauw et al., 2010; Wohlfarth et al., 2008) and because of the error range of the radiocarbon dates in the chronology. HE4, on the other hand, lasted for more than 1500 years, therefore the age distribution

181

182

S. Talamo et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175-183



Fig. 5. Temporal relation of the archaeological phases of Les Cottés compared to the rapid climate changes as defined by several climate archives in the northern hemisphere (Fleitmann et al., 2009); for France see also Genty et al. (2003).

in our chronology should document if the area of Les Cottés was less populated during this cold phase.

The ages obtained on Les Cottés Protoaurignacian confirm that the Anatomically Modern Humans associated with this industry entered this part of Europe with the onset of HE4 and that they populated this area even during this phase, as observed also for Eastern Europe (Hoffecker, 2011, 2009).

6. Conclusion

Les Cottés is one of the few sites with a complete and well defined sequence covering the Middle to Early Upper Palaeolithic periods in Europe. We obtained radiocarbon dates on 27 bone samples from each archaeological level at this site. We created a chronological framework of five phases from the Mousterian to Early Aurignacian periods. The Mousterian and Châtelperronian are separated from the overlying Protoaurignacian level by a gap of approximately 1000 calendar years. The internal temporal relation between the Mousterian and Châtelperronian is not fully resolved by our dates, this aspect will be addressed by future work at the site. The fact that a substantial part of the Proto and Early Aurignacian appear contemporaneous, within the resolution of ¹⁴C dating, indicates that this transition was rapid in this region. Anatomically Modern Humans are presents at the site of Les Cottés at least at 39,500 cal BP roughly coincident with the onset of the strong cold phase Heinrich 4.

Acknowledgement

We would like to thank the Oxford and Mannheim radiocarbon laboratories and Martin Humm (ORAU) and Lukas Wacker (ETH Zurich). William Rendu is acknowledged for allowing us to mention unpublished data on fauna analysis and for sharing with us his taxonomic determination of AMS¹⁴C samples. We would also like to thank Bernd Kromer, Shannon McPherron as well as three anonymous reviewers for comments on this paper. Philip Nigst, Enza Spinapolice and Christine Verna are also acknowledged for valuable discussions.

- Ambrose, S.H., 1990. Preparation and characterization of bone and tooth collagen for isotopic analysis. Journal of Archaeological Science 17, 431–451.Arrizabalaga, A., Altuna, J., 2000. Labeko Koba (Pais Vasco). Hienas y humanos en los
- Arrizabalaga, A., Altuna, J., 2000. Labeko Koba (Pais Vasco), Hienas y humanos en los albores del Paleolitico superior. Sociedad de Ciencias Aranzadi Zientzi Elkartea, Munibe nº 52, San Sebastian, 395 pp.
- Bailey, S.E., Hublin, J.-J., 2006. Dental remains from the Grotte du Renne at Arcy-sur-Cure (Yonne). Journal of Human Evolution 50, 485–508.
- Bailey, S.E., Weaver, T.D., Hublin, J.-J., 2009. Who made the Aurignacian and other early Upper Paleolithic industries? Journal of Human Evolution 57, 11–26. Par Vesef, O., Bordea, L.G., 2010. Who were the medicate of the Chitchengenia.
- Bar-Yoséf, O., Bordes, J.-G., 2010. Who were the makers of the Châtelperronian culture? Journal of Human Evolution 59, 586–593.
- Bartolomei, G., Broglio, A., Cassoli, P.F., Castelletti, L., Cattani, L., Cremaschi, M., Giacobini, G., Malerba, G., Maspero, A., Peresani, M., Sartorelli, A., Tagliacozzo, A., 1994. La Grotte de Fumane. Un site aurignacien au pied des Alpes. Preistoria Alpina 28, 131–179.
- Bazile, F., 2006. Le premier Aurignacien en France méditerranéenne. Un bilan. In: Bon, F., Maillo Fernandez, J.M., Ortega i Cobos, D. (Eds.), Autour des concepts de Protoaurignacien, d'Aurignacien archaïque, initial et ancien. Unité et variabilité des comportements techniques des premiers groupes d'hommes modernes dans le Sud de la France et le Nord de l'Espagne. Espacio, Tiempo Y Forma, Serie I, vol. 15. UNED, Madrid, pp. 215–236.
- Blaauw, M., Wohlfarth, B., Christen, J.A., Ampel, L., Veres, D., Hughen, K.A., Preusser, F., Svensson, A., 2010. Were last glacial climate events simultaneous between Greenland and France? A quantitative comparison using non-tuned chronologies. Journal of Quaternary Science 25, 387–394.
- Bon, F., 2002. mémoire n°. L'Aurignacien entre mer et Océan. Réflexion sur l'unité des phases an-ciennes de l'Aurignacien dans le sud de la France, vol. 29. Société Préhistorique Francaise. 253 p.
- Préhistorique Française, 253 p. Bon, F., 2006. A brief overview of Aurignacian cultures in the context of Middle-to-Upper transitional industries. In: Bar-Yosef, O., Zilhao, J. (Eds.), Towards a Definition of the Aurignacian. IPA, Lisbon, pp. 133–144. Trabalhos de Arqueologia nº 45.
- Bon, F., Bodu, P., 2002. Analyse technologique du débitage aurignacien. supplément n° 34. In: Schmider, B. (Ed.), L'Aurignacien de la grotte du Renne. Les fouilles d'André Leroi-Gourhan à Arcy-sur-Cure (Yonne). Gallia Préhistoire, Paris, pp. 115–133.
- Bordes, J.-G., 2006. News from the West: a reevaluation of the classical Aurignacian sequence of the Périgord. Trabalhos de Arqueologia nº 45. In: Bar-Yosef, O., Zilhao, J. (Eds.), Towards a Definition of the Aurignacian. IPA, Lisbon, pp. 147–171.
- Brock, F., Ramsey, C.B., Higham, T., 2007. Quality assurance of ultrafiltered bone dating. Radiocarbon 49, 187–192.
- Bronk Ramsey, C., 2009. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates. Radiocarbon 51, 337–360.
- Brown, T.A., Nelson, D.E., Vogel, J.S., Southon, J.R., 1988. Improved collagen extraction by modified Longin method. Radiocarbon 30, 171–177. Conard, N.J., Grootes, P.M., Smith, F.H., 2004. Unexpectedly recent dates for human
- Conard, N.J., Grootes, P.M., Smith, F.H., 2004. Unexpectedly recent dates for human remains from Vogelherd. Nature 430, 198–201.

S. Talamo et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science 39 (2012) 175-183

Connet, N., 2002. Le Châtelperronien: Réflexions sur l'unité et l'identité technoéconomique de l'industrie lithique. L'apport de l'analyse diachronique des industries lithiques des couches Châtelperroniennes de la Grotte du Renne

- a Arcy-sur-Cure (Yonne), PhD dissertation, University of Lille I, France, p. 445. DeNiro, M.J., 1985. Postmortem preservation and alteration of *in vivo* bone collagen isotope ratios in relation to palaeodietary reconstruction. Nature 317, 806–809. Evin, J., Marechal, J., Marien, G., 1985. Lyon natural radiocarbon measurements X. Radiocarbon 27, 386–454.
- Fleitmann, D., Cheng, H., Badertscher, S., Edwards, R.L., Mudelsee, M., Göktürk, O.M., Fankhauser, A., Pickering, R., Raible, C.C., Matter, A., Kramers, J., Tüysüz, O., 2009. Timing and climatic impact of Greenland interstadials recorded in

stalagmites from northern Turkey. Geophysical Research Letters 36, 1–5. Genty, D., Blamart, D., Ouahdi, R., Gilmour, M., Baker, A., Jouzel, J., Van-Exter, S.

- 2003. Precise dating of Dansgaard-Oeschger climate oscillations in western Europe from stalagmite data. Nature 421, 833-837.
- Haesaerts, P., Damblon, F., Bachner, M., Trnka, G., 1996. In: Austriaca, A. (Ed.), Revised stratigraphy and chronology of the Willendorf II Sequence, Lower Austria, pp. 25–42. Vienna. Harbeck, M., Grupe, G., 2009. Experimental chemical degradation compared to natural
- diagenetic alteration of collagen: implications for collagen quality indicators for stable isotope analysis. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 1, 43–57.

Hedges, R.E.M., 2002. Bone diagenesis: an overview of processes. Archaeometry 44 319-328.

- Hedges, R.E.M., Van Klinken, G.J., 1992. A review of current approaches in the pretreatment of bone for radiocarbon dating by AMS. Radiocarbon 34, 279–291.
- Higham, T., 2011. European Middle and Upper Palaeolithic radiocarbon dates are often older than they look: problems with previous dates and some remedies. Antiquity 85, 235–249. Higham, T., Brock, F., Peresani, M., Broglio, A., Wood, R., Douka, K., 2009. Problems
- with radiocarbon dating the Middle to upper Palaeolithic transition in Italy. Quaternary Science Reviews 28, 1257–1267.
- Higham, T., Jacobi, R., Julien, M., David, F., Basell, L., Wood, R., Davies, W., Ramsey, C.B., 2010. Chronology of the Grotte du Renne (France) and implications for the context of ornaments and human remains within the Châtelperronian. PNAS Early Edition, 1-6.
- Higham, T.F.G., Jacobi, R.M., Ramsey, C.B., 2006. AMS radiocarbon dating of ancient bone using ultrafiltration. Radiocarbon 48, 179–195.
- Hoffecker, J., 2011. The early upper Paleolithic of Eastern Europe Reconsidered. Evolutionary Anthropology 20, 24–39. Hoffecker, J.F., 2009. The spread of modern humans in Europe. PNAS 106, 16040–16045.
- Hoffecker, J.F., Holliday, V.T., Anikovich, M.V., Sinitsyn, A.A., Popov, V.V., Lisitsyn, S.N., Levkovskaya, G.M., Pospelova, G.A., Forman, S.L., Giaccio, B., 2008. From the Bay of

Naples to the River Don: the Campanian Ignimbrite eruption and the Middle to upper Paleolithic transition in Eastern Europe. Journal of Human Evolution 55, 858–870. Hublin, J.-J., Spoor, F., Braun, M., Zonneveld, F., Condemi, S., 1996. A late Neanderthal associated with Upper Palaeolithic artefacts. Nature 381, 224–226.

- Klein, R.G., 1999. The Human Career: Human Biological and Cultural Origins. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, p. 810.
- Kuhn, S.L., Stiner, M.C., 1998. The earliest Aurignacian of Riparo Mochi (Liguria, Italy). Current Anthropology 39, 175–189.
- Jace, G., 1966. Recherches sur l'origine et l'évolution des complexes lep-tolithiques, de Boccard. Mélanges d'Archéologie et d'Histoire (Suppl. 4), 574. Laplace,

Lee-Thorp, J.A., 2008. On isotopes and old bones. Archaeometry 50, 925–950. Lévêque, F., 1993. Les données du gisement de Saint-Césaire et la transition Paléo-

lithique moyen/supérieur en Poitou-Charentes. In: Cabrera-Valdès, V. (Ed.), El ori-gen del Hombre moderno en el suroeste de Europa. UNED, Madrid, pp. 263–286.

Lévêque, F., Vandermeersch, B., 1980. Découverte des restes humains dans un niveau castelperronien à Saint-Césaire (Charente-Maritime). Compte-Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris, Série D 291, 187-189. Longin, R., 1971. New method of collagen extraction for radiocarbon dating. Nature

- 230, 241–242. Mellars, P., 2006. A new radiocarbon revolution and the dispersal of modern
- humans in Eurasia. Nature 439, 931–935. Müller, U.C., Pross, J., Tzedakis, P.C., Gamble, C., Kotthoff, U., Schmiedl, G., Wulf, S.,
- Christanis, K., 2011. The role of climate in the spread of modern humans into Europe. Quaternary Science Reviews 30, 273–279.

Nigst, P.R., Viola, T.B., Haesaerts, P., Trnka, G., 2008. Willendorf II, Wiss. Mitt. Nie-derösterr. Landesmuseum 19, 31–58.

- Normand, C., 2006. L'Aurignacien de la salle de Saint-Martin (Grotte d'Isturitz ; commune de Saint-Martin d'Arberoue ; Pyrénées-atlantiques): donnés préliminaires sur l'industrie lithique recueille lors des campagnes 2000–2002. In: Bon, F., Maillo Fernandez, J.M., Ortega i Cobos, D. (Eds.), Autour des concepts de Protoaurignacien, d'Aurignacien archaïque, initial et ancien. Unité et variabilité des comportements techniques des premiers groupes d'hommes modernes dans le Sud de la France et le Nord de l'Espagne. Espacio, Tiempo Y Forma, Serie I, 15. UNED, Madrid, pp. 145–174.
- Onoratini, G., 1986. Découverte en Provence orientale (grotte Rainaude) d'une industrie souche de l'Aurignacien. Cette civilisation est-elle monolithique? Bulletin de la Société Préhistorique Française 83, 240–256. Pelegrin, J., 1995. Technologie lithique: le Châtelperronien de Roc-de-Combe (Lot) et de
- La Côte (Dordogne). In: CNRS (Ed.), Cahiers du Quaternaire, vol. 20, Paris, p. 297. Pelegrin, J., Soressi, M., 2007. Le Châtelperronien et ses rapports avec le Moustérien.
- In: Vandermeersch, B., Maureille, B. (Eds.), CTHS, Documents Préhistoriques Nº23, Paris, pp. 297-309.

- Porraz, G., Simon, P., Pasquini, A., 2010. Identité technique et comportements économiques des groupes protoaurignaciens à la grotte de l'Observatoire (Principauté de Monaco). Gallia Préhistoire 52, 33–59.
- Pradel, L, 1961. La grotte des Cottés, commune de Saint-Pierre-de-Maillé (Vienne). L'Anthropologie 65, 229–258. Pradel, L., 1963. La pointe des Cottés. Bulletin de la Société Préhistorique Française
- 60, 582-590. Pradel, L., 1967. La grotte des Cottés, commune de Saint-Pierre-de-Maillé (Vienne), Moustérien, Périgordien, Aurignacien, dations par le radiocarbone. L'Anthropologie 71, 271-277.
- Reimer, P.J., Baillie, M.G.L., Bard, E., Bayliss, A., Beck, J.W., Blackwell, P.G., Ramsey, C.B., Buck, C.E., Burr, G.S., Edwards, R.L., Friedrich, M., Grootes, P.M., Guiderson, T.P., Buck, C.E., Burr, G.S., Edwards, R.L., Friedrich, M., Grootes, P.M., Guiderson, T.P., Hajdas, I., Heaton, T.J., Hogg, A.G., Hughen, K.A., Kaiser, K.F., Kromer, B., McCormac, F.G., Manning, S.W., Reimer, R.W., Richards, D.A., Southon, J.R., Talamo, S., Turney, C.S.M., Plicht, J.v.d, Weyhenmeyer, C.E., 2009. IntCalO9 and Marine09
- radiocarbon age calibration curves, 0-50 cal kBP. Radiocarbon 51, 1111-1150. Richards, M.P., Hedges, R.E.M., 1999. Stable isotope evidence for Similarities in the types of marine foods used by late Mesolithic humans at sites along the Atlantic Coast of Europe. Journal of Archaeological Science 26, 717–722.
- schards. M.P., Hedges, R.E.M., 2003. Variations in bone collagen δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of fauna from Northwest Europe over the last 40,000 years. Palae-concentrative the scheme the scheme scheme scheme scheme scheme the scheme sc ogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 193, 261–267. Richards, M.P., Jacobi, R., Cook, J., Pettitt, P.B., Stringer, C.B., 2005. Isotope evidence
- for the intensive use of marine foods by Late Upper Palaeolithic humans. Journal of Human Evolution 49, 390-394.
- Richards, M.P., Pettitt, P.B., Trinkaus, E., Smith, F.H., Paunovi, M., Karavanic, I., 2000. Neanderthal diet at Vindija and Neanderthal predation: the evidence from stable isotopes. PNAS 97, 7663–7666. Richards, M.P., Taylor, G., Steele, T., McPherron, S.P., Soressi, M., Jaubert, J.,
- Orschiedt, J., Mallye, J.B., Rendu, W., Hublin, J.J., 2008. Isotopic dietary analysis of a Neanderthal and associated fauna from the site of Jonzac (Charente-Maritime), France. Journal of Human Evolution 55, 179–185. Rochebrune, R.de, 1881a. Les Troglodytes de la Gartempe. Fouilles des Cottés,
- Fontenay-le-Comte, 60 pp. Rochebrune, R.de, 1881b. Seconde fouille à la grotte des Cottés. Matériaux 16,
- 487-489
- Roussel, M., 2011. Normes et variations de la production lithique durant le Châtelperronien: la séquence de la Grande-Roche-de-la-Plématrie à Quinçay (Vienne), PhD dissertation, University of Paris Ouest-Nanterre La Défense, France, p. 554.
- Roussel, M., Soressi, M., 2010. La Grande Roche de la Plématrie à Quinçay (Vienne). L'évolution du Châtelperronien revisitée. In: Buisson-Catil, J., Primault, J. (Eds.), Préhistoire entre Vienne et Charente - Hommes et sociétés du Paléolithique Villefranche-de-Rouergue, mémoire n°384. Association des Publications Chauvinoises, pp. 203–219. Schoeninger, M.J., Moore, K.M., Murray, M.L., Kingston, J.D., 1989. Detection of bone
- Carlotininger, Maring, Moder, Louis, Maring, Maring, Magada, Day, Job. 2005. Decision of orbitopreservation in archaeological and fossil samples. Applied Geochemistry 4, 281–292. Sirakov, N., Tsanova, T., Sirakova, S., Taneva, S., Krumov, I., Dimitrova, I., Kovatcheva, N., 2007. Un nouveau facies lamellaire du début du Paléolithique supérieur dans les Balkans. Paléo 19, 131–144.
- Slimak, L., Pesesse, D., Giraud, Y., 2006. Reconnaissance d'une installation du Pro-toaurignacien en vallée du Rhône. Implications sur nos connaissances concernant les premiers hommes modernes en France méditerranéenne. Comptes Rendus Palevol 5, 909–917.
- Sonneville-Bordes, D.de, 1960. Le Paléolithique supérieur en Périgord. Delmas, 555 pp. Soressi, M., Roussel, M., Rendu, W., Primault, J., Rigaud, S., Texier, J.P., Richter, D., Talamo, S., Ploquin, F., Larmignat, B., Tavormina, C., Hublin, J.J., 2010. Les Cottés (Vienne). Nouveaux travaux sur l'un des gisements de référence pour la transition Paléolithique moyen/supérieur. In: Buisson-Catil, J., Primault, J. (Eds.), mémoire n°384, Villefranche-de-Rouergue. Association des Publications Chau-
- Vinoises, pp. 221–234.
 Strydonck, M.V., Boudin, M., Ervynck, A., 2004. Possibilities and limitations of the use of stable isotopes (8¹³C and 8¹⁵C) from human hone collagen and carbonate as an aid in migration studies. In: Scott, E.M., et al. (Eds.), Impact of the Environment on Human Migration in Eurasia. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, pp. 125-135.
- Szmidt, C., Normand, C., Burr, G.S., Hodgins, G.W.L, Lamotta, S., 2010. AMS ¹⁴C dating the Protoaurignacian/Early Aurignacian of Isturitz, France. Implications for Neanderthal-modern human interaction and the timing of tech-nical and cultural innovations in Europe. Journal of Archaeological Science 37, 758–768.
- Talamo, S., Richards, M., 2011. A comparison of bone pretreatment methods for AMS dating of samples >30,000 BP. Radiocarbon 53, 443–449.
- Tzedakis, P.C., Hughen, K.A., Cacho, I., Harvati, K., 2007. Placing late Neanderthals in a climatic context. Nature 449, 206–208.
- van Klinken, G.J., 1999. Bone collagen quality indicators for palaeodietary and radiocarbon measurements. Journal of Archaeological Science 26, 687–695. Vogel, J.C., Waterbolk, H.T., 1967. Groningen radiocarbon dates VII. Radiocarbon 9, 107-1551.
- Wohlfarth, B., Veres, D., Ampel, L., Lacourse, T., Blaauw, M., Preusser, F., Andrieu-Ponel, V., Kéravis, D., Lallier-Vergès, E., Björck, S., Davies, S.M., de Beaulieu, J.-L., Risberg, J., Hormes, A., Kasper, H.U., Possnert, G., Reille, M., Thouveny, N., Zander, A., 2008. Rapid ecosystem response to abrupt climate changes during
- the last glacial period in western Europe, 40–16 ka. Geology 36, 407–410. Wolff, E.W., Chappellaz, J., Blunier, T., Rasmussen, S.O., Svensson, A., 2010. Millennial-scale variability during the last glacial: the ice core record. Quaternary Science Reviews 29, 2828–2838.

183

8. Conclusion and Future work

The main focus of this thesis was developing methods for radiocarbon dating bone from archaeological sites dating to the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in Europe, and then applying those methods to obtain dates from a key site from this time period.

The key findings of this thesis are as follows:

Internationally agreed radiocarbon calibration back to 50,000 cal BP

To overcome the ambiguities created by the co-existence of several conflicting ¹⁴C datasets beyond 25,000 cal BP the IntCal working group has constructed the calibration curve 'IntCal09' (Reimer, et al., 2009). Earlier problems calibrating samples older than 30,000 cal BP were resolved in 2004 through collaboration between a number of labs and international scientists (including the author of this thesis), which involved discussion about the absolute time scales of the various datasets as well as improvements in the ¹⁴C technique itself.

The Radiocarbon dating method is not flawed between 35,000 and 42,000 cal BP

It has been stated by some authors that ¹⁴C dating is not possible around 39,000 cal BP because of two key reasons. First, until recently there was a choice of conflicting ¹⁴C datasets to calibrate radiocarbon dates in the Palaeolithic age range, which has left room for ambiguity (Mellars, 2006). Second, there have been doubts about the radiocarbon method being capable of producing dates in this time period because of alleged fluctuations of the atmospheric radiocarbon level at this time (Conard and Bolus, 2003, Conard and Bolus, 2008, Fedele, et al., 2008, Giaccio, et al., 2006, Pettitt and Pike, 2001). However, this putative radiocarbon dating anomaly during MUP lasting for millennia simply does not exist. ¹⁴C production fluctuations lead to intervals of both accelerated change of radiocarbon years *versus* calendar years and decreased change (i.e., radiocarbon age plateaux), which are well resolved in the current radiocarbon calibration dataset IntCal09. The radiocarbon community has now solved the issues of inconsistent ¹⁴C calibration and created a valid calibration curve back to 50,000 cal BP (Reimer, et al., 2009). It is well documented that a geomagnetic minimum (Laschamp Event) and reduction in the circulation in

the North Atlantic (Heinrich event 4) resulted in gradual changes in 14 C, but these anomalies are not strong enough to prevent accurate radiocarbon calibration.

Optimising techniques to obtain pure and uncontaminated bone collagen

At the lower age limit of radiocarbon dating, the low ${}^{14}C$ activity level and the difficulty of obtaining sufficient and well-preserved collagen, means that bone is an especially challenging material to accurately date. In this thesis I investigated several collagen extraction techniques. I identified a combination of steps which lead to consistent and reliable ages. These procedures combined with the recently installed CO₂ gas collection and graphitization system, enable the department at human evolution at Max Planck-EVA Leipzig, to perform all the required steps in bone dating, from sampling to graphite production for AMS ${}^{14}C$ dating.

Well preserved bison and mammoth bones from the North Sea of unknown age were adopted as the long term quality control material, especially to test for background contamination in the sample preparation, with the assumption that these two bones were at least Pleistocene, and ideally older than 50,000 BP. Initial radiocarbon results from two AMS laboratories on collagen prepared at MPI showed the bones to be in the age range of 30,000 to 45,000 ¹⁴C BP, but we observed large discrepancies in the radiocarbon ages between different radiocarbon labs. These inconsistencies could have been caused by deficits in the pretreatment methods which we had established for collagen extraction, by insufficient removal of contamination in the samples, in the AMS measurements themselves, or all three.

Therefore we designed a study to investigate the source of these inconsistent dates, and we also compared the results of our pretreatment methods against results from the methods from two of these AMS labs. In this study, as in earlier exercises (Hajdas, et al., 2007, Higham, et al., 2006b, Hüls, et al., 2007), we observed that by using elaborate pretreatment procedures that eliminate both modern laboratory contamination and contamination from degenerated proteins and humic acids we were able to obtain older ages. We still observe discrepancies between the results of different AMS labs, highlighting the many challenges of radiocarbon dating at very low ¹⁴C activity.

Accurate chronology of sites covering the transition of Middle to Upper Palaeolithic in France, with a link to climatic events

The radiocarbon dating application in this thesis targeted the site of Les Cottés in France (paper 3 in this thesis).

The nature and duration of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition (MUP) in Western Europe is one of the key ongoing debates in Palaeoanthropology, and it is an area where accurate chronology is essential. Central to this debate is the biological nature of the makers of the different lithic assemblages (Neanderthals and modern humans), and contradictory models have been proposed to explain the cultural evolution of these hominids

Les Cottés is one of the few sites with a complete and well defined sequence covering the Middle to Early Upper Palaeolithic periods in Europe. Refinement of AMS ¹⁴C bone dating methods, including ultrafiltration, a new calibration curve (IntCal09, (Reimer, et al., 2009)) and advanced calibration programs (OxCal 4.1, (Bronk Ramsey, 2009)) allow the application of radiocarbon dating to bones from late Middle and Upper Palaeolithic sites in Europe to provide more accurate chronologies for these industries. Radiocarbon dates of 27 bone samples from each archaeological level at this site were obtained. A chronological framework consisting of five phases from the Mousterian to Early Aurignacian periods was created. The results show that the Mousterian and Châtelperronian are contiguous and separated from the overlying Protoaurignacian level by a gap of 1000 years. The fact that a substantial part of the Proto and Early Aurignacian appear contemporaneous, within the resolution of ¹⁴C dating, indicates that this transition was rapid in this region. Anatomically Modern Humans are present at the site of Les Cottés at least at 39,500 cal BP, which is roughly coincident with the onset of the strong cold phase Heinrich 4.

Future work

It has been observed in several instances that radiocarbon dates obtained previously from transition period sites could be considered too young, and using more elaborate pretreatment techniques resulted in older ages (e.g. (Higham, 2011, Higham, et al., 2009). Therefore, it would be useful to revisit these key sites and apply the suite of radiocarbon procedures outlined here. Additionally, we aim to continue dating new sites from this time period with the protocol established here.

- Ambrose, S.H., 1990. Preparation and Characterization of Bone and Tooth Collagen for Isotopic Analysis, Journal of Archaeological Science 17.
- Arnold, J.R., Libby, W.F., 1951. Radiocarbon Dates, Science 113, 111-120.
- Bard, E., Arnold, M., Hamelin, B., Tisnerat-Laborde, N., Cabioch, G., 1998. Radiocarbon calibration by means of mass spectrometric ²³⁰Th/²³⁴U and ¹⁴C ages of corals; an updated database including samples from Barbados, Mururoa and Tahiti, Radiocarbon 40, 1085-1092.
- Bard, E., Ménot-Combes, G., Rostek, F., 2004. Present status of radiocarbon calibration and comparison records based on Polynesian Corals and Iberian Margin sediments, Radiocarbon 46, 1189-1202.
- Beck, J.W., Richards, D.A., Edwards, R.L., Silverman, B.W., Smart, P.L., Donahue, D.J., Hererra-Osterheld, S.a., Burr, G.S., Calsoyas, L., Jull, A.J.T., Biddulph, D., 2001. Extremely Large Variations of Atmospheric ¹⁴C Concentration During the Last Glacial Period, Science 292.
- Beck, W., Richards, D., Hoffmann, D., Smart, P., SIngarayer, J., Ketchmark, T., Hawkesworth, C., 2008. Reconciling records of atmospheric radiocarbon variations during the last glacial period using speleothems, AMS-11, 11th International Conference on Accelerator Mass Spectrometry, Rome.
- Brock, F., Ramsey, C.B., Higham, T., 2007. Quality assurance of ultrafiltered bone dating, Radiocarbon 49, 187–192.
- Bronk Ramsey, C., 2009. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates, Radiocarbon 51, 337-360.
- Brown, T.A., Nelson, D.E., Vogel, J.S., Southon, J.R., 1988. Improved Collagen Extraction by modified Longin method, Radiocarbon 30, 171 177.
- Bruins, H.J., 2010. Dating Pharaonic Egypt, Science 328 1489-1490.
- Bruins, H.J., Plicht, J.v.d., 2001. Radiocarbon challenges archaeo-historical time frameworks in the Near East: the Early Bronze Age of Jericho in relation to Egypt, Radiocarbon 43, 1321-1332.
- Bruins, H.J., Van der Plicht, J., MacGillivray, J.A., 2009. The Minoan Santorini Eruption and Tsunami Deposits in Palaikastro (Crete): Dating by Geology, Archaeology, ¹⁴C, and Egyptian Chronology Radiocarbon 51, 397-411.
- Burr, G.S., Beck, J.W., Taylor, F.W., Recy, J., Edwards, R.L., Cabioch, G., Correge, T., Donahue, D.J., O'Malley, J.M., 1998. A high-resolution radiocarbon calibration between 11,700 and 12,400 calendar years BP derived from ²³⁰Th ages of corals from Espiritu Santo Island, Vanuatu, Radiocarbon 40, 1093-1105.
- Collins, M.J., Nielsen-Marsh, C.M., Hiller, J., Smith, C.I., Roberts, J.P., Prigodich, R.V., Wess, T.J., Csapò, J., Millard, A.R., Turner-Walker, G., 2002. The survival of organic matter in bone: a review, Archaeometry 44, 383-394.
- Conard, N.J., Bolus, M., 2003. Radiocarbon dating the appearance of modern humans and timing of cultural innovations in Europe: new results and new challenges, Journal of Human Evolution 44, 331-371.
- Conard, N.J., Bolus, M., 2008. Radiocarbon dating the late Middle Paleolithic and the Aurignacian of the Swabian Jura, Journal of Human Evolution 55, 886-897.
- Cook, G.T., Plicht, J.v.d., 2007. Conventional Method, in: Studies, R. (Ed.), Radiocarbon Dating.
- Cutler, K.B., Gray, S.C., Burr, G.S., Edwards, R.L., Taylor, F.W., Cabioch, G., Beck, J.W., Cheng, H., Moore, J., 2004. Radiocarbon calibration and comparison to 50 kyr BP with paired ¹⁴C and ²³⁰TH dating of corals from Vanuatu and Papua New Guinea, Radiocarbon 46 1127-1160.

- DeNiro, M.J., 1985. Postmortem preservation and alteration of *in vivo* bone collagen isotope ratios in relation to palaeodietary reconstruction, Nature 317, 806-809.
- Fairbanks, R.G., Mortlock, R.A., Chiu, T.-C., Cao, L., Kaplan, A., Guilderson, T.P., Fairbanks, T.W., Bloom, A.L., 2005. Marine Radiocarbon Calibration Curve Spanning 0 to 50,000 Years B.P. Based on Paired 230Th/234U/238U and 14C Dates on Pristine Corals, Quaternary Science Reviews 24, 1781-1796.
- Fedele, F.G., Giaccio, B., Hajdas, I., 2008. Timescales and cultural process at 40,000 BP in the light of the Campanian Ignimbrite eruption, Western Eurasia, Journal of Human Evolution 55, 834-857.
- Fedi, M.E., Cartocci, A., Manetti, M., Taccetti, F., Mandò, P.A., 2007. The 14C AMS facility at LABEC, Florence, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B, 18-22.
- Fifield, L.K., 1999. Accelerator mass spectrometry and its applications, Rep. Prog. Phys. 62, 1223-1274.
- Friedrich, W.L., Kromer, B., Friedrich, M., Heinemeier, J., Pfeiffer, T., Talamo, S., 2006. Santorini Eruption Radiocarbon Dated to 1627–1600 B.C., Science 312, 548.
- Giaccio, B., Hajdas, I., Peresani, M., Fedele, F.G., Isaia, R., 2006. The Campanian Ignimbrite tephra and its relevance for the timing of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic shift, in: Conard, N.J. (Ed.), When Neanderthals and Modern Humans Met, Kerns Verlag, Tübingen, pp. 343-375.
- Godwin, H., 1962. Half life of radiocarbon, Nature 195.
- Hajdas, I., Bonani, G., Furrer, H., Mäder, A., Schoch, W., 2007. Radiocarbon chronology of the mammoth site at Niederweningen, Switzerland: Results from dating bones, teeth, wood, and peat, Quaternary International 164-165, 98-105.
- Hajdas, I., Bonani, G., Stein, M., 2003. Radiocarbon changes across the Laschamp geomagnetic excursion in lake Lisan, Israel, Annual report, ETH Zurich.
- Hajdas, I., Bonani, G., Stein, M., Freed, M., Goldstein, S.L., Muscheler, R., 2004. Timing of the Laschamp Geomagnetic Excursion in Lake Lisan, Israel, Geophysical Research Abstracts 6.
- Harbeck, M., Grupe, G., 2009. Experimental chemical degradation compared to natural diagenetic alteration of collagen: implications for collagen quality indicators for stable isotope analysis, Archaeol Anthropol Sci 1, 43-57.
- Hedges, R.E.M., 2002. Bone diagenesis: an overview of processes, Archaeometry 44, 319-328.
- Hedges, R.E.M., Van Klinken, G.J., 1992. A review of current approaches in the pretreatment of bone for radiocarbon dating by AMS, Radiocarbon 34, 279-291.
- Hendy, C.H., 1970. The use of ¹⁴C in the study of cave processes. Radiocarbon variations and absolute chronology., in: Olsson, I.U. (Ed.), Nobel Symposium, Nobelstiftelsen, Stockholm, pp. 419-443.
- Higham, T., 2011. European Middle and Upper Palaeolithic radiocarbon dates are often older than they look: problems with previous dates and some remedies, Antiquity 85, 235-249.
- Higham, T., Brock, F., Peresani, M., Broglio, A., Wood, R., Douka, K., 2009. Problems with radiocarbon dating the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition in Italy, Quaternary Science Reviews 28, 1257-1267.
- Higham, T., Ramsey, C.B., Karavanic, I., Smith, F.H., Trinkaus¶, E., 2006a. Revised direct radiocarbon dating of the Vindija G1 Upper Paleolithic Neandertals, PNAS 103, 553-557.
- Higham, T.F.G., Jacobi, R.M., Ramsey, C.B., 2006b. AMS radiocarbon dating of ancient bone using ultrafiltration, Radiocarbon 48, 179-195.
- Hoffmann, D.L., Beck, J.W., Richards, D.A., Smart, P.L., Mattey, D.P., Paterson, B.A., 2008. Atmospheric radiocarbon variation between 44 and 28 ka based on a U-series dated speleothem, in: Hawkesworth, J. (Ed.), EGU General Assembly Vienna.

- Hoffmann, D.L., Beck, J.W., Richards, D.A., Smart, P.L., Singarayer, J.S., Ketchmark, T., Hawkesworth, C.J., 2010. Towards radiocarbon calibration beyond 28 ka using speleothems from the Bahamas, Earth and Planetary Science Letters 289, 1-10.
- Hogg, A.G., Fifield, L.K., Palmer, J.G., Turney, C.S.M., Galbraith, R., 2007. Robust Radiocarbon Dating of Wood Samples by High-Sensitivity Liquid Scintillation Spectroscopy in the 50-70 kyr Age Range, Radiocarbon 49, 379-391.
- Hua, Q., Barbetti, M., Fink, D., Kaiser, K.F., Friedrich, M., Kromer, B., Levchenko, V.A., Zoppi, U., Smith, A.M., Bertuch, F., 2009. Atmospheric ¹⁴C variations derived from tree rings during the early Younger Dryas, Quaternary Science Reviews 28, 2982-2990.
- Hughen, K., Southon, J., Lehman, S., Bertrand, C., Turnbull, J., 2006. Marine-derived ¹⁴C calibration and activity record for the past 50,000 years updated from the Cariaco Basin, Quaternary Science Reviews 25, 3216-3227.
- Hughen, K.A., Baillie, M.G.L., Bard, E., Beck, J.W., Bertrand, C.J.H., Blackwell, P.G., Buck, C.E., Burr, G.S., Cutler, K.B., Damon, P.E., Edwards, R.L., Fairbanks, R.G., Friedrich, M., Guilderson, T.P., Kromer, B., McCormac, G., Manning, S., Ramsey, C.B., Reimer, P.J., Reimer, R.W., Remmele, S., Southon, J.R., Stuiver, M., Talamo, S., Taylor, F.W., Plicht, J.v.d., Weyhenmeyer, C.E., 2004a. Marine04 Marine Radiocarbon Age Calibration, 0-26 Cal Kyr BP, Radiocarbon 46, 1059-1086.
- Hughen, K.A., Overpeck, J.T., Lehman, S.C., Kashgarian, M., Southon, J., Peterson, L.C., Alley, R., Sigman, D.M., 1998. Deglacial changes in ocean circulation from an extended radiocarbon calibration, Nature 391, 65-68.
- Hughen, K.A., Overpeck, J.T., Peterson, L.C., Anderson, R.F., 1996. The nature of varved sedimentation in the Cariaco Basin, Venezuela and its palaeoclimatic significance, Geological Society Special Publication 116, 171 183.
- Hughen, K.A., Southon, J.R., Bertrand, C.J.H., Frantz, B., Zermeño, P., 2004b. Cariaco Basin Calibration Update: Revisions to Calendar and 14C Chronologies for Core PL07-58PC, Radiocarbon 46, 1161-1187.
- Hughen, K.A., Southon, J.R., Lehman, S.J., Overpeck, J.T., 2000. Synchronous Radiocarbon and Climate Shifts During the Last Deglaciation, Science 290, 1951-1954.
- Hüls, M.C., Grootes, P.M., Nadeau, M.-J., 2007. How clean is ultrafiltration cleaning of bone collagen?, Radiocarbon 49, 193-200.
- Jacobi, R.M., Higham, T.F.G., Ramsey, C.B., 2006. AMS radiocarbon dating of Middle and Upper Palaeolithic bone in the British Isles: improved reliability using ultrafiltration, Journal of Quaternary Science 21, 557-573.
- Joris, O., Weninger, B., 1998. Extension of the C-14 calibration curve to ca. 40 000 cal BC by synchronizing Greenland O-18/O-16 ice core records and North Atlantic foraminifera profiles: A comparison with U/Th coral data., Radiocarbon 40, 495-504.
- Jull, A.J.T., 2007. AMS Method, in: Elsevier (Ed.).
- Jull, A.J.T., Burr, G.S., 2006. Accelerator mass spectrometry: Is the future bigger or smaller?, Earth and Planet. Sci. Lett. 243, 305-325.
- Katzenberg, M.A., 2008. Stable istotope analysis: tool for studying past diet, demography, and life history, in: Saunders, M.A.K.a.S.R. (Ed.), Biological Antropology of the human skeleton, Second Edition, John Wiley & Sons, pp. 413-441.

- Kieser, W.E., Kilius, L.R., Nadeau, M.-J., Perez, J., Litherland, A.E., 1990. Tandetron accelerators as AMS instruments, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B45 570-574.
- Kitagawa, H., van der Plicht, J., 1998. Atmospheric radiocarbon calibration to 45,000 yr BP : Late Glacial fluctuations and cosmogenic isotope production, Science 279, 1187-1190.
- Klinken, G.J.v., 1999. Bone Collagen Quality Indicators for Palaeodietary and Radiocarbon Measurements, Journal of Archaeological Science 26, 687-695.
- Kreveld, S.V., Sarnthein, M., Erlenkeuser, H., Grootes, P., Jung, S., Nadeau, M.J., Pflaumann, U., Voelker, A., 2000. Potential links between surging ice sheets, circulation changes, and the Dansgaard-Oeschger cycles in the Irminger Sea, Paleoceanography 15, 425-442.
- Kromer, B., Ambers, J., Baillie, M.G.L., Damon, P.E., Hesshaimer, V., Hofmann, J., Jöris, J., Levin, I., Manning, S., McCormac, F.G., van der Plicht, J., Spurk, M., Stuiver, M., Weninger, B., 1996. Report : Summary of the workshop 'Aspects of high-precision radiocarbon calibration', Radiocarbon 38, 607-610.
- Kromer, B., Friedrich, M., Hughen, K.A., Kaiser, F., Remmele, S., Schaub, M., Talamo, S., 2004. Late Glacial ¹⁴C ages from a floating 1382-ring pine chronology, Radiocarbon 46, 1203-1209.
- Kromer, B., Korfmann, M., Jablonka, P., 2002. Heidelberg radiocarbon dates for Troia I to VIII and Kumtepe, in: Wagner, G. (Ed.), Troia and the Troad, Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 43-54.
- Kromer, B., Münnich, K.-O., 1992. CO₂ gas proportional counting in radiocarbon dating review and perspective, in: Taylor, R.E., Long, A., Kra, R.S. (Eds.), Radiocarbon after Four Decades, Springer, New York, pp. 184-197.
- Lee-Thorp, J.A., 2008. On isotopes and old bones, Archaeometry 50, 925-950.
- Libby, W.F., 1955. Radiocarbon Dating, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Longin, R., 1971. New method of collagen extraction for radiocarbon dating, Nature 230, 241-242.
- McNichol, A.P., Jull, A.J.T., Burr, G.S., 2001. Converting AMS data to radiocarbon values: considerations and conventions, Radiocarbon 43, 313-320.
- Mellars, P., 2006. A new radiocarbon revolution and the dispersal of modern humans in Eurasia, Nature 439.
- Mook, W.G., Streurman, H.J., 1981. Physical and chemical aspects of radiocarbon dating, in: W.G.Mook, Streurman, H.J. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium ¹⁴ C and Archaeology, PACT, Groningen.
- Olsson, I.U., 1968. Modern aspects of radiocarbon dating, Earth Science Review 4, 203-218.
- Pettitt, P.B., Pike, A.W.G., 2001. Blind in a cloud of data: problems with the chronology of Neanderthal extinction and anatomically modern human expansion, Antiquity 75, 415-420.
- Plicht, J.v.d., Beck, J.W., Bard, E., Baillie, M.G.L., Blackwell, P.G., Buck, C.E., Friedrich, M., Guilderson, T.P., Hughen, K.A., Kromer, B., McCormac, F.G., Ramsey, C.B., Reimer, P.J., Reimer, R.W., Remmele, S., Richards, D.A., Southon, J.R., Stuiver, M., Weyhenmeyer, C.E., 2004. NotCal04 - Comparison/Calibration ¹⁴C Records 26-50 Cal Kyr BP, Radiocarbon 46, 1225-1238.
- Plicht, J.v.d., Bruins, H.J., 2001. Radiocarbon dating in Near-Eastern contexts: confusion and quality control, Radiocarbon 43, 1155-1166.
- Ramsey, C.B., 2001. Development of the radiocarbon calibration program, Radiocarbon 43, 355-363.
- Ramsey, C.B., Dee, M.W., Rowland, J.M., Higham, T.F.G., Harris, S.A., Brock, F., Quiles, A., Wild, E.M., Marcus, E.S., Shortland, A.J., 2010. Radiocarbon-Based Chronology for Dynastic Egypt, Science 328.

- Reiche, I., Vignaud, C., Menu, M., 2002. The crystallinity of ancient bone and dentine: new insights by transmission electron microscopy, Archaeometry 44, 447-459.
- Reimer, P.J., Baillie, M.G.L., Bard, E., Bayliss, A., Beck, J.W., Blackwell, P.G., Ramsey, C.B., Buck, C.E., Burr, G.S., Edwards, R.L., Friedrich, M., Grootes, P.M., Guilderson, T.P., Hajdas, I., Heaton, T.J., Hogg, A.G., Hughen, K.A., Kaiser, K.F., Kromer, B., McCormac, F.G., Manning, S.W., Reimer, R.W., Richards, D.A., Southon, J.R., Talamo, S., Turney, C.S.M., Plicht, J.v.d., Weyhenmeyer, C.E., 2009. IntCal09 and Marine09 radiocarbon age calibration curves, 0 50 cal kBP, Radiocarbon 51, 1111-1150.
- Richards, M.P., Hedges, R.E.M., 1999. Stable Isotope Evidence for Similarities in the Types of Marine Foods Used by Late Mesolithic Humans at Sites Along the Atlantic Coast of Europe, Journal of Archaeological Science 26, 717-722.
- Richards, M.P., Hedges, R.E.M., 2003. Variations in bone collagen d¹³C and d¹⁵N values of fauna from Northwest Europe over the last 40 000 years, Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 193 261-267.
- Richards, M.P., Jacobi, R., Cook, J., Pettitt, P.B., Stringer, C.B., 2005. Isotope evidence for the intensive use of marine foods by Late Upper Palaeolithic humans, Journal of Human Evolution 49, 390-394.
- Richards, M.P., Pettitt, P.B., Trinkaus, E., Smith, F.H., Paunovi, M., Karavanic, I., 2000. Neanderthal diet at Vindija and Neanderthal predation: The evidence from stable isotopes, PNAS 97, 7663-7666.
- Richards, M.P., Taylor, G., Steele, T., McPherron, S.P., Soressi, M., Jaubert, J., Orschiedt, J., Mallye, J.B., Rendu, W., Hublin, J.J., 2008. Isotopic dietary analysis of a Neanderthal and associated fauna from the site of Jonzac (Charente-Maritime), France, Journal of Human Evolution 55, 179-185.
- Ruff, M., Szidat, S., Gäggeler, H.W., Suter, M., Synal, H.-A., Wacker, L., 2009. Gaseous radiocarbon measurements of small samples, Nucl. Instr. and Meth. in Phys. Res. B In Press.
- Schaub, M., Büntgen, U., Kaiser, K.F., Kromer, B., Talamo, S., Andersen, K.K., Rasmussen, S.O., 2008. Lateglacial environmental variability from Swiss tree rings, Quarternary Science Reviews 27, 29-41.
- Schaub, M., Kaiser, K.F., Frank, D.C., Büntgen, U., Kromer, B., Talamo, S., 2007. Environmental change during the Allerod and Younger Dryas reconstructed from Swiss tree-ring data, BOREAS, 1-13.
- Schoeninger, M.J., Moore, K.M., Murray, M.L., Kingston, J.D., 1989. Detection of bone preservation in archaeological and fossil samples, Applied Geochemistry 4, 281-292.
- Scott, E.M., 2007. Sources of Error, Radiocarbon Dating.
- Staff, R.A., Ramsey, C.B., Nakagawa, T., Members, S.P., 2009. A re-analysis of the Lake Suigetsu terrestrial radiocarbon calibration dataset, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research xxx, xxx-xxx.
- Strydonck, M.V., Boudin, M., Ervynck, A., 2004. Possibilities and limitations of the use of stable isotopes (d¹³C and d¹⁵C) from human bone collagen and carbonate as an aid in migration studies, in: al., E.M.S.e. (Ed.), Impact of the Environment on Human Migration in Eurasia, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Printed in the Netherlands, pp. 125-135.

Stuiver, M., 1986. Proceedings of the 12th International Radiocarbon Conference, Radiocarbon 28. Stuiver, M., Polach, H.A., 1977. Reporting of ¹⁴C data, Radiocarbon 19, 355-363.

- Stuiver, M., Reimer, P.J., 1993. Extended ¹⁴C Data Base and Revised CALIB 3.0 ¹⁴C Age Calibration Program, Radiocarbon 35, 215-230.
- Surovell, T.A., 2000. Radiocarbon dating of bone apatite by step heating, Geoarchaeology 15, 591-608.
- Suter, M., Jacob, S.W.A., Synal, H.-A., 2000. Tandem AMS at sub-MeV energies Status and prospects, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B 172, 144-151.
- Synal, H.-A., Stocker, M., Suter, M., 2007. MICADAS: A new compact radiocarbon AMS system, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B, 7-13.
- Synal, H.A., Jacob, S., Suter, M., 2000. The PSI/ETH small radiocarbon dating system, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B 172, 1-7.
- Talamo, S., Richards, M., 2011. A comparison of bone pretreatment methods for AMS dating of samples >30, 000 BP, Radiocarbon 53, 443-449.
- Talamo, S., Soressi, M., Roussel, M., Richards, M., Hublin, J.-J., 2012. A radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France), Journal of Archaeological Science 39, 175-183.
- Talamo, S., Hughen, K.A., Kromer, B., Reimer, P.J., 2012. Debates over Palaeolithic chronology the reliability of ¹⁴C is confirmed, Journal of Archaeological Science accepted for publication.
- Tuniz, C., Bird, J.R., Fink, D., Herzog, G.F., 1998. Accelerator Mass Spectrometry, CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Turney, C.S.M., Fifield, L.K., Palmer, J.G., Hogg, A.G., Baillie, M.G.L., Galbraith, R., Ogden, J., Lorrey, A., Tims, S.G., 2007. Towards a radiocarbon calibration for Oxygen Isotope Stage 3 using New Zealand Kauri (Agathis Australis), Radiocarbon 49, 1-11.
- Voelker, A.H.L., Grootes, P.M., Nadeau, M.-J., Sarnthein, M., 2000. Radiocarbon levels in the Iceland Sea from 25-53 Kyr and their link to the Earth's Magnetic field intensity, Radiocarbon 42, 437-452.
- Vogel, J.S., Nelson, D.E., Southon, J.R., 1987. ¹⁴C background levels in an Accelerator Mass Spectrometry system
- Radiocarbon 29, 323-333.
- Vogel, J.S., Southon, J.R., Nelson, D.E., Brown, T.A., 1984. Performance of catalytically condensed carbon for use in Accelerator Mass Spectrometry, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B5, 289-293.
- Weiner, S., Bar-Yosef, O., 1990. States of Preservation of Bones from Prehistoric Sites in the Near East: A Survey, Journal of Archaeological Science 17, 187-196.
- Weyhenmeyer, C.E., Burns, S.J., Fleitmann, D., Kramers, J.D., Matter, A., Waber, H.N., Reimer, P.J., 2003. Changes in Atmospheric ¹⁴C Between 55 and 42 ky BP Recorded in a Stalagmite From Socotra Island, Indian Ocean, American Geophysical Union.

Yakar, J., 1979. Troy and Anatolian Early Bronze Age Chronology, Anatolian Studies 29, 51-67.

Yizhaq, M., Mintz, G., Cohen, I., Khalaily, H., Weiner, S., Boaretto, E., 2005. Quality controlled radiocarbon dating of bones and charcoal from the early pre-pottery neolithic B (PPNB) of Motza (Israel), Radiocarbon 47, 193-206. Acknowledgments

Acknowledgments

It is my pleasure to acknowledge all those people that helped me to complete this thesis . This is an impossible task, given the many people that were involved over the past three years. I am going to try anyway, and if your name is not listed, rest assured that my gratitude is not less than for those listed below.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to *Mike Richards* and *Jean-Jacques Hublin* who offered me this great opportunity, trusted in my work and suggested the road to take. Without their support, this project would not have been possible.

I am particularly grateful to my supervisor Mike Richards, who made my Ph.D. experience productive and stimulating, for his detailed and constructive comments and for his encouragement and faith.

I warmly thank *Shannon McPherron* for his interest in my work, for his suggestions and enjoyable social life.

I would like to thank all the members of the Department of Human Evolution, especially the staff of the laboratory, *Annabell Reiner, Stefanie Bösel, Steffi Albert,* and *Sven Steinbrenner*, for their excellent work and support, the administrative team, *Silke Streiber, Cornelia Schicke and Diana Carstens,* without whom I would have been lost in the bureaucratic labyrinth. A special thanks to *Alyson Reid,* for final advice on proper English phrasing, and *Dennis Reinhardt* for his help and patience in dealing with computer issues.

I am grateful to the entire isotope group for most joyful discussions about our field, stimulating suggestions during my work, and of course for sharing dinner, beers and funny moments, in particular *Marcello Mannino, Christine Verna, Kate Britton, Domingo Carlos Salazar Gracia, Colin Smith, Ben Fuller, and Olaf Nehlich.*

A special thanks to *Paula Reimer* and *Konrad Hughen* for their part on the 1st paper (chapter 5) in this thesis.

I also thank *Marie Soressi* and *Morgan Roussel*, who made the 3rd paper (chapter 7) of this thesis possible, for the magic moments at Les Cottés.

I am most grateful to the staff of the AMS facilities of *Oxford, Kiel, Mannheim* and *Zurich* for their willingness to provide rapid and very accurate radiocarbon dates.

I am really thankful to *Philip Nigst, Marjolein Bosch,* and *Enza Spinapolice* for sharing their expertise and passion in the archaeological world, for their warm friendship, their moments of laughter, and for sharing excellent red wine and special dinners.

Unique thanks to:

Acknowledgments

Nandini Singh, Sarah Freidline, Daphne Katranides, Tsenka Tsanova, for their love, attention, for their sunny moods, for our girls nights, for their close friendship over those three years, without you this time spent at MPI would have been as blank as an empty page. Thanks for just being great.

A special thanks to *Kornelius Kupczik* and *Marcello Mannino* for their company, sharing their passion of good food and wine with me and my family, *Nicolas, Matt, Joseba, Emily, Maura*, for having rendered the first years special. Giuseppe, Elisabetta, Raffaella, Giovanna, Monica e Stefano per il loro sempre esserci stati e avermi sempre supportato in questa mia ennesima avventura.

Thanks to *my mother and all my family* who were always close to me and supported this adventure. (Alla mia Mamma e a tutta la mia famiglia che è sempre stata al mio fianco e mi ha sempre sostenuto in questa avventura.)

Finally, I would like to express special thanks to my husband *Bernd*. He helped me to concentrate on completing this dissertation and supported me mentally during the course of this work. Without his help and encouragement, this study would not have been completed.

The research presented in this Ph.D. thesis was carried out at the department of Human Evolution, at Max-Planck Institute Leipzig, and was funded by the Max-Planck Society.

Samenvatting

Zoals Colin Refrew opmerkte heeft koolstof ouderdomsbepaling een revolutionaire rol gespeeld in de archeologie sinds de vijftiger jaren van de vorige eeuw. De eerste bijdrage die koolstof ouderdomsbepaling maakte was nauwkeurige directe dateringen te leveren voor archeologische materialen. De tweede grote bijdrage was het verschaffen van kalender tijdschalen voor de Europese prehistorie, vooral vanaf de zeventiger jaren voor het neolithicum en latere perioden. Tegenwoordig beleven wij een derde belangrijke bijdrage van koolstof ouderdomsbepaling, omdat het wordt gebruikt om nauwkeurige chronologieën te krijgen voor prehistorische perioden die dichtbij de limieten van deze methode liggen, zoals de overgang van het midden- naar het jong-paleolithicum.

Beginselen van koolstof ouderdomsbepaling

 14 C wordt gevormd in de hogere atmosfeer en wordt opgenomen in de mondiale koolstof reservoirs hoofdzakelijk als 14 CO₂ in de atmosfeer. Door fotosynthese wordt 14 C opgenomen in planten en uiteindelijk in alle levende organismen. Na het afsterven van een organisme vindt er geen uitwisseling meer plaats met het koolstof reservoir en vervalt 14 C tot 14 N met een bekende snelheid (halveringstijd). Het meten van de hoeveelheid overgebleven 14 C in de overblijfselen van afgestorven organismen is de basis voor de koolstof methode.

Aangezien er in het verleden schommelingen zijn geweest in de aanmaak van ¹⁴C, is het nodig om koolstof ouderdom te ijken aan ouderdom in kalenderjaren. Koolstof ouderdom wordt omgezet in kalenderjaren met behulp van calibratie curves, die gebaseerd zijn op onafhankelijk gedateerde organische overblijfselen, zoals jaarringen, zeekoralen of meer- en zee-afzettingen. In 2009 heeft de IntCal werkgroep een nieuwe calibratie curve opgesteld, die teruggaat tot 50.000 jaar cal BP, een ontwikkeling die zeer belangrijk is geweest voor dit proefschrift. De koolstof dateringen die in dit proefschrift gegeven worden werden gemeten met de Accelerator Mass Spectrometry (AMS) techniek. AMS wordt gebruikt om de verschillende isotopen van koolstof (¹²C, ¹³C, ¹⁴C) aan het licht te brengen door ze te scheiden op basis van hun respectieve massa's.

Koolstof calibratie rond 40.000 jaar cal BP

De overgang van het midden- naar het jong-paleolithicum is de periode waarin de Neanderthalers verdwenen en moderne mensen voor het eerst verschijnen in Europa. Koolstof dateringen van organische overblijfselen van laat-midden en vroeg-jong-paleolithische vindplaatsen en hun calibratie zijn vooral omstreden gebleken. Verscheidene ¹⁴C databestanden zijn opgenomen als bewijs voor extreem grote ¹⁴C schommelingen rond 40.000 cal BP, zoals het bestand met dateringen van de Tyrrheense Zee kern CT85-5, die op het eerste gezicht duiden op grote koolstof afwijkingen voor dat tijdstip. De reeks dateringen van de bovengenoemde Tyrrheense Zee kern lijkt te suggeren, dat in een periode van 800 jaar de ¹⁴C leeftijden variëren van circa 35.000 ¹⁴C jaar BP tot circa 25.000-20.000 ¹⁴C jaar BP en dan terug naar circa 33.000-32.000 ¹⁴C jaar BP. Ik beschouw de interpretatie van dit databestand als onjuist, omdat een ¹⁴C ouderdoms inversie van 15.000 ¹⁴C jaren niet veroorzaakt kan zijn door schommelingen in het ¹⁴C niveau in de atmosfeer. De toegenomen ¹⁴C productie tijdens het magnetische dieptepunt van het Laschamp Event is goed gedocumenteerd in hoge resolutie ¹⁴C rapporten, zoals Cariaco, die een solide basis vormen voor koolstof calibratie voor dit tijdsbestek.

Voorbehandling van bot

Ondanks de aanzienlijke mogelijkheden die bot collageen biedt voor koolstof ouderdomsbepaling, kan het dateren van botten problematisch zijn, omdat deze organische materialen vaak van slechte kwaliteit zijn en in archeologisch verband onderhavig kan zijn aan vervuiling. Het effect van koolstof vervuiling op de koolstof ouderdom wordt ernstiger naarmate het te dateren bot ouder is. Als een aanwijzing van vervuiling en/of verslechtering van het collageen gebruiken verschillende auteurs C : N verhoudingen, δ^{13} C en δ^{15} N waarden, en de samenstelling van aminozuur. Algemeen wordt aangenomen dat vervuiling waarschijnlijk plaats gevonden heeft als de atoom verhoudingen C : N buiten het bereik vallen, dat voor moderne dieren en mensen is waargenomen.

Ik heb een reeks verschillende voorbehandelings technieken onderzocht en methoden voor het reinigen van de moleculaire gewicht (MW) extractiefilters en voorfilter elementen. Voor deze experimenten heb ik botten gebruikt van een mammoet en een bison, die in prehistorische afzettingen van de Noord Zee zijn aangetroffen, en ik heb identieke collageen extracten van deze

exemplaren naar drie AMS laboratoria gestuurd. De resultaten verschilden aanzienlijk, van 31.660 tot 35.280 ¹⁴C BP in het geval van de mammoet, en van 40.200 tot 47.300 ¹⁴C BP voor de bison. De meeste van deze verschillen kunnen verklaard worden door de verschillende voorbehandelings methoden die gebruikt werden en door de verschillen in metingen tussen de drie AMS laboratoria. Als gevolg van deze experimenten heb ik een optimaal voorbehandelings protocol opgesteld, dat consistente ouderdoms schattingen oplevert en dat resulteert in een laag intra-monster leeftijdsverschil. Deze voorbehandelings methode is het protocol dat thans gebruikt wordt bij de MPI-EVA.

Volgorde van behandeling van bot voor koolstof ouderdomsbepaling bij MPI

Alle bot monsters die in dit proefschrift genoemd worden, werden onderworpen aan de volgende voorbehandelings procedures, gewoonlijk in groepen van maximaal 12 monsters:

- invoeren in een databestand
- vergruizing van het bot
- ontkalking
- verwijdering van humisch materiaal
- gelatinisatie
- filters reinigen en controleren op de afwezigheid van vervuiling
- ultra-filtratie
- vriesdrogen

Alle collageen, die verkregen is na de bovenstaande voorbehandeling, wordt gegrafietiseerd volgens de volgende procedures:

- tinnen kroesjes worden gevuld met collageen
- verbranding in een Elemental Analyser (EA)
- bepaling van de koolstof opbrengst en C : N verhouding
- bepaling van δ^{13} C en δ^{15} N in een massa spectrometer
- reinigen van de CO₂ vaten en prepareren van de ijzer katalysator
- verzamelen van CO₂ in de opstelling

- toevoegen van waterstof
- omzetting van CO₂ naar grafiet in de grafietisator
- controle van grafietisatie parameters
- klaarmaken van blanke monsters
- klaarmaken voor verzending en verzenden naar een AMS laboratorium voor koolstof meting.

Koolstof chronologie van de midden- tot jong-paleolithische vindplaats Les Cottés

De voorbehandelingsmethoden, die in dit proefschrift ontwikkeld zijn, werden toegepast op bot monsters van de paleolithische vindplaats Les Cottés (Frankrijk). De onderzocht culturele lagen lopen van het Mousterien tot het Aurignacien, inclusief het Châtelperronien. Deze culturele perioden zijn in verband gebracht met episoden van snelle klimaatsverandering, die van rond 47.000 tot 35.000 cal BP plaatsvonden. Tijdens deze periode waren er 6 warmere fasen die Dansgaard-Oeschger (DO) cycli genoemd worden, en een duidelijke afkoelingsperiode, die bekend staat als Heinrich event 4 (H4). De resultaten van het AMS koolstof ouderdomsbepaling programma op bot collageen monsters van Les Cottés heeft het mogelijk gemaakt een chronologisch schema te ontwikkelen dat overeenkomt met de archeologische stratigrafie van de vindplaats.

Les Cottés is een van de weinige vindplaatsen met een compleet en goed gedefinieerde profiel, dat de midden- tot vroeg-jong-paleolithische perioden in Europa beslaat. Koolstof dateringen werden verkregen voor 27 bot monsters van elk archeologisch niveau en werden gegroepeerd op basis van de vijf culturele fasen die op de vindplaats aanwezig waren, van het Mousterien tot het Vroeg-Aurignacien. Het Mousterien en het Châtelperronien zijn gescheiden van het er boven liggende Proto-Aurignacien niveau door een hiaat van ongeveer 1000 kalender jaren. De interne tijdsrelatie tussen het Mousterien en het Châtelperronien wordt niet volledig opgehelderd door onze dateringen, dit aspect zal in toekomstig onderzoek op de vindplaats aan de orde komen.

Het feit dat een aanzienlijk deel van het Proto- en Vroeg-Aurignacien in tijd lijken samen te vallen, binnen de resolutie van ¹⁴C ouderdomsbepaling, geeft aan dat deze overgang snel was in

het gebied in kwestie. Anatomisch moderne mensen waren al aanwezig op de vindplaats Les Cottés in 39.500 cal BP, ruwweg gelijktijdig met het begin van de duidelijk koude fase van Heinrich event 4.

Summary

As observed by Colin Renfrew radiocarbon dating has had a revolutionary role in archaeology since the 1950s. The first contribution made by radiocarbon was to produce accurate direct dates for archaeological materials. The second main contribution was to provide calendar time scales for European prehistory, especially starting from the 1970s for the Neolithic and later periods. Today we are experiencing a third key contribution of radiocarbon dating, as it is being used to attain accurate chronologies for prehistoric periods close to the limit of the method, such as the transition from the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic.

Radiocarbon basics

 14 C is created in the upper atmosphere and enters the global carbon reservoirs mainly as 14 CO₂ in the atmosphere. Through photosynthesis 14 C enters plants and ultimately all living organisms. After the death of an organism, exchanges with the carbon reservoir no longer take place and 14 C decreases by decay to 14 N at a known rate (half-life). Measuring the amount of remaining 14 C in the remains of dead organisms is the basis of the radiocarbon method.

As there have been fluctuations in the production of ¹⁴C in the past, it is necessary to calibrate radiocarbon ages to calendar ages. Radiocarbon ages are converted to calendar years by means of calibration curves based on independently dated organic remains, such as tree-rings, marine corals or lake and marine sediments. In 2009 the IntCal working group constructed a new calibration curve spanning back to 50,000 cal BP, a development of key importance for this thesis. The radiocarbon dates presented in this thesis have been measured using the Accelerator Mass Spectrometry (AMS) technique. AMS is used to detect the different isotopes of carbon (¹²C, ¹³C, ¹⁴C) by separating them according to their respective mass.

Radiocarbon calibration around 40,000 years cal BP

The Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transition is the period during which Neanderthals disappeared and modern humans made their first appearance in Europe. Radiocarbon dates on organic remains from late Middle and early Upper Palaeolithic sites and their calibration have proven especially controversial. Several ¹⁴C datasets have been taken as evidence for extremely large ¹⁴C fluctuations around 40,000 cal BP, such as the set of dates from the Tyrrhenian Sea core

CT85-5, which if taken at face value indicate strong radiocarbon anomalies at that point in time. The sequence of dates from the above-mentioned Tyrrhenian Sea core appears to suggest that within an 800 year period the ¹⁴C ages fluctuated from circa 35,000 ¹⁴C yr BP to circa 25,000-20,000 ¹⁴C yr BP and then back to circa 33,000-32,000 ¹⁴C yr BP. I consider the interpretation of this dataset as erroneous, because a ¹⁴C age inversion of up to 15,000 ¹⁴C years could not have been caused by fluctuations in the level of atmospheric ¹⁴C. The enhanced ¹⁴C production during the magnetic low of the Laschamp Event is well documented in high resolution ¹⁴C records, such as Cariaco, which provide a solid basis for radiocarbon calibration for this time period.

Bone pretreatment

Despite the considerable potential offered by bone collagen for radiocarbon dating, dating bones can be problematic as these organic materials are often degraded and can be subject to contamination in archaeological contexts. The effect of contaminating carbon on the radiocarbon ages is more severe the older the bone used for dating. As an indicator of contamination and/or degradation of collagen different authors use C:N ratios, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values, and amino acid composition. It is generally assumed that contamination is likely to have occurred when atomic C:N ratios fall outside the range observed for modern animals and humans.

I investigated a range of different pretreatment techniques and methods of cleaning the molecular weight (MW) separation filters and pre-filter elements. For these experiments I used bones of a mammoth and a bison recovered in prehistoric deposits from the North Sea and I sent the same collagen extracts from these specimens to three AMS facilities. The results varied considerably, between 31,660 and 35,280 ¹⁴C BP in the case of the mammoth and between 40,200 and 47,300 ¹⁴C BP in the case of the bison. Most of this variability could be explained by the different pretreatment methods employed and by differences in measurements between the three AMS facilities. As a result of these experiments, I devised an optimal pretreatment protocol, which produces consistent age estimates and results in low intra-sample age variability. This pretreatment method is the protocol now in use at the MPI-EVA.

Sequence of bone preparation for radiocarbon dating at MPI

All the bone samples presented in this thesis were subject to the following pretreatment procedures, usually in batches of up to 12 samples:

- Entry in database
- Pulverisation of bone
- Decalcification
- Removal of humics
- Gelatinization
- Cleaning of the filters and checking for the removal of contamination
- Ultrafiltration
- Freeze drying

All the collagen obtained after the pretreatment outlined above is graphitized according to the following procedures:

- Loading of collagen into tin caps
- Combustion in an Elemental Analyser (EA)
- Determination of carbon yield and C:N ratio
- Determination of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in a mass spectrometer
- Cleaning the CO₂ gas containers and conditioning of the iron catalyst
- Collection of CO₂ in the rigs
- Addition of hydrogen
- Conversion of CO₂ into graphite in the graphitizer
- Check of graphitization parameters
- Preparation of blank samples
- Preparation of shipment to an AMS facility and submission to the AMS laboratory for radiocarbon measurement.

Radiocarbon chronology of the Middle to Upper Palaeolithic site of Les Cottés

The pretreatment methods developed in the present thesis were applied to bone samples from the Palaeolithic site of Les Cottés (France). The cultural levels investigated span from the Mousterian to the Aurignacian, and include the Châtelperronian. These cultural phases were correlated to episodes of rapid climatic change which occurred from around 47,000 to 35,000 cal BP. During this period there were 6 warmer stages called Dansgaard-Oeschger (DO) events, and the marked cooling episode known as Heinrich event 4 (H4). The results of the AMS radiocarbon dating program on bone collagen samples from Les Cottés have allowed the development of a chronological framework that is coherent with the archaeological stratigraphy of the site.

Les Cottés is one of the few sites with a complete and well defined sequence covering the Middle to early Upper Palaeolithic periods in Europe. Radiocarbon dates have been obtained for 27 bone samples from each archaeological level and grouped on the basis of the five cultural phases present at the site, from the Mousterian to the Early Aurignacian. The Mousterian and Châtelperronian are separated from the overlying Protoaurignacian level by a gap of approximately 1000 calendar years. The internal temporal relation between the Mousterian and Châtelperronian is not fully resolved by our dates, this aspect will be addressed by future work at the site. The fact that a substantial part of the Proto and Early Aurignacian appear contemporaneous, within the resolution of ¹⁴C dating, indicates that this transition was rapid in the region in question. Anatomically Modern Humans were present at the site of Les Cottés at least by 39,500 cal BP, roughly coincident with the onset of the markedly cold phase of Heinrich event 4.

Curriculum Vitae

Curriculum Vitae

Max-Planck-Institut für evolutionäre Anthropologie



Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology Department of Human Evolution

Sahra Talamo born 1974, In Taranto, Italy

Studies & Professional	2000-2001 Borsa di Studio
experience	Acquaintance with C procedures at the University of Heidelberg
	2001
	Laurea in scienze Naturali
	At the University of Milan; entitled
	'Le datazioni ¹⁴ C: Datazioni tradizionali e tecniche di <i>wiggle-matching</i> applicate a insediamenti preistorici dell'area Padana'
	Adviser : Leone Fasani
	Co-adviser: Bernd Kromer
	2002-2005
	Heidelberg Radiocarbon laboratory;
	projects:
	Roman Gap (P.Kuniholm, Cornell University)
	EMRCP (S.Manning, Reading - UK)
	Fieldwork to find subfossil, lateglacial wood
	Development of combustion of large wood samples using an oxygen bomb
Since 2007	
	PhD-thesis at the Max-Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Leipzig
Congress	
participation	EGS/EGU 2003 Nizza
(Podium-Poster presentation)	Radiocarbon Conference 2003 Wellington Poster: "No evidence of systematic regional ¹⁴ C differences"

Curriculum Vitae

SCIEM 2000 Poster: Bronze age time scale in the Eastern Mediterranean

- **Archeometria** 2004 Bressanone Poster: "Absolute time frame for the Early and middle Bronze age lake settlements in Northern Italy combining the strength of Dendrochronolgy and Radiocarbon"
- **AGU Fall-session** December 2004 San Francisco Poster: *"Atmospheric Radiocarbon fluctuations in the Late Glacial obtained from tree-ring chronologies aspects of rapid climate change"*
- **Carlsberg Conference** Copenhagen 2005. Icecore and Radiocarbon Chronologies

INQUA-SEQS 2006 Milano 2006

- Radiocarbon & Archaeology 5th International symposium, Zurich 2008
- 3rd International Symposium on Biomolecular Archaeology (ISBA3), University of York, York, U.K.
 Poster: Talamo S and Richards MP (2008) Testing pretreatment methods for the radiocarbon dating of bone collagen.
 Poster : Mannino M, Talamo S, Di Salvo R, Schimmenti V, Piperno M, Tusa S, Tagliacozzo A, and Richards MP (2008) Preliminary results of C and N isotope analyses and ¹⁴C dating of prehistoric humans and animals from the Mesolithic-Neolithic site of Grotta dell'Uzzo, Sicily, Italy.
- **20th International Radiocarbon Conferences;** Hawaii (2009) Oral presentation: **Talamo S** and Richards MP "AMS sample comparison close to the limit of the method. A limit or challenge?".

Publications

- Hughen, K. A., M. G. L. Baillie, E. Bard, J. W. Beck, C. J. H. Bertrand, P. G. Blackwell, C. E. Buck, G. S. Burr, K. B. Cutler, P. E. Damon, R. L. Edwards, R. G. Fairbanks, M. Friedrich, T. P. Guilderson, B. Kromer, G. McCormac, S. Manning, C. B. Ramsey, P. J. Reimer, R. W. Reimer, S. Remmele, J. R. Southon, M. Stuiver, S. Talamo, F. W. Taylor, J. v. d. Plicht and C. E. Weyhenmeyer (2004). "Marine04 Marine Radiocarbon Age Calibration, 0-26 Cal Kyr BP." Radiocarbon 46(3): 1059-1086.
 - Kromer, B., M. Friedrich, K. A. Hughen, F. Kaiser, S. Remmele, M. Schaub and S. Talamo (2004). "Late Glacial ¹⁴C ages from a floating 1382-ring pine chronology." <u>Radiocarbon</u> 46(3): 1203-1209.
 - Reimer, P. J., M. G. L. Baillie, E. Bard, A. Bayliss, J. W. Beck, C. J.
 H. Bertrand, P. G. Blackwell, C. E. Buck, G. S. Burr, K. B. Cutler, P. E. Damon, R. L. Edwards, R. G. Fairbanks, M. Friedrich, T. P. Guilderson, A. G. Hogg, K. A. Hughen, B. Kromer, G. MecCormac, S. Manning, C. B. Ramsey, R. W. Reimer, S. Remmele, J. R. Southon, M. Stuiver, **S. Talamo**, F. W. Taylor, J. v. d. Plicht and C. E. Weyhenmeyer (2004). "INTCAL04 terrestrial radiocarbon age calibration, 0–26 cal kyr BP." <u>Radiocarbon</u> 46(3): 1029–1058.
 - Schaub, M., K. F. Kaiser, B. Kromer and **S. Talamo** (2005). "Extension of the Swiss Lateglacial tree-ring chronologies." <u>Dendrochronologia</u>: doi:10.1016.
Curriculum Vitae

- Friedrich, W. L., B. Kromer, M. Friedrich, J. Heinemeier, T. Pfeiffer and S. Talamo (2006). "Santorini Eruption Radiocarbon Dated to 1627–1600 B.C." <u>Science</u> 312: 548.
- Matthias Schaub, Klaus Felix Kaiser, David Charles Frank, Ulf Büntgen, Bernd Kromer, Sahra Talamo (2007) "Environmental change during the Allerod and Younger Dryas reconstructed from Swiss tree-ring data." <u>BOREAS</u> 1-13.
- Matthias Schaub, Ulf Büntgen, Klaus Felix Kaiser, Bernd Kromer, Sahra Talamo, Katrine Krogh Andersen, Sune Olander Rasmussen (2008) "Lateglacial environmental variability from Swiss tree rings." <u>Quarternary Science Reviews</u> 27: 29-41
- P. J. Reimer M. G. L. Baillie E. Bard A. Bayliss J. W. Beck P. G. Blackwell C. Bronk Ramsey C. E. Buck G. S. Burr R. L. Edwards M. Friedrich P. M. Grootes T. P. Guilderson I. Hajdas T. J. Heaton A. G. Hogg K. A. Hughen K. F. Kaiser B. Kromer F. G. McCormac S. W. Manning R. W. Reimer D. A. Richards J. R. Southon S. Talamo C. S. M. Turney J. van der Plicht C. E. Weyhenmeyer (2009). "IntCal09 and Marine09 radiocarbon age calibration curves, 0 50,000 years cal BP." <u>Radiocarbon</u> 51(4): 1111–1150.
- Kromer, B., Manning, S.W., Friedrich, M., Talamo, S., Trano, N., 2010. ¹⁴C Calibration in the 2nd and 1st Millennia BC—Eastern Mediterranean Radiocarbon Comparison Project (EMRCP), <u>Radiocarbon</u> 52, 875-886.
- D. Reich, R.E. Green, M. Kircher, J. Krause, N. Patterson, E.Y. Durand, B. Viola, A.W. Briggs, U. Stenzel, P.L.F. Johnson, T. Maricic, J.M. Good, T. Marques-Bonet, C. Alkan, Q. Fu, S. Mallick, H. Li, M. Meyer, E.E. Eichler, M. Stoneking, M. Richards, S. Talamo, M.V. Shunkov, A.P. Derevianko, J.-J. Hublin, J. Kelso, M. Slatkin, S. Pääbo, Genetic history of an archaic hominin group from Denisova Cave in Siberia, <u>Nature</u> 468 (2010) 1053-1060.
- Kaiser Klaus Felix, Mario Sgier, Cécile Miramont, Michael Friedrich, Matthias Schaub, Bernd Kromer, Sahra Talamo, Frédéric Guibal, Olivier Sivan "Challenging process to make the Late-glacial tree-ring chronologies from Europe absolute - an inventory." <u>Quaternary</u> Science Reviews In Press
- Shannon P. McPherron, Sahra Talamo, Paul Goldberg, Laura Niven, Dennis Sandgathe, Michael P. Richards, Daniel Richter, Alain Turq, Harold L. Dibble, Radiocarbon Dates for the Late Middle Palaeolithic at Pech de l'Azé IV, France *Journal of Archaeological Science* submitted (2012).
- D. Richter, H. Dibble, P. Goldberg, S. McPherron, L. Niven, D. Sandgathe, S.Talamo & A. Turq, The Late Middle Palaeolithic in Southwest France: New TL data for the sequence of Pech de l'Azé IV, *Quaternary International,* submitted 2012

Publications

Publications

- Hughen, K. A., M. G. L. Baillie, E. Bard, J. W. Beck, C. J. H. Bertrand, P. G. Blackwell, C. E. Buck, G. S. Burr, K. B. Cutler, P. E. Damon, R. L. Edwards, R. G. Fairbanks, M. Friedrich, T. P. Guilderson, B. Kromer, G. McCormac, S. Manning, C. B. Ramsey, P. J. Reimer, R. W. Reimer, S. Remmele, J. R. Southon, M. Stuiver, S. Talamo, F. W. Taylor, J. v. d. Plicht and C. E. Weyhenmeyer (2004). "Marine04 Marine Radiocarbon Age Calibration, 0-26 Cal Kyr BP." <u>Radiocarbon</u> 46(3): 1059-1086.
- Kromer, B., M. Friedrich, K. A. Hughen, F. Kaiser, S. Remmele, M. Schaub and S. Talamo (2004). "Late Glacial ¹⁴C ages from a floating 1382-ring pine chronology." <u>Radiocarbon</u> **46**(3): 1203-1209.
- Reimer, P. J., M. G. L. Baillie, E. Bard, A. Bayliss, J. W. Beck, C. J. H. Bertrand, P. G. Blackwell, C. E. Buck, G. S. Burr, K. B. Cutler, P. E. Damon, R. L. Edwards, R. G. Fairbanks, M. Friedrich, T. P. Guilderson, A. G. Hogg, K. A. Hughen, B. Kromer, G. MecCormac, S. Manning, C. B. Ramsey, R. W. Reimer, S. Remmele, J. R. Southon, M. Stuiver, S. Talamo, F. W. Taylor, J. v. d. Plicht and C. E. Weyhenmeyer (2004). "INTCAL04 terrestrial radiocarbon age calibration, 0–26 cal kyr BP." <u>Radiocarbon</u> 46(3): 1029–1058.
- Schaub, M., K. F. Kaiser, B. Kromer and S. Talamo (2005). "Extension of the Swiss Lateglacial tree-ring chronologies." <u>Dendrochronologia</u>: doi:10.1016.
- Friedrich, W. L., B. Kromer, M. Friedrich, J. Heinemeier, T. Pfeiffer and **S. Talamo** (2006). "Santorini Eruption Radiocarbon Dated to 1627–1600 B.C." <u>Science</u> 312: 548.
- Matthias Schaub, Klaus Felix Kaiser, David Charles Frank, Ulf Büntgen, Bernd Kromer, **Sahra Talamo** (2007) "Environmental change during the Allerod and Younger Dryas reconstructed from Swiss tree-ring data." <u>BOREAS</u> 1-13.
- Matthias Schaub, Ulf Büntgen, Klaus Felix Kaiser, Bernd Kromer, **Sahra Talamo**, Katrine Krogh Andersen, Sune Olander Rasmussen (2008) "Lateglacial environmental variability from Swiss tree rings." <u>Quarternary Science Reviews</u> 27: 29-41
- P. J. Reimer M. G. L. Baillie E. Bard A. Bayliss J. W. Beck P. G. Blackwell C. Bronk Ramsey C. E. Buck G. S. Burr R. L. Edwards M. Friedrich P. M. Grootes T. P. Guilderson I. Hajdas T. J. Heaton A. G. Hogg K. A. Hughen K. F. Kaiser B. Kromer F. G. McCormac S. W. Manning R. W. Reimer D. A. Richards J. R. Southon S. Talamo C. S. M. Turney J. van der Plicht C. E. Weyhenmeyer (2009). "IntCal09 and Marine09 radiocarbon age calibration curves, 0 – 50,000 years cal BP." <u>Radiocarbon</u> 51(4): 1111–1150.
- Kromer, B., Manning, S.W., Friedrich, M., **Talamo, S.**, Trano, N., 2010. ¹⁴C Calibration in the 2nd and 1st Millennia BC—Eastern Mediterranean Radiocarbon Comparison Project (EMRCP), <u>Radiocarbon</u> 52, 875-886.
- D. Reich, R.E. Green, M. Kircher, J. Krause, N. Patterson, E.Y. Durand, B. Viola, A.W. Briggs, U. Stenzel, P.L.F. Johnson, T. Maricic, J.M. Good, T. Marques-Bonet, C. Alkan, Q. Fu, S. Mallick, H. Li, M. Meyer, E.E. Eichler, M. Stoneking, M. Richards, S. Talamo, M.V.

Publications

Shunkov, A.P. Derevianko, J.-J. Hublin, J. Kelso, M. Slatkin, S. Pääbo, Genetic history of an archaic hominin group from Denisova Cave in Siberia, <u>Nature</u> 468 (2010) 1053-1060.

- Kaiser Klaus Felix, Mario Sgier, Cécile Miramont, Michael Friedrich, Matthias Schaub, Bernd Kromer, **Sahra Talamo**, Frédéric Guibal, Olivier Sivan "Challenging process to make the Late-glacial tree-ring chronologies from Europe absolute - an inventory." <u>Quaternary</u> <u>Science Reviews</u> **In Press**
- **Talamo, S.**, Soressi, M., Roussel, M., Richards, M. & Hublin, J.-J. A radiocarbon chronology for the complete Middle to Upper Palaeolithic transitional sequence of Les Cottés (France). *Journal of Archaeological Science* **39**, 175-183 (2012).
- **Talamo, S.** & Richards, M. A comparison of bone pretreatment methods for AMS dating of samples >30, 000 BP. *Radiocarbon* **53**, 443-449 (2011).
- **Sahra Talamo**, Konrad A. Hughen, Bernd Kromer, Paula J. Reimer, Debates over Palaeolithic chronology the reliability of ¹⁴C is confirmed, *Journal of Archaeological Science* Accepted for publication (2012).
- Miramont, C., Sivan, O., Guibal, F., Kromer, B., Talamo, S., Kaiser, K.F. L'étalonnage du temps du radiocarbone par les cernes d'arbres. L'apport des séries dendrochronologiques du gisement de bois subfossiles du torrent des Barbiers (Alpes Françaises du Sud). *Quaternaire* 22, 261-271 (2011).
- Shannon P. McPherron, **Sahra Talamo**, Paul Goldberg, Laura Niven, Dennis Sandgathe, Michael P. Richards, Daniel Richter, Alain Turq, Harold L. Dibble, Radiocarbon Dates for the Late Middle Palaeolithic at Pech de l'Azé IV, France *Journal of Archaeological Science* submitted (2012).
- D. Richter, H. Dibble, P. Goldberg, S. McPherron, L. Niven, D. Sandgathe, **S.Talamo** & A. Turq, The Late Middle Palaeolithic in Southwest France: New TL data for the sequence of Pech de l'Azé IV, *Quaternary International*, submitted 2012